
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY 22 JANUARY 2021

IMPORTANT NOTICE:
THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY AND CAN BE VIEWED 

VIA:   WWW.GLOUCESTERSHIRE.GOV.UK  

REMOTE MEETING PAPERS

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 22 January 2021
VENUE: Remote Meeting

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest Andrea Griffiths

3.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 16) Andrea Griffiths
The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the previous 
meeting. 
 

4.  Grant Thornton Progress Report (Pages 17 - 32) Peter Barber
The Committee is asked to note the report.

5.  Grant Thornton Annual  Audit Letter 2019/20 (Pages 33 - 56) Peter Barber
The Committee is asked to note the report.

6.  Capital, Treasury and Investment Strategy (Pages 57 - 86) Paul Blacker
The Committee is asked to consider, and comment as appropriate 
on the proposed strategies for 2021/22 and the Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy.  

7.  Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2020/21 (Pages 87 - 
138)

Stephanie Payne

The Committee is asked to note the report and agree that Senior 
Management attend the next meeting to provide an update as 
detailed within the report.   
 

8.  Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan Update  
2019/20 (Pages 139 - 162)

Stephanie Payne

It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee 
reviews and considers the actions taken to address the 
governance improvement areas identified.

9.  GFRS Progress Report (Pages 163 - 196) Stephanie Payne
It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee 
reviews and considers the actions taken to address the 
recommendations made and progress to date.

10.  Annual Schools Assurance Statements 2019-20 (Pages 197 - 
202)

Jane Lloyd-Davies



11.  Limited Assurance Reports (Pages 203 - 224) Stephanie Payne
- Disposal of Assets: Vehicles (Philip Williams/Jo Saville)
- Unregulated Placement and Packages of Support 

(Commissioning – Wendy Williams)
- Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support 

(Fostering – Gill Horrobin)
- Direct Awards (Ian Mawdsley)
-

12.  Whistleblowing Policy (Pages 225 - 228) Rob Ayliffe
The Committee is asked to note the report and support the 
commitment to undertake a self assessment against the Protect 
Best Practice Framework.  

13.  Independent Persons Report (Pages 229 - 230) Simon Harper
The Committee is asked to note the process for the appointment 
of Independent Persons ahead of the Annual Meeting of the 
Council.  

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE, 
Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr John Payne, 
Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cllr Brian Tipper 
and Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to 
the commencement of the meeting. 

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 30 
October 2020 commencing at 10.00 am at the .

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr John Payne
Cllr Alan Preest

Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE (Chairman)
Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Substitutes:

Apologies: Rob Ayliffe, Cllr Bernard Fisher and Cllr Brian Oosthuysen

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

That the minutes of the previous meeting were approved as a correct record.  

3. GRANT THORNTON EXTERNAL AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT FOR GCC 

Pete Barber, Key Audit Partner, Grant Thornton presented the report which 
informed the Committee of the key matters arising from the audit of Gloucestershire 
County Council’s financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020.

 He explained that the 2019/20 audit had presented a number of issues, in light of 
the Covid 19 pandemic and the report reflected the additional challenges for Grant 
Thornton and the Authority in undertaking there respective responsibilities.  

A revised deadline for the audited financial statements was 30th November 2020, 
both parties were pleased to report that this work had been undertaken and 
completed a month in advance of the deadline.  Given the challenges, especially 
those of remote working a more in-depth audit was required.   It was noted that the 
reports were longer due to the underwriting standards, as the external auditors 
were required to report across a wide range of areas and the Committee was 
required to be fully sighted on the issues.  

The Key Audit Partner wished to thank to all concerned and the council for the good 
cooperation.   He added there had been some challenging and robust 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

conversations but it had all been done in the common interest of getting the 
accounts signed off and conducted in a professional manner.  It was explained that 
the external auditor responsibilities were to ultimately look at the draft accounts 
presented to audit for materiality accuracy.  

Members were referred to page 16 the report, which detailed the audit approach.   It 
was noted that materiality for the financial statement was at £14.6m and in respect 
of the financial statements it was important to note that External Audit had not 
identified any material errors or uncertainties in the draft accounts.  

The Committee noted that in terms of property, plant and equipment the valuers 
employed by the County Council included a material uncertainty in their final 
valuation reports.  As such Grant Thornton had requested a note on this area be 
included in the financial statement disclosure given its significance.  

The External Auditor advised the Committee that subject to the satisfactory 
completion of the outstanding issues it was their intention to issue an unqualified 
opinion on the council's financial statements in due course.  

It was noted that this presentation needed to be taken in that context with that 
overarching conclusion, the Key Audit Partner felt it provided reassurance that there 
were good governance arrangements in place for producing financial statements 
even in these unprecedented times.  

 The Committee were advised that property, plant and equipment was one of Grant 
Thornton’s biggest areas of focus and it took up an inordinate amount of our time, 
as it was   a very large figure at the top of the balance sheet.   One of the impacts of 
Covid on the financial statements on that property plant and equipment disclosure 
was clearly set out on page 19 of the report.  This was intended to draw to the 
reader’s attention, the acknowledgement within the financial statements that there 
was a material uncertainty of the carrying value of property, plant and equipment.  It 
explicitly referred to the fact that there was an increased inherent uncertainty in 
those valuations.  

The External Auditor explained that it put into context that emphasis of this matter 
was something that they were expecting from other clients this year, and this was 
not specific to Gloucestershire.  It was noted that a lot of the work this year reflected 
an increasing challenge in terms of assumptions and judgments.   

The Chair on behalf of the Committee wished to thank Grant Thornton and the 
Finance Team for carrying out so much effective work well within the rescheduled 
time set by government.  

Members were referred to pages 28 and 29 of the report, which detailed the 
significant findings: going concerns which set out in more detail than in previous 
years, given Covid and the increased financial pressures on the Authority and the 
ability to meet its liabilities for the next 12 months. It was noted that Grant Thornton 
had made a small number of recommendations within the actual plan as detailed in 
Appendix A, page 42 of the report.  

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

A member referred to page 16 of the report in terms of management override 
controls and suggested that it would be helpful to have the key detailed for clarity as 
the colours were difficult to differentiate.  

It was explained that in terms of entries, Journal authorisation was being 
undertaken as manual exercise retrospectively for sample journals, as document 
were held in hard copy files in the office. Therefore, the ability to do that with large 
numbers of officers working from home was compromised and Grant Thornton were 
just bringing it to attention of the Committee by means of this report.  Members 
were advised that clearly a lot of the work involved substantial testing and had 
resulted in the External Auditor looking at selected high risk journals and assessing 
them for appropriateness.  It was noted they didn’t identify any concerns in terms of 
the appropriateness.   

In response to a question, it was explained that Grant Thornton had taken a lot 
longer due to the challenges of undertaking an audit remotely, and it had been 
resource intense on both sides.  
 
The Director of Corporate Resources informed the Committee that he had been 
very impressed with the working relationship between the auditors and officers.  
Evidence was provided to auditors quickly and promptly on all fronts when they 
asked questions and their request for evidence was absolutely crucial in making 
sure a smooth audit took place.  

He accepted it was evidently more challenging undertaking an audit when you're 
not in front of people and working at home had presented its own issues.  However, 
he thought that teams and auditors had done a great job battling through the 
pandemic, hence why Government had given Authorities more time to do that work.  

On a general point, he felt teams were more productive on the whole when working 
at home.   Undoubtedly, there were issues where team working and other kind of 
team events were better face to face but staff feedback would needed to be taken 
into account.  The Director of Corporate Resources stated that staff were generally 
finding it a lot more flexible working at home and had the ability to get through 
greater workloads.  He accepted that was not the case in every job, as it depended 
on the position but he felt it was necessary to think about these issues as we 
moved out of Covid.  

In response to a question, the Director of Corporate Resources explained in terms 
of budget setting and budget monitoring, he thought it was worth remembering the 
terms of the auditor’s assessment on value for money on children's services.  He 
explained even if there were no overspend, you would still get an adverse value for 
money assessment because the service was currently rated as in inadequate and 
this would only change that when the service received a different rating.  It was 
suggested that perhaps a senior officer and the Cabinet Members should come to 
the next Audit & Governance Committee meeting, to advise the Committee as to 
the work being undertaken in relation to the risks.  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Regarding budgets the Committee were advised that the County Council was taking 
a very prudent approach and was coping with the issues.    Volatility and stability of 
the budget was the key thing and the Authority was in a more robust position.  

The Director of Finance wished to pass on thanks on behalf of the Management 
Team for all that hard work and effort colleagues had gone through, during these 
unique and difficult circumstances.  

In response to a question, the Audit Senior Manager explained that the Pension 
Liability was included in the balance sheet and it was shown as a long term liability.   
As the balance sheet recognised that the liability would be paid over a number of 
years.  

 The Key Audit Partner referred to the outstanding objection in respect to the 
energy from waste scheme, this had prevented Grant Thornton from concluding 
their value for money work and had prevented them from issuing the certificate for 
the last three years.  It was explained that there was a recent appeal against the 
High Court judgement in relation to this scheme and on that basis Grant Thornton 
had decided given the appeal that it would be appropriate to put the objection on 
hold because the outcome of that legal action could impact on the determination of 
our objection.  

It was noted while their work was still on hold, they were considering whether there 
was any way, in which they could proceed with this work in the near future to 
conclude in this matter.  

The Chair added that had been a matter of huge frustration to this particular 
committee, as they were unable to discuss and talk about these issues until the 
appeal had concluded. 

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

4. GRANT THORNTON EXTERNAL AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT FOR THE GCC 
PENSION FUND 

Peter Barber, Key Audit Partner, Grant Thornton presented the report. The report 
highlighted the key issues arising from the audit of Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
financial statements for the year end 31st March 2020.
 
Members were informed that Grant Thornton had identified no adjustments that 
affected the Funds reported financial position.  It was anticipated that an unqualified 
opinion would be issued on the funds financial statements.  

The Committee noted that materiality levels had been revised to reflect the fall in 
net assets at year end, the materiality level was £22.4m and there were no material 
errors to report.  The disclosure note amendment had been circulated to members 
of the committee for information.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

In response to question relating to the tremendous fall in the value of any oil 
investments and the vast majority of the equity investments were all at risk.  David 
Bray, Senior Manager, Grant Thornton explained that it wasn’t in terms of risk 
associated with the investment, this was purely in terms of the valuation at the year 
end and the various levels of investment.   As such an extra disclosure had been 
included for readers of the accounts pointing out the extra uncertainty this year in 
the audit report for clarity.  
 
The performance of the fund was the responsibility of the Pensions Committee.   It 
was noted that the auditors did not provide a separate value for money conclusion 
on the Pension Fund.
 
Resolved
  
That the report be noted.

5. ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

Paul Blacker, Director of Finance presented the report.  The purpose of the report 
was to formally present the Account of Gloucestershire County Council and the 
Pension to the Audit & Governance Committee for its approval.  The accounts had 
been produced in accordance with the CIPFA Accounting Code of Practice based 
on International Accounting Standards.   

The Director of Finance wished to thank Grant Thornton and the Finance team for 
their hard work and sterling efforts to produce the Annual Statement of Accounts.   
It had been a very challenging year but a good robust relationship with the external 
auditors, had allowed the Authority to finalise the accounts ahead of schedule. It 
was noted there were two minor amendments to the accounts and the disclosure 
notes, these amendments had no financial impact on the financial statements.  
Copies of these amendments were circulated to the Committee ahead of the 
meeting and a copy was attached to the signed minutes.  

In response to a question, it was noted that the amendments related to the financial 
statement so it was more of a timing issue that need to be corrected and the 
second amendment related to the Pension Fund,  where there was an incorrect 
reference to Councillors being Directors of UBICO and Brunel.   

Councillor Theodoulou confirmed he had never been a Director of UBICO or Brunel 
and neither did he sit on the Board.  It was noted Cllr Theodoulou as Chair of the 
Pension Committee was a representative for the County Council as corporate 
shareholder for the Brunel Pension Partnership and Councillor Stowe, as Cabinet 
Member for Finance was a corporate shareholder representative on UBICO.  The 
Director of Finance agreed to amend the wording to reflect this amendment.  

The Committee were advised the Statement of Accounts was a very detailed 
technical document and to assist members in their duties a detailed training session 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

had been arranged prior to the formal meeting, in an effort to assist Members in 
their understanding.  

The Committee noted that no members of the public had formally objected to the 
statement of accounts during the 30 day period of inspection.  As such, the Section 
151 and the Chief Finance Officer had approved the statement of accounts as 
presenting a true and fair view of the financial position of the council as at the 31st 
of March 2020.  

The Director of Finance explained there were no material errors or adjustments and 
the external auditors gave an unqualified opinion of the accounts.  He felt this was a 
great achievement due to the outstanding objection relating to the energy from 
waste scheme and were unable to conclude their value for money work.  

The Committee formally approved the Statement of Accounts and the Chair of the 
Audit and Governance Committee agreed to sign the letter of representation on 
behalf of the County Council and the Pension Fund.  

Resolved 

That the Committee formally approved the Annual Statement of Accounts 
year ending 31st March 2020.  

That the Chair agreed to sign the letter of representation on behalf of the 
Authority and the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.    

6. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2019/20 

The Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) presented the report in detail and explained that 
the AGS summarised the Council’s corporate governance arrangements in place 
during 2019 / 2020.  It was noted the majority of the year was unaffected by 
Coronavirus, although the pandemic had been recognised with the statement.

The CIA confirmed that the Council’s AGS and associated assurance framework 
had been developed in accordance with the CIPFA / SOLACE publication 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2016. This year’s annual review 
had identified 5 key corporate governance matters, the details of which can be 
found from page 271 of the reports pack:

- Future Financial Sustainability / Covid-19 Impact;
- Ofsted inspection of Children’s Services;
- Gloucester Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS);
- Recruitment and retention of employees in hard to fill, critical positions; and
- Covid-19 impact on governance.

It was noted that these matters would be kept under review and a further update on 
actions taken to address them would be provided to the Committee, at its January 
2021 meeting. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

In respect of the Ofsted matter, a question was raised regarding the retention of 
social workers and Members raised concerns that the County Council would train 
social workers and they would then leave, thus leaving the Authority in the same 
position. Due to these specific questions raised, the CIA suggested that the relevant 
senior managers who owned the above governance actions could attend the 
meeting, to update members on progress with these governance matters. This was 
agreed by the Committee.

It was noted that the Committee undertook a training session on the 9th October 
which explained in more detail the AGS development, associated assurance 
framework and the review process.   

During the discussion, it was noted that some members had difficulty distinguishing 
between the colour keys within the report.  The CIA accepted this issue and agreed 
that this would be rectified for future reports for the sake of clarity.  

Members were reminded that the audit committee’s overarching role was to monitor 
standards of conduct for members.  It was explained that officers also had 
standards of conduct to abide by too.  

A question was raised regarding the AGS sign off arrangements asking whether the 
Monitoring Officer should also sign off the statement. The CIA and Executive 
Director of Corporate Resources informed the Committee that there was only a 
requirement for the Leader and Chief Executive to sign off the statement and the 
assurance framework that underpinned this approval includes the Monitoring Officer 
and the Corporate Leadership Team. 
Resolved 

The Annual Governance Statement was unanimously approved by the 
Committee.   

7. THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE REPORT 

The Director of Finance presented the report and gave a midyear review of 
Treasury Management activity to date.  The Committee noted that no long term 
borrowing had matured.  He added that in terms of investment returns this period 
since the beginning of the financial year, had been dominated by Covid and a low 
interest rate environment.  

The Committee noted that there was not much activity on the borrowing front but 
the Authority had maintained income returns.   It was noted that all the Treasury 
management activity has complied with CIPFA code of practice.  

A member suggested that in terms of Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
it should be included within the statement.  Especially as there was more interest in 
ESG Investments and their impact, in particular on the Pension Fund.   The Director 
of Finance explained if the Committee had a strong feeling this could be included in 
future reports in order to highlight in ESG in relation to public interest.   It was noted 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

that a lot of those newer investments in green technologies were actually proving to 
be reasonably profitable.  

In response to a question, the Director of Finance explained that the Treasury 
Management Strategy complied with the council amendment to not have any new 
investments in fossil fuels.  However, this wasn’t specifically stated within the 
report.  The Committee requested that this statement be included in future reports.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

8. INTERNAL AUDIT 2020/21 QUARTERLY PROGRESS REPORT 

At this point the Chairman announced that this would be Theresa Mortimer, Chief 
Internal Auditor, last meeting of the Audit & Governance committee as she was 
retiring at the end of the year.  

The Chair on behalf of the Committee commended the CIA on her efforts and 
support given and that she delayed her retirement to cover the pandemic crisis 
period.  The CIA remarked that it had been a pleasure working with the committee 
and thanked the committee members for their kind words and their support over the 
years.   

The CIA explained the purpose of this report was to present the current progress of 
Internal Audit (IA) activity against the 20/21 audit plan.  The CIA drew members’ 
attention to Page 318 of the report which highlighted the outcomes of Internal 
Audit’s recent External Quality Assessment undertaken by the Chartered Institute of 
Internal Auditors. 

The Committee were informed that the assessment concluded the Authority met all 
professional standards and there were no formal recommendations made for 
improvement.  It was noted the full EQA report could be found by clicking on the link 
within the report.

In addition, the CIA wished to draw members’ attention to the three limited 
assurance audit reviews. These could be found from page 324 onwards within the 
report and related to:

- Disposal of Assets – Vehicles; and
- Two Children’s Services audit reviews around unregulated placements and 

packages of support for fostering. 

Resolved

That the report be received and the committee requested that the relevant 
management attend the next meeting of the committee to provide an update 
on the actions taken to address the recommendations made relating to the 
above two reviews.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

9. REVISED INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2020/21 

The CIA presented the report and explained due to the pandemic and required 
changes in the council’s working arrangements, systems and processes, she  
decided to undertake a mini refresh of the audit plan to ensure it remained fit for 
purpose and continued to reflect the risk profile and assurance needs of the Council 
during the pandemic period.

As a result of consultation with Executive Directors / Directors the CIA proposed the 
revised IA plan in Appendix 1 of the report (from page 368). Members noted that 
each original audit activity from the current plan had been reviewed with a proposal 
in the last column as to how it would be progressed, i.e. continued, in progress or 
deferred.

The CIA explained there hadn't been a lot of change which was very positive and 
Internal Audit was able to continue with the original plan.  The CIA proposed the 
deferral of 8 activities, as detailed in Appendix 1, (3 high and 5 medium priority 
activities). The rationale for deferrals was explained in detail on page 366 of the 
report.  It was noted these were mainly due to Covid 19 and included the ERIC 
System and the St Johns arrangements as the Authority were unable to progress 
these arrangements in the current climate.  

Members were informed that to offset the deferrals, new activity had arisen as a 
result of Covid 19. These were noted as: 

- Consultancy/Children & Families support to supplier relief / Integrated 
Transport Unit (ITU) supplier payments;

- Volunteering;
- Worked with Strategic Finance to review and provide assurance regarding a 

premium for care providers; and
- Covid -19 relevant irregularities i.e. shielding claims 

The Committee noted the plan however continued to be dynamic and was flexible 
to respond to any emerging risks.  Members were advised that all changes would 
continue to be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

A member suggested that risk exercises should be included within the risk register 
and should include detail about what to do in a pandemic and the response. It was 
suggested that it would be beneficial to go through a whole series of looking at what 
we could do better and see whether there were lessons to be learnt.  It was 
suggested that this would be an informative piece of work to see how well the risk 
register worked in terms of preparedness.   

The CIA gave assurances and advised members that there were two strategic risks 
on the risk register regarding business continuity and emergency response 
arrangements.  These risks were monitored on a quarterly basis and were reported 
to the relevant Scrutiny Committee and to Cabinet.   It was noted that Internal Audit 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

were also running a strategic risk register workshop on the 3rd of November with 
the Corporate Leadership Team and would raise this issue at that session.  

Resolved 

That the report be received by the Committee.

10. GFRS ACTION PLAN INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

The CIA informed the Committee that Internal Audit (IA) undertook 18 audits within 
GFRS, with a number of them providing a limited assurance opinion on the control 
environment.  The report provided the committee with an update on the progress 
made with the implementation of those recommendations and provided 
independent assurance to the committee they had been or were being addressed.

The suite of appendices attached to the report provided details of the current 
position and comments made by the Improvement Board Members and Lead 
Officers involved in this process.   

The CIA acknowledged that even during this extremely challenging period, GFRS 
via the Improvement Board had made positive progress and applied a strong drive 
to complete the implementation of the IA recommendations by the end of this 
financial year. 

The CIA acknowledged this had not been an easy task when considering the 
service’s other Covid 19 commitments, but this continued focus demonstrated a 
strong commitment to driving good governance within GFRS.

A further progress report would be provided to the committee at its meeting in 
March 2021. However, if there were any further updates these would be provided to 
Committee in January 2021.   .  

In response to a question the Cabinet Member explained there had been significant 
efforts to work through the processes that were identified through audit but also 
from Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS).  He thought it was necessary to remember that we had the issues that 
arose in 2018 and the comments that were made were about the previous Chief 
Fire Officer.  The HMICFRS was a difficult report to read and was a real challenge 
for people within the service.  It was not possible to change culture overnight, and 
the service had now begun a cultural journey for the Fire and Rescue service.  It 
was noted that it could take three years to actually fully embed the Fire Rescue 
service, the new chief and the team continued to get more integrated into the 
County Council. 

Members noted that the County Council is the Fire Authority for Gloucestershire; 
the Cabinet Member felt assured that the service was working even closer with the 
teams and the departments within Shire Hall.  He aimed to move away from the 
vision that Waterwells was an island on its own.   The Cabinet Member explained 
under his stewardship and under the direction of our current chief officer and 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

principal team we will work long hard to embed a new culture into a service and get 
a stronger form of governance as part of the County Council.   

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources added that he was also working 
closely with the Chief Fire Officer and he clarified comments that the Cabinet 
Member had made.  The Chair commented from his own experience on the cabinet 
panel, as one of the indicators of cultural change was the staff survey.  He thought 
under the previous regime they weren't taken seriously and they now were.   The 
Cabinet Member confirmed this was the case and the points and comments staff 
were now making in confidential staff surveys were being picked up and dealt with.    

The Cabinet Member explained the last set of survey  returns from GFRS staff was 
promising as a there was a significant increase in the number of staff who 
committed their thoughts into writing and put some very positive suggestions 
forward to the Fire and Rescue Principal Officer group.  It was very pleasing that 
staff were actually bring forward suggestions that the Principal Officer group and 
the Cabinet Member could support and see that proposals are considered and 
actioned as needed..   The Committee noted that the Cabinet Member had regular 
update meetings with whole and on call time personnel and they're all saying that 
they can clearly see change and they feel that they are now being valued.  

The Deputy Chief Fire Officer explained there was a lot of work going on within the 
service to ensure that lessons identified had been fully learned and they would 
apply them to become a very progressive and inclusive service going forward.  .   
During the discussion, he referred to the report as there were still some outstanding 
actions that the service was working through.  This highlighted the fact that Fire and 
Rescue Service were now working closely with the Human Resources team, 
Business Service Centre, Strategic Finance the Integrated Transport Unit team to 
ensure that when these policies procedures and systems are in place they are fully 
integrated, not just within fire but they can add value across the whole of the County 
Council.  

Members appreciated the comments made but felt that cultural journey should be 
drawn out a little more in the reports.  It was important to note the direction of travel 
was positive.  

The CIA explained that the reason the integrated processes had not been reported 
at this stage was due to them still being considered and developed and not yet 
finalised.  It was explained that future IA progress reports would include these 
agreed arrangements when those systems and processes, policies procedures, etc, 
had been fully implemented.  

The Chair wished the service well on its improvement journey.  

Resolved 

That the report be received by the Committee.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

At this point of the meeting, the Chairman thanked Theresa for her contribution and 
offered members the opportunity to wish Theresa well in her retirement.  

Cllr Parsons added that he had worked with Theresa over quite a long period of 
time and he’d like to thank her very much for her objectivity and for the tremendous 
work that she had done for the council.  He added that it had been a pleasure 
working with her and he wished her a very long and happy retirement. 

Cllr Theodoulou wished to thank Theresa for all the help and support she had 
provided him with, when he was the Cabinet Member for Finance.   He wished her 
well for the future.   

Cllr Windsor Clive echoed those sentiments and wished Theresa every happiness 
in her retirement and that she was retiring on a positive report.   

The clerk read a message on behalf of Gavin Roberts, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, he 
wished to say a big thank you to Theresa from everyone at Community Safety 
Directorate.  Her support as a critical friend has been invaluable and she’d helped 
the service to meet their audit recommendations and become a more effective and 
efficient service and for that, they thanked her.

Cllr Payne added as relative newcomer to the Council he’d always found Theresa’s 
degree of support, expertise and knowledge in her governance role and a wide 
range of areas was extraordinary and he thanked her for the work undertaken.  In 
particular for making him able to understand the issues that were before the 
Committee and he wished Theresa a long and happy retirement.

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources wished to echo the comments 
already made by members.  He explained that Theresa was absolutely instrumental 
in his induction into the Authority and he’d worked closely with Theresa on several 
key pieces of work.  He added that she would be a great loss to the Authority and 
the Statutory Officer Group but he wanted to wish her well on behalf of the 
Management Team.  

Cllr Hay wished to echo everything that people said and thanked Theresa.  He 
thought the one thing people had not mentioned was simply Theresa’s smile and no 
matter how challenging things were, she always remained cheerful and that would 
be greatly missed.   

Cllr Tipper concurred with the previous comments, but felt Theresa was brilliant.  
He added that Theresa always presented well and explained her work in everyday 
terms so everyone could clearly understand the issues.  He wished her well for the 
future.  

Theresa wished to sincerely thank the Committee for their very kind words and 
significant support provided to her over the years and stated that it was a real 
pleasure to work for the committee who were extremely dedicated to good 
governance and audit.  

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

11. ANNUAL RIPA REPORT 

Gillian Parkinson, Assistant Director of Legal Services and Karen Smith, Head of 
Regulatory Services and Consumer Protection presented the report.  The report 
informed the Committee of the use of directed surveillance and covert human 
intelligent sources and reported on the results of the inspection undertaken by the 
Investigatory Powers Commissioners Office in 2019/20.

The aim of this item was to ensure that members of this committee had the 
oversight at member level in terms of the statutory RIPA powers.   It was noted that 
Annex A, detailed at page 466 of the report set out three phases in terms summary 
of actions.  

The Head of Regulatory Services and Consumer Protection explained the 
differences between RIPA and non RIPA surveillance activities, which officers 
conducted in their day to day activities.  It was noted that priorities had shifted in 
light of the Covid 19 pandemic and officers would provide a detailed update at a 
future meeting of this committee.  The Committee welcomed this approach.  

The Committee noted the inspection report and appreciated the collaborative 
working approach being undertaken with the District Councils.  

In response to a question relating to fraud investigations, the CIA explained that 
Internal Audit had a Counter Fraud Team which investigated on the Authorities 
behalf, if commissioned to do so.  In addition, it was noted that the surveillance of 
illegal drugs was not within the powers of the Local Authority this was a matter for 
the Police.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the outcome of the inspection by the Investigatory 
Powers Commissioner’s Office.  

The Committee agreed the conclusion of the report and confirmed the current 
procedural guidance and the arrangements for authorising applications 
remained fit for purpose.  

12. LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN'S ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER 

Bonnie Styles, Principal Lawyer and Business Partner with Legal Services 
presented the report in detail.  The report informed the Committee of the Council’s 
arrangements for handling complaints and investigations by the Local Government 
Ombudsman (LGO).  

The Committee noted that in 2019/20 the LGO received 83 complaints about the 
County Council, 12 of which were upheld.  The Principal Lawyer continued to 
explain the breakdown of complaints and referred the Committee to page 469 of the 
report, which detailed the figures.  

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

In response to a question, it was noted in 2018/19 11 cases were upheld and in 
2017/18, 8 cases were upheld by the LGO.  It was noted that both complaints and 
compliments were welcome, as it gave modern organisations a broad overview and 
helped to improve its processes.  

Gloucestershire County Council took all complaints seriously and continued to 
understand the importance of learning from them, as well as using them to identify if 
there were any broader organisational risks or governance issues. The complaints 
were confidential, but any lessons learned were applied across the service affected 
and amended or new processes would be introduced as a result of such 
complaints.

Members were advised that cases were reviewed on a regular basis by the Chief 
Executive, Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer.   

Resolved

That the Committee received the Local Government Ombudsman Annual 
Review Letter 2019/20.  

13. MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT ANNUAL REPORT 

Gillian Parkinson, Assistant Director of Legal Service presented the report which 
reminded the Committee of the statutory arrangements governing the conduct of 
elected members.  

The Assistant Director of Legal Services reported that there had been no reason to 
convene the Hearings Panel in 2019/20.  

Members were in advised that in May 2021, the two independent persons term of 
office would come to an end and a recruitment process would have to be 
undertaken again.  

It was explained that the standards in public life committee had produced a review 
of local government ethical standards in January 2019 and which included a 
number of recommendations in relation to member’s code of conduct.  

The Local Government Association had, in response, commissioned a piece of 
work to develop a Model Code of Conduct that could be used to provide greater 
consistency across Local Government.  The Committee noted that a link to the 
report was available within the Committee papers.   It would be for individual 
councils to consider whether to adopt this Model Code of Conduct.  However, going 
forward it is recommended that, once published, Gloucestershire County Councils 
uses this as the basis for reviewing its own code.  This would ultimately be a matter 
for the Constitution Committee to consider with recommendation to the County 
Council. 

Resolved 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

That the report be noted.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.26 pm

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Progress Report 

Gloucestershire County Council and 
Pension Fund
Year ending 31 March 2021

January 2021

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 4



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 3

Progress at 5 January 2021 4

Audit Deliverables 5

Appendix A – VFM Arrangements 

2

P
age 18



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

This paper provides the Audit and Governance Committee w ith a report on progress in delivering our responsibilities 

as your external auditors. 

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee can f ind further useful material on our w ebsite, w here w e have a 

section dedicated to our w ork in the public sector. Here you can dow nload copies of our publications 

w ww.grantthornton.co.uk .

If you w ould like further information on any items in this briefing, or w ould like to register w ith Grant Thornton to 

receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 

Engagement Manager./

Introduction

3

Peter Barber

Engagement Lead

T 0117 305 7897

M 07880456122

E peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

David Bray

Engagement Manager

T 0117 305 7889

E david.bray@uk.gt.com

P
age 19

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

Progress at 5 January 2021

4

2019/20 Audit

Opinion for the Council and Pension Fund 

We presented our Audit Findings Reports (ISA260) at the Audit and Governance 

Committee on 30 October 2020. In these reports w e set out that our anticipated 

opinions (for both the Council and Pension Fund) w ere unqualif ied and w ould include 

Emphasis of Matter paragraphs highlighting the material uncertainties disclosed in the 

f inancial statements in respect of the Council’s land and buildings and the property 

investment funds held w ithin the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

Subsequent to the Committees w e completed our audit procedures and issued our 

anticipated opinions, as set out above, on the 18 November 2020. We w ere unable to 

issue our certif icate on the same date as w e had yet to conclude our w ork on the 

outstanding 2016/17 objection relating to the energy from w aste scheme. We also 

needed to complete our w ork on the Council’s Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) 

submission.

Value for Money (VFM) conclusion

In addition to the opinion on the f inancial statements, w e are also required to issue our 

Value for Money (VFM) conclusion on the Council’s arrangements for securing 

economy, eff iciency and effectiveness in its use of resources. As indicated at the 30 

October 2020 Audit and Governance Committee, w e are unable to conclude our w ork in 

this area until the objection relating to the energy from w aste scheme referred to above 

had been completed.

Energy from Waste Objection

We issued an updated Provisional View s document on 15 December 2020 to the 

County Council and the objectors and asked for responses to this by 22 January 2021. 

We w ill determine the w ay forward after w e have considered any responses received.

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)

Nationw ide system issues at HM Treasury have prevented the Council from making its 

updated submission and this has impacted on the completion of our w ork.

Certif ication of claims and returns

We certify the Council’s annual Teachers’ Pensions return is consistent w ith the 

scheme requirements and the Council’s underlying records. The scheme w as certif ied 

w ith only minor amendments ahead of the 30 November 2020 deadline.

Other areas

Events

Our annual chief accountants’ w orkshops w ill take place early in 2021. These 

events, w hich w ill be held virtually this year, w ill be open to your key f inance 

officers and focus on the learning from 2019/20 across the sector as w ell as 

providing early insight and view s on emerging issues affecting 2020/21 

closedow n.

2019/20 Proposed Audit Fees

In our Audit Findings Reports for both the Council and Pension Fund presented to 

the Audit and Governance Committee on 30 October 2020 the fees section 

indicated that f inal fees for 2019/20 w ere to be confirmed.

We have now  reflected on the time taken to discharge our responsibilities this year 

and are proposing a further increase in fees of £14,073 for the County Council and 

£6,000 for the Pension Fund, in addition to those proposed at the planning stages 

of the audits. 

These further charges have not been entered into lightly but reflect only a 

proportion of the signif icant additional w ork w e have had to undertake this year to 

discharge our responsibilities. Further details on the make up of all the additional 

fees are set out in our Annual Audit Letter.

Please note that these proposed additional fees are subject to approval by PSAA 

in line w ith the Terms of Appointment.

VFM for 2020/21 and onwards

The NAO consultation on a new  Code of Audit Practice (the “Code”) has f inished, 

and the new  Code has completed its approval process in Parliament. It therefore 

came into force on 1 April 2020 for audit years 2020/21 and onw ards. The new  

Code supersedes the Code of Audit Practice 2015, w hich w as published by the 

National Audit Off ice (NAO) in April 2015.

The most signif icant change under the new  Code is the introduction of an Auditor’s 

Annual Report, containing a commentary on arrangements to secure value for 

money and any associated recommendations. The NAO public consultation ran 

until 2 September 2020. The NAO w ill now  analyse all consultation responses 

received and consider w hat changes are required to the draft guidance. More 

detail is provided on the impact of this change in appendix A.

.

P
age 20



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

Audit Deliverables

5

2019/20 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the October Audit and Governance Committee 

October  2020 Complete

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statements, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

November 2020 Complete

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

December 2020 Reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee in 

January 2021

2020/21 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter 

Confirming audit fee for 2020/21

April 2020 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan (for both the Council and Pension Fund)

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit and Governance Committee setting out our 

proposed approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2020/21 financial statements.

March  2021 Not yet due

Audit Findings Report (for both the Council and Pension Fund)

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the October Audit and Governance Committee 

October  2021* Not yet due

Auditor’s Annual Report

The key output from local audit work on arrangements to secure VFM is an annual commentary on 

arrangements, which will be published as part of the Auditor’s Annual Report (AAR). The final version of the 
AAR will be published at the same time as the Auditors Report

October 2021* Not due yet

Auditors Report (for both the Council and Pension Fund)

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

October 2021* Not yet due

*Subject to confirmation of the Local Government accounts timetable. The 2020/21 Local Government accounts and audit timetable is likely to be impacted should 
there be subsequent waves of Covid-19 in 2020-21. If there are still significant levels of the virus prevalent throughout the period to 31 March 2021, it is more likely 
that the audit deadline will be delayed again this year.

P
age 21



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

Appendix A

Auditor’s work on VFM Arrangements

6

P
age 22



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

How have the NAO changed value for money work ?

7

P
age 23



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

How is value for money work changing ?

8

More 
meaningful 
and timely 
reporting

Maximising 
the value 

from 
auditor’s 

work

More 
freedom to 
reflect local 

context

VFM arrangements commentary and recommendations

P
age 24



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

9

The three criteria have changed…

Informed 
decision making

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

Working with 
partners and 
other third 

parties

Governance

Financial 
sustainability

Improving 
economy, 

efficiency and 
effectiveness

P
age 25



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

10

A key change in reporting…

Annual Audit 
Letter

Auditor’s Annual 
Report

P
age 26



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

11

So what is in an Auditor’s Annual Report ?

Commentary on 
arrangements

Recommendations

Progress in 
implementing 

recommendations

Use of additional 
powers

Opinion on the 
financial 

statements

P
age 27



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

12

Recommendations

Action to be 
taken to 

address the 
weakness

Impact of 
weakness 

on the 
audited 

body

Evidence 
on which 
auditor’s 
view is 
based

Nature of 
weakness

P
age 28



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

13

Practical implications 

The new approach is more complex, more involved and will lead to better quality working achieving more impact. Before 

beginning work, we will discuss with you:

• Timing 

• Resourcing 

• Fees 

P
age 29



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report January 2021

Public

14

Q&A

P
age 30



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 
as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 
member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 
obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 
and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 
for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



The Annual Audit Letter

for Gloucestershire County Council 

and Pension Fund  

Year ended 31 March 2020

5 January 2021

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 5



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive Summary 1

2. Audit of the Financial Statements 5

3. Value for Money conclusion 15

Appendix

A     Reports issued and fees

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Peter Barber 

Key Audit Partner

T:  0117 305 7897

E: peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

David Bray 

Senior Manager 

T: 0117 305 7889

E: dav id.bray@uk.gt.com

Rob Patterson 

Assistant Manager

T: 0117 305 7767

E: rob.j.patterson@uk.gt.com

P
age 34



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

3

Executive Summary
Purpose
Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the 
work that we have carried out at Gloucestershire County Council ( the 
Council) and the Pension Fund for the year ended 31 March 2020.  

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to 
the Council and external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to 
draw to the attention of the public. In preparing this Letter, we have followed 
the National Audit Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice and Auditor 
Guidance Note (AGN) 07 – 'Auditor Reporting'. We reported the detailed 
findings from our audit work to the Council’s Audit and Governance 
Committee as those charged with governance in our Audit Findings Report 
on 30 October 2020.

Respective responsibilities
We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit Practice, 
which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 
Act). Our key responsibilities are to:

• give an opinion on the Council’s and Pension Fund’s financial statements (section 
two)

• assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section 
three).

In our audit of the Council's financial statements, we comply with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the NAO.

Materiality We determined materiality for the audit of the Council's financial statements to be £14.6m, which is 1.5% of the Council's gross 
expenditure. 
We determined materiality for the audit of the Pension Fund’s financial statements to be £22.4 million, which is 1% of the total
net assets. 

Financial Statements opinion We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council’s and Pension Fund’s financial statements on 18 November 2020. 

We included a emphasis of matter paragraph in our auditors report in respect of the uncertainty over valuations of the Council's
land and buildings and property investments within its share of the Pension Fund. We included a similar paragraph in our 
auditors report for the Pension Fund in respect of property investments, all due to the Covid-19 pandemic. This does not affect 
our opinion that the statements give a true and fair view of the Council’s and Pension Fund’s financial position and the income 
and expenditure for the year.

Whole of Government Accounts 
(WGA)

As at 5 January 2021 our work on the Council’s WGA submission had not been completed. System issues at HM Treasury have 
delayed the completion of our work on the Council’s consolidation return.

Use of statutory powers We have not exercised any of our additional statutory powers or duties. 

We are unable to certify the closure of the 2019/20 audit of Gloucestershire County Council until our work on the outstanding
2016/17 objection relating to the energy from waste scheme is concluded. We are keeping this under close review and aim to 
finalise our work in this area as soon as it is appropriate to do so.

We also need to complete our work on the Council’s WGA consolidation return for 2019/20 before we can issue our certificate.

Our work

P
age 35



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

4

Executive Summary

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation
provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

December 2020

Value for Money arrangements We have updated our Value for Money (VFM) risk assessment to document our understanding of your arrangements to ensure 
critical business continuity in the current environment. We have not identified any new VFM risks in relation to Covid-19. 

Due to the outstanding objection on the Council’s energy from waste scheme discussed on the previous page, we are unable to 
conclude on the value for money arrangements in place at the Council. We have also not concluded on the 2016/17, 2017/18 and 
2018/19 Value for Money arrangements for this same reason. We will finalise these once we have concluded our work on the 
objection.

Our findings in respect of Future Financial Sustainability and Children’s Services included within our audit plan are detailed on 
pages 16 to 19.

Certificate We are unable to certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of Gloucestershire County Council until our 
work on the outstanding 2016/17 objection relating to the energy from waste scheme is concluded.

We also need to complete our work on the Council’s WGA consolidation return for 2019/20 before we can issue our certificate.

P
age 36



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

5

Audit of the Financial Statements

Our audit approach

Materiality
In our audit of the Council’s and Pension Fund’s financial statements, we use 
the concept of materiality to determine the nature, timing and extent of our 
work, and in evaluating the results of our work. We define materiality as the 
size of the misstatement in the financial statements that would lead a 
reasonably knowledgeable person to change or influence their economic 
decisions. 

We determined materiality for the audit of the Council’s financial statements 
to be £14.6m, which is 1.5% of the Council’s gross expenditure. We used this 
benchmark as, in our view, the users of the Council's financial statements are 
most interested in where the Council has spent its revenue in the year.

We determined materiality for the audit of the Pension Fund’s financial 
statements to be £22.4 million, which is 1% of the total net assets. We used 
this benchmark as, in our view, the users of the Pension Fund’s financial 
statements are most interested in where the Fund  has invested the monies 
necessary to cover future pension obligations

We also set a lower level of specific materiality of £27k for senior officer 
remuneration at the Council.

We set a lower threshold of £729,000 for the Council and £1.1m for the 
Pension Fund above which we reported errors to the Audit and Governance 
Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

The scope of our audit
Our audit involves obtaining sufficient evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing whether:
• the accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed; 
• the significant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and
• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view. 

We also read the remainder of the Statement of Accounts to check it is consistent with 
our understanding of the Council and Pension Fund and with the financial statements 
included in the Statement of Accounts on which we gave our opinion.

We carry out our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK) and the NAO Code of Audit 
Practice. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council’s and 
Pension Fund’s business and is risk based. 

We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response to 
these risks and the results of this work.

P
age 37



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

6

Audit of the Financial Statements (Council)

Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findingsand conclusions

Covid-19 

The global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus pandemic has led to unprecedented 

uncertainty for all organisations, requiring urgent business continuity 

arrangements to be implemented. We expect current circumstances w ill have 

an impact on the production and audit of the f inancial statements for the year 

ended 31 March 2020, including and not limited to:

• Remote w orking arrangements and redeployment of staff to critical front line 

duties may impact on the quality and timing of the production of the f inancial 

statements, and the evidence w e can obtain through physical observation

• Volatility of f inancial and property markets w ill increase the uncertainty of 

assumptions applied by management to asset valuation and receivable 

recovery estimates, and the reliability of evidence w e can obtain to 

corroborate management estimates

• Financial uncertainty w ill require management to reconsider f inancial 

forecasts supporting their going concern assessment and w hether material 

uncertainties for a period of at least 12 months from the anticipated date of 

approval of the audited f inancial statements have arisen; and 

• Disclosures w ithin the f inancial statements w ill require signif icant revision to 

reflect the unprecedented situation and its impact on the preparation of the 

f inancial statements as at 31 March 2020 in accordance w ith IAS1, 

particularly in relation to material uncertainties.

We:

• w orked w ith management to understand the 

implications the response to the Covid-19 

pandemic has on the Council’s ability to prepare 

the f inancial statements and update f inancial 

forecasts and assessed the implications on our 

audit approach. No changes w ere made to 

materiality levels previously reported. 

• liaised w ith other audit suppliers, regulators and 

government departments to co-ordinate practical 

cross sector responses to issues as and w hen 

they arose; 

• evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures in the 

f inancial statements that arose in light of the 

Covid-19 pandemic;

• evaluated w hether suff icient audit evidence 

could be obtained through remote technology;

• evaluated w hether suff icient audit evidence 

could be obtained to corroborate signif icant 

management estimates such as asset valuations 

and recovery of receivable balances;

• evaluated management’s assumptions that 

underpin the revised f inancial forecasts and the 

impact on management’s going concern 

assessment;

• discussed w ith management the implications for 

our audit report w here w e have been unable to 

obtain suff icient audit evidence.

The Council responded w ell to the challenge 

of remote w orking and w as able to produce 

draft f inancial statements on 1 August 2020. 

This w as in accordance w ith the agreed 

timetable and w as ahead of the national 

deadline (31 August 2020), although it w as 

tw o months later than in the previous year.

The Council identif ied a material uncertainty 

in relation to land and building valuations and 

disclosed this w ithin its draft f inancial 

statements. 

The Council extended this disclosure to reflect 

similar material uncertainties to those w ith its 

directly ow ned land and buildings to the 

property investments held by Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund that are attributable to the 

County Council w ithin its net liability related to 

the Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 

calculation. 

We referred to both of these material 

uncertainties in our audit opinion.

The f inancial challenges into the medium term 

have also increased due to the lost income, 

additional costs and the uncertainty of future 

Government funding in respect of Covid-19. 

P
age 38



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

7

Audit of the Financial Statements (Council)

Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findingsand conclusions

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions (rebutted)

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue may be 

misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue. 

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there is no risk of 

material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue recognition. 

Having considered the risk factors set out in 

ISA240 and the nature of the Council’s revenue 

streams, w e determined that the risk of fraud 

arising from revenue recognition could be rebutted 

because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue 

recognition;

• opportunities to manipulate revenue 

recognition are very limited; and

• the culture and ethical framew orks of local 

authorities mean that all forms of fraud are 

seen as unacceptable.

We did not consider this to be a signif icant 

risk for Gloucestershire County Council.

We reconsidered this as part of our audit w ork 

on the f inancial statements and no new  

information came to light to change our 

original assessment.

Management over-ride of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the risk of 

management over-ride of controls is present in all entities. 

We therefore identif ied management override of control, in particular journals, 

management estimates and transactions outside the course of business as a 

signif icant risk, w hich w as one of the most signif icant assessed risks of material 

misstatement.

We:

• evaluated the design effectiveness of 

management controls over journals;

• analysed the journals listing and determine the 

criteria for selecting high risk unusual journals; 

• tested unusual journals recorded during the 

year and after the draft accounts stage for 

appropriateness and corroboration;

• gained an understanding of the accounting 

estimates and critical  judgements applied 

made by management and considered their 

reasonableness w ith regard to corroborative 

evidence; and

• evaluated the rationale for any changes in 

accounting policies, estimates or signif icant 

unusual transactions.

Our audit w ork did not identify any signif icant 

issues w ith regards to management override 

of controls.

We have previously reported that there is no 

preventative control in place around journals 

authorisation and journals can be posted and 

authorised by the same person. The Council 

introduced a retrospective review  process for 

all signif icant journals that reflected both the 

role of the originator and the amounts 

involved.

How ever, this had not operated as intended 

since the lockdow n arrangements began in 

March 2020.

P
age 39



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

8

Audit of the Financial Statements (Council)

Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findingsand conclusions

Valuation of land and buildings (Rolling revaluation) – including assets 

under PFI / PPP arrangements

The Authority revalues its land and buildings on a rolling tw o-yearly basis. This 

valuation represents a signif icant estimate by management in the f inancial 

statements due to the size of the numbers involved (approximately £1 billion at 

31.03.2020) and the sensitivity of this estimate to changes in key assumptions. 

Additionally, management w ill need to ensure the carrying value in the Authority 

f inancial statements is not materially different from the current value or the fair 

value (for surplus assets) at the f inancial statements date, w here a rolling 

programme is used.

We therefore identif ied valuation of land and buildings, particularly revaluations 

and impairments, as a signif icant risk, w hich w as one of the most signif icant 

assessed risks of material misstatement, and a key audit matter.

We:

• evaluated management’s processes and 

assumptions for the calculation of the 

estimate, the instructions issued to the valuers 

and the scope of their w ork;

• evaluated the competence, capabilities and 

objectivity of the Council’s valuation experts 

(both internal and external);

• w rote to the valuers to confirm the basis on 

w hich the valuations w ere carried out;

• engaged our ow n valuer to assess the 

instructions to the Council’s internal and 

external valuers, the valuers’ reports and the 

assumptions that underpinned the valuations 

and review ed their feedback.

• challenged the information and assumptions 

used by the valuer to assess completeness 

and consistency w ith our understanding and 

review ed the evidence underpinning a sample 

of revaluations;

• tested revaluations made during the year to 

see if they had been input correctly into the 

Council’s asset register; and

• evaluated management’s assumptions for 

those assets not revalued during the year and 

how  management has satisfied themselves 

that these are not materially different to current 

value at year end.

In line w ith guidance from the Royal Institute 

of Chartered Surveyors (RICs), the valuers 

employed by the Council included a material 

uncertainty in their f inal valuation reports.  

Officers reflected this disclosure in the 

Council’s f inancial statements in the section 

‘assumptions made about the future and other 

major sources of estimation uncertainty’. We 

asked for the note on property, plant and 

equipment to refer to this additional disclosure 

given its signif icance. 

As highlighted previously in this letter, our 

audit opinion included an emphasis of matter 

paragraph to reflect the uncertainty 

surrounding land and building valuations at 

the year end.

The emphasis of matter paragraph refers to 

this disclosure in the accounts and draw s 

attention to it for the readers of the f inancial 

statements and reflects the increased 

uncertainty in global markets created by 

Covid-19. This is in line w ith other local 

councils.

P
age 40



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

9

Audit of the Financial Statements (Council)

Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findingsand conclusions

Valuation of the pension fund net liability

The Authority's pension fund net liability, as reflected in its balance sheet as the 

net defined benefit liability, represents a signif icant estimate in the f inancial 

statements.

The pension fund net liability is considered a signif icant estimate due to the size 

of the numbers involved (approximately £700 million in the Authority’s balance 

sheet at 31.03.2020) and the sensitivity of the estimate to changes in key 

assumptions.

We therefore identif ied valuation of the Authority’s pension fund net liability as a 

signif icant risk of material misstatement.

We:

• evaluated the design of the controls put in 

place by management to ensure that this 

liability is not materially misstated;

• evaluated the instructions issued by 

management to their expert for this estimate 

and the scope of the actuary’s w ork;

• assessed the competence, capabilities and 

objectivity of the actuary w ho carried out the 

Authority’s pension fund valuation; 

• tested the consistency of the pension fund 

asset and liability and disclosures in the 

f inancial statements w ith the actuary’s report;

• assessed the reasonableness of the actuarial 

assumptions made by review ing the report of 

our auditor’s expert and performed the 

additional procedures suggested by them;

• sought assurances from the auditor of the 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund as to the 

controls surrounding the validity and accuracy 

of membership data, contributions data and 

benefits data sent to the actuary by the 

pension fund and the fund assets valuation in 

the pension fund f inancial statements.;

• assessed the accuracy and completeness of 

the information provided by the Authority to the 

actuary to estimate the liability; and

• gained an understanding from the Actuary of 

the experience items follow ing the most recent 

triennial review .

The Pension Fund’s f inancial statements 

disclosed a material uncertainty regarding the 

valuations of property investments at the year 

end. Given the signif icant share of the 

Pension Fund assets that are attributable to 

Gloucestershire County Council, there is a 

similar material uncertainty associated w ith 

the Council’s pension net liability and a new  

disclosure w as included w ith the Council’s 

accounts. 

Our audit opinion referred to this disclosure as 

an ‘emphasis of matter’.

P
age 41



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

10

Audit of the Financial Statements (Council)

Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findingsand conclusions

Accounting treatment of the Energy from Waste PPP scheme

The Energy from Waste PPP facility has become operational in 2019/20 and the 

Council w ill be required to determine the accounting treatment od this w ithin the 

f inancial statements.

This represents a signif icant and complex accounting transaction and therefore 

w e deem this to represent a signif icant risk in 2019/20.

We:

• obtained details of the scheme including the 

contract, operator’s f inancial model and the 

Council’s accounting model;

• used our internal experts to review  the above 

documentation to confirm the scheme is w ithin 

the scope of IFRIC 12;

• used our specialist team to review  the 

Council’s model by using a GT model and 

comparing any differences betw een the tw o;

• agreed the balances and disclosures in the 

f inancial statements to the audited accounting 

model;

• review ed the disclosures relating to the 

scheme for compliance w ith the CIPFA Code.

Our w ork did not identify any issues in respect 

of the accounting treatment of the Energy 

from Waste PPP scheme.

P
age 42



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

11

Audit of the Financial Statements (Pension Fund)

Significant Audit Risks 
These are the risks w hich had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and w here w e focused more of our w ork on the pension fund. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Covid–19

The global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus pandemic has led to unprecedented 

uncertainty for all organisations, requiring urgent business continuity 

arrangements to be implemented. We expect current circumstances w ill have had 

an impact on the production and audit of the f inancial statements for the year 

ended 31 March 2020, including and not limited to:

• remote w orking arrangements and redeployment of staff to critical front line 

duties may have impacted on the quality and timing of the production of the 

f inancial statements, and the evidence w e can obtain through physical 

observation;

• volatility of f inancial and property markets w ill have increased the uncertainty 

of assumptions applied by management to asset valuation, and the reliability 

of evidence w e can obtain to corroborate management estimates;

• for instruments classif ied as fair value through profit and loss there may be a 

need to review  the Level 1-3 classif ication of the instruments if trading may 

have reduced to such an extent that quoted prices are not readily and 

regularly available and therefore do not represent actual and regularly 

occurring market transactions;

• w hilst the nature of the Fund and its funding position (i.e. not in a w inding up 

position or no cessation event) means the going concern basis of preparation 

remains appropriate management may need to consider w hether material 

uncertainties for a period of at least 12 months from the anticipated date of 

approval of the audited f inancial statements have arisen; and 

• disclosures w ithin the f inancial statements w ill require signif icant revision to 

reflect the unprecedented situation and its impact on the preparation of the 

f inancial statements as at 31 March 2020 in accordance w ith IAS1, particularly 

in relation to material uncertainties.

We:

• w orked w ith management to understand the 

implications the response to the Covid-19 

pandemic had on the Fund’s ability to prepare 

the f inancial statements and assessed the 

implications on our materiality calculations and 

audit approach;

• liaised w ith other audit suppliers, regulators 

and government departments to co-ordinate 

practical cross sector responses to issues as 

and w hen they arise; 

• evaluated the disclosures in the f inancial 

statements in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, 

including management’s assessment of its 

impact on forecast cashflow s;

• evaluated w hether suff icient audit evidence 

using alternative approaches could be 

obtained for the purposes of our audit w hilst 

w orking remotely;

• evaluated w hether suff icient audit evidence 

could be obtained to corroborate 

management’s fair value hierarchy disclosure;

• evaluated w hether suff icient audit evidence 

could be obtained to corroborate signif icant 

management estimates such as Level 3 asset 

valuations; and

• discussed w ith management any potential 

implications for our audit report if  w e have 

been unable to obtain suff icient audit evidence.

The Fund responded w ell to the challenge of 

remote w orking and w ere able to produce 

draft f inancial statements in accordance w ith 

the agreed timetable, albeit this w as a month 

later than in previous years. 

As explained on page 3, the Pension Fund 

has disclosed that a material uncertainty 

exists in respect of property assets held by 

the Fund and w e referred to this in our audit 

opinion as an ‘emphasis of matter’. Our 

opinion w as not qualif ied in this respect.

P
age 43



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

12

Audit of the Financial Statements (Pension Fund)

Significant Audit Risks 
These are the risks w hich had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and w here w e focused more of our w ork on the pension fund. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions

Under ISA (UK) 240 there w as a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue may be

misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.

This presumption could be rebutted if the auditor concluded that there is no risk of 

material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.

• There is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• Opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• The culture and ethical framew orks of local authorities, including 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as 

unacceptable

We did not consider this to be a signif icant risk for Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

We reconsidered this as part of our audit w ork on 

the f inancial statements. We did not change our 

assessment and therefore do not consider this to 

be a signif icant risk for Gloucestershire Pension 

Fund.

Our audit w ork has not identif ied any issues in 

respect of improper revenue recognition.  

Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there w as a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the risk of 

management over-ride of controls w as present in all entities.

We therefore identif ied management override of control, in particular journals, 

management estimates and transactions outside the course of business as a 

signif icant risk, w hich w as one of the most signif icant assessed risks of material 

misstatement.

We:

• evaluated the design effectiveness of 

management controls over journals;

• analysed the journals listing and determined 

the criteria for selecting high risk unusual 

journals; 

• tested unusual journals recorded during the 

year and after the draft accounts stage for 

appropriateness and corroboration;

• gained an understanding of the accounting 

estimates and critical  judgements applied by 

management and considered their 

reasonableness; and

• evaluated the rationale for any changes in 

accounting policies, estimates or signif icant 

unusual transactions.

Our audit w ork did not identify any issues w ith 

regards to management override of controls.

We have previously reported that there is no 

preventative control in place around journals 

authorisation and journals can be posted and 

authorised by the same person. The Pension 

Fund introduced a retrospective review  

process for all signif icant journals that 

reflected both the role of the originator and 

the amounts involved.

How ever, this had not operated as intended 

since the lockdow n arrangements began in 

March 2020.

P
age 44



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

13

Audit of the Financial Statements (Pension Fund)

Significant Audit Risks 
These are the risks w hich had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and w here w e focused more of our w ork on the pension fund. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Valuation of Level 3 Investments

The Fund revalues its investments on an annual basis to ensure that the carrying 

value is not materially different from the fair value at the f inancial statements date.

By their nature Level 3 investment valuations lack observable inputs. These 

valuations therefore represented a signif icant estimate by management in the 

f inancial statements due to the size of the numbers involved (£158 million at 31 

March 2019) and the sensitivity of this estimate to changes in key assumptions.

Under ISA 315, signif icant risks often relate to signif icant non-routine transactions 

and judgemental matters.  Level 3 investments by their very nature require a 

signif icant degree of judgement to reach an appropriate valuation at year end.

Management utilised the services of investment managers as valuation experts to 

estimate the fair value as at 31 March 2020. 

We therefore identif ied valuation of Level 3 investments as a signif icant risk, 

w hich w as one of the most signif icant assessed risks of material misstatement. 

We:

• evaluated management's processes for valuing

Level 3 investments;

• review ed the nature and basis of estimated

values and considered w hat assurance

management has over the year end valuations

provided for these types of investments;

• independently requested year-end 

confirmations from investment managers;

• for a sample of investments, tested the 

valuation by obtaining and review ing the 

audited accounts, (w here available) at the 

latest date for individual investments and 

agreed these to the fund manager reports at 

that date. Reconciled those values to the 

values at 31 March 2020 w ith reference to 

know n movements in the intervening period;

• in the absence of available accounts, w e 

evaluated the competence, capabilities and 

objectivity of the valuation expert;

• tested revaluations made during the year to 

see if they had been input correctly; and 

• w here available, review ed investment manager 

service auditor reports on design effectiveness 

of internal controls. 

The later closedow n timetable for 2019/20 

meant that management w ere often able to 

use actual valuations at the year end rather 

than rolling forw ard valuations from the 

previous December, as w as previously the 

case. This reduced the level of estimation 

uncertainty.

Our audit w ork did not identify any signif icant 

issues in relation to the valuation of Level 3 

investments.

P
age 45



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

14

Audit of the Financial Statements
Audit opinion
We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council’s and Pension Fund’s 
financial statements on 18 November 2020.

Preparation of the financial statements

The Council presented us with draft financial statements in August 2020 (July 
2020 for the Pension Fund) in accordance with the agreed timescales, and 
provided a good quality working papers to support them. The finance team 
responded promptly and efficiently to our queries during the course of the 
audits. 

Issues arising from the audit of the financial statements

We reported the key issues from our audits to the Council’s Audit and 
Governance Committee on 30 October 2020. 
No additional matters came to light between that Committee meeting and 18 
November 2020 when we issued our opinion on the County Council’s and 
Pension Fund’s financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report

We are also required to review the Council’s Annual Governance Statement 
and Narrative Report. The Council published the narrative report within the 
financial statements and the Annual Governance Statement alongside the 
financial statements on its website.

Both documents were prepared in line with the CIPFA Code and relevant 
supporting guidance. We confirmed that both documents were consistent 
with  the financial statements prepared by the Council and with our 
knowledge of the Council. 

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) 
As at 17 December 2020 our work on the Council’s consolidation return had not been 
completed. System issues at HM Treasury prevented the Council from making its 
updated submission and this impacted on the completion of our work.

Certificate of closure of the audit

We are unable to certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements 
of Gloucestershire County Council until we resolve the outstanding 2016/17 objection 
relating to the energy from waste scheme.

We also need to complete our work on the Council’s WGA consolidation return for 
2019/20 before we can issue our certificate.

P
age 46



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

15

Value for Money conclusion (Council only)

Background
We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit 
Practice, following the guidance issued by the NAO in April 2020 which 
specified the criterion for auditors to evaluate:

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions 
and deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for 
taxpayers and local people. 

Key findings
Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and 
identify the risks where we concentrated our work.

The risks we identified and the work we performed are set out overleaf.

As part of our Audit Findings report agreed with the Council in October 2020, 
we agreed recommendations to address our findings.

Overall Value for Money conclusion

As noted earlier in this report, we are unable to issue our Value for Money conclusion 
until we have determined a 2016/17 objection relating to the energy from waste 
scheme. 

We have also not concluded on the 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 Value for Money 
conclusions due to this ongoing objection.

We will finalise our Value for Money Opinions for 2016/17 to 2019/20 once we have 
concluded our work on the objection. 

P
age 47



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

16

Value for Money conclusion

Value for Money Risks

Risks identified in our audit plan Commentary Findings and conclusions

Future Financial Sustainability
Like many other similar local authorities, 
the financial outlook remained 
challenging. At Month 6, the Council was 
forecasting a £5.1million overspend 
(1.2% of the budget). This position 
improved at Month 7 to a balanced 
budget position as a result of a review of 
revenue reserves and in-year efficiencies 
identified. The main area of pressure 
remained within the Children’s & Families 
directorate. The Council has a significant 
savings target for 2019/2020 of £19.1 
million and at the end of quarter 2, the 
Council were reporting delivery of £8.7 
million against this.

2019/20 Outturn

The Council set a net budget of £429.7 million for the 2019/20 financial year 
which was predicated on the delivery of £19.1 million of savings. The budget 
included the planned use of reserves of £2.2m. In response to previous 
year’s pressures in its demand-led services, the 2019/20 budget included 
increased funding for both children’s and adult’s services which received a 
total of £13m of extra funding when compared with 2018/19. 

Whilst the final overall outturn was a £0.3m underspend, this masks a 
£13.8m (12%) overspend in the demand-led area of children and families 
despite the increased funding in year. This overspend was offset by 
additional funding received in year and not known at the budget setting 
stage as well as the increased use of reserves totalling £4.7m.

The original savings target in the 2019/20 budget was £19.1m of which 
£14.5m (76%) was achieved. The biggest area of slippage was within 
children’s and families with £1.3m of missed savings being due to a shortfall 
in the public health grant. Although savings elsewhere and measures set out 
above addressed the shortfall, continued efforts are required to ensure 
annual savings plans are realistic and achievable.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) continues to be an area for concern, with 
services funded from this grant recording a £5.9m in-year deficit, increasing 
the cumulative deficit position to £6.7m at year end. 

See page 18.

P
age 48



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

17

Value for Money conclusion

Value for Money Risks

Risks identified in our audit plan Commentary Findings and conclusions

Future Financial Sustainability
Like many other similar local authorities, 
the financial outlook remained 
challenging. At Month 6, the Council was 
forecasting a £5.1million overspend 
(1.2% of the budget). This position 
improved at Month 7 to a balanced 
budget position as a result of a review of 
revenue reserves and in-year efficiencies 
identified. The main area of pressure 
remained within the Children’s & Families 
directorate. The Council has a significant 
savings target for 2019/2020 of £19.1 
million and at the end of quarter 2, the 
Council were reporting delivery of £8.7 
million against this.

2020/21 Budget and monitoring

A net budget for 2020/21 totalling £468.2m was set in February 2020 and 
included a 3.99% increase in Council Tax, including a 2% adult social care 
levy. The budget process considered the amount of income the Council was 
likely to receive, as well as the pressures of both pay and contract inflation 
along with demand-led growth. 

The budget was predicated on a much smaller level of savings totalling 
£9.6m, approximately half the level required in 2019/20. The Covid-19 
pandemic has meant officers have had to respond quickly to the impact that 
this has had on the finances of the Council. Although of limited impact for 
2019/20 it was clear from the outset that this would have a major impact on 
2020/21 and possibly future years as well.

During the early stages of the pandemic officers were predicting the full year 
impact of Covid-19 to be a cost pressure of £11.6m for 2020/21 with the July 
report to Cabinet reporting a forecast overspend of £15.7m for the year.  

This has been refined as further announcements have been made by the 
government and more funding made available. The October 2020 
monitoring report identified that the likely full year impact for the Council for 
2020/21 will be £3.4m, which it is anticipated will be recovered from the 
Government’s lost Sales, Fees and Charges reimbursement scheme.

In addition, at the time our Audit Findings Report was written, the Council 
was forecasting an additional overspend of £6.5m, taking total forecast 
overspend for the year to £9.9m. This is despite an improved in-year 
position with savings delivery, with over 60% of savings achieved by the end 
of quarter 1. The Council has had a considered response to the pandemic 
and has waited for clarity on funding before taking informed decisions on 
how best to proceed. 

See page 18.

P
age 49



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

18

Value for Money conclusion

Value for Money Risks

Risks identified in our audit plan Commentary Findings and conclusions

Future Financial Sustainability
Like many other similar local authorities, 
the financial outlook remained 
challenging. At Month 6, the Council was 
forecasting a £5.1million overspend 
(1.2% of the budget). This position 
improved at Month 7 to a balanced 
budget position as a result of a review of 
revenue reserves and in-year efficiencies 
identified. The main area of pressure 
remained within the Children’s & Families 
directorate. The Council has a significant 
savings target for 2019/2020 of £19.1 
million and at the end of quarter 2, the 
Council were reporting delivery of £8.7 
million against this.

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

The Council’s medium term financial strategy (MTFS) for 2020/21 through to 
2022/23 was published in February 2020 and included increased budgets 
for the final two years of £479.7m and £492.6m respectively.,

These increased budgets were predicated on £11.1m and £10.0m of 
savings respectively, and the MTFS makes allowances for pay inflation, cost 
pressures and other budget adjustments. 

Once again these savings are smaller than the challenging levels set for 
2019/20. However, the ongoing uncertainty of Covid-19 means continued 
monitoring of the impact on the remainder of the MTFS remains key. 

• While the Council faces a 
challenging financial position there 
remain appropriate arrangements in 
place for managing the budget.

• Not all savings were delivered in 
2019/20 and although the initial 
2020/21 budget was predicated on a 
lower level of savings, Covid-19 has 
made reliable financial planning into 
the medium term more challenging.

• General Fund balances and 
earmarked reserves remain 
adequate.

• Continued close in-year monitoring 
and timely corrective action will be 
required to ensure budgets are 
delivered and service redesign with 
partners implemented.

P
age 50



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

19

Value for Money conclusion
Value for Money Risks

Risks identified in our audit 
plan

Commentary Findings and conclusions

Children’s Services
Children’s Services were 
assessed by Ofsted as 
inadequate at its most recent 
inspection in June 2017. While 
the Council had had various 
monitoring visits since the 
inadequate rating, they have yet 
to receive a formal re-inspection.

Since our last Audit Findings Report, issued in July 2019, Gloucestershire 
County Council has received reports based on two monitoring visits to 
Children’s Services. These took place in September 2019 and February 
2020. 

The visits were the seventh and eighth monitoring visits since the 
Council’s Children’s Services were judged inadequate in March 2017. 

The findings of the February 2020 visit were communicated to the Council 
on 12 March 2020.

This report stated that “the senior leadership team demonstrates that it is 
determined to improve services for children”. 

However, Ofsted noted that it had been two years since the previous 
inspection, which found services to be inadequate, and their view was that 
it was taking too long to address the critical weaknesses that were 
originally identified. 

Ofsted noted that, where changes have been made, they were very 
recent, and improved areas remained fragile. The report acknowledged 
that senior leaders and managers have recognised the need to re-focus 
their attention. 

Ofsted noted that senior leaders and managers have focused time and 
resources on creating a better environment, where children can receive 
an improved service, and with fewer changes of social workers. They 
have had some success in stabilising the workforce and in maintaining 
social work caseloads at a manageable level. However, the impact of this 
on social work practice and, ultimately, on the experiences of children in 
Gloucestershire, was not yet consistently evident. 

The most recent published findings by Ofsted were 
based on a monitoring visit in February 2020. This, 
together with the previous monitoring report in 
September 2019, provides an overview of the 
majority of the financial year and so direction of 
travel. No formal re-inspection has taken place and 
so the rating of ‘inadequate’ still applies. 

We recognise that, since the findings of the visit in 
February 2020 were reported, Gloucestershire 
County Council has been working in incredibly 
challenging circumstances. Staff have been working 
remotely wherever possible and children were out 
of school for approximately six months. The 
additional social pressures associated with Covid-
19, such as unemployment, financial challenges 
and increases in domestic abuse will only have 
added to the pressures on the service and made 
driving through change difficult.

Given the ongoing concerns raised by Ofsted, we 
concluded that the Council did not manage this risk 
effectively and did not make appropriate use of 
performance and service quality information to 
support informed decision making and performance 
management. This is consistent with the conclusion 
reached in 2018/19.

P
age 51



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

20

A. Reports issued and fees – Gloucestershire County Council

Reports issued

Report Dated issued

Audit Plan 24 January 2020

Updated fees letter 27 February 2020

Audit Findings Report 22 October 2020 

Annual Audit Letter 16 December 2020

The Gloucestershire County Council Audit Plan presented in January 2020 included £27,350 of proposed addition fees to the scale fee to take account of the 
additional scepticism required on the audit and the raising of the bar by our regulator. We subsequently wrote to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources on 
27 February 2020 to indicate a reduction in this planned uplift of £9,000, reducing the increase to £18,350. This is reflected in the total proposed audit fees at 
planning above of £93,818.  

Since the presentation of the audit plan and subsequent letter, we have added a significant risk to the audit following the impact of Covid-19. We have now reflected 
on the time taken to discharge our responsibilities this year and are proposing a further increase in fees of £14,073 in addition to those proposed at the planning 
stage of the audit. This brings the total proposed audit fee up to £107,893. Further details on the breakdown is provided on the next page. 

This further charge has not been entered into lightly but reflects only a proportion of the significant additional work we have had to undertake this year to discharge 
our responsibilities.

We have been discussing this issue with Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) over the last few months and note these issues are similar to those 
experienced in the commercial sector and NHS. In both sectors there has been a recognition that audits will take longer with commercial audit deadlines being 
extended by 4 months and NHS deadline by a month. The FRC has also issued guidance to companies and auditors setting out its expectation that audit standards 
remain high and of additional work needed across all audits. The link attached https://www.frc.org.uk/covid-19-guidance-and-advice (see guidance for auditors) sets 
out the expectations of the FRC.

Please note that these proposed additional fees exclude any further work on the energy from waste objection and are subject to approval by PSAA in line with the 
Terms of Appointment.

Audit fees 2019/20 Proposed fee

County Council scale fee
Additional proposed audit fee at planning stage

75,468

18,350

Total proposed audit fees (excluding VAT) at planning £93,818

Further additional fees proposed at completion 14,073

Total proposed audit fees (excluding VAT) on completion £107,891

P
age 52



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

21

Appendix A - Gloucestershire County Council Audit fee variations – Further analysis 
The table below  show s the proposed variations to the original scale fee for 2019/20 subject to PSAA approval

Audit area £ Rationale for fee variation

Scale fee 75,468

Pensions – valuation 

(IAS19)

3,500 We have increased the granularity, depth and scope of coverage, w ith increased levels of sampling, additional levels of challenge and 

explanation sought, and heightened levels of documentation and reporting.

PPE Valuation – w ork 

of experts 

9,350 We have engaged our ow n audit expert – Wilks Head and Eve LLP and increased the volume and scope of our audit w ork to ensure an 

adequate level of audit scrutiny and challenge over the assumptions that underpin PPE valuations. The increase includes the fee payable to 

the auditor’s expert totalling £5000.

New  accounting 

standards / 

developments

2,500 Note that PSAA’s original scale fee for this contract w as set in March 2018, so any new  developments since that time need to be priced in. 

This increase costs also reflects the additional w ork resulting from the additional supervision and leadership, as w ell as additional challenge 

and scepticism in areas such as journals, estimates, f inancial resilience and information provided by the entity. 

Energy from Waste 

accounting treatment

3,000 The Council’s Energy from Waste PPP Scheme became operational in 2019/20 w hich represents a signif icant and complex accounting 

transaction w ithin the 2019/20 f inancial statements and therefore w as an area of focus for the audit. In the f irst year of a new scheme of the 

this nature, our w ork included a review  of the model by our internal specialists as w ell as a review  of the accounting treatment and the new  

balances and disclosures w ithin the f inancial statements. 

Revised planning fee 93,818

Covid-19 14,073 Over the past six months the current Covid-19 pandemic has had a signif icant impact on all of our lives, both at w ork and at home. The impact 

of Covid-19 on the audit of the f inancial statements for 2019/20 has been multifaceted. This includes:

• Revisiting planning - w e have needed to revisit our planning and refresh risk assessments, materiality and testing levels. This has resulted 

in the identif ication of a signif icant risk at the f inancial statements level in respect of Covid-19 necessitating the issuing of an addendum to 

our original audit plan as w ell as additional w ork on areas such as going concern and disclosures in accordance w ith IAS1 par ticularly in 

respect to material uncertainties.

• Management’s assumptions and estimates - there is increased uncertainty over many estimates including pension and other investment 

valuations. Many of these valuations are impacted by the reduction in economic activity and w e are required to understand and challenge 

the assumptions applied by management. 

• Financial resilience assessment – w e have been required to consider the f inancial resilience of audited bodies. Our experience to date 

indicates that Covid-19 has impacted on the f inancial resilience of all local government bodies. This has increased the amount of w ork that 

w e need to undertake on the sustainable resource deployment element of the VFM criteria necessitating enhanced and more detailed

reporting in our ISA260.

• Remote w orking – the most signif icant impact in terms of delivery is the move to remote w orking. We, as other auditors, have experienced 

delays and ineff iciencies as a result of remote w orking, including managing around agreed dates for receiving the accounts in light of 

knock on implications of other sector audits, and delays in responses during audit f ieldw ork. These are understandable and ar ise from the 

availability of the relevant information and/or the availability of key staff (due to shielding or other additional Covid-19 related demands). In 

many instances the delays are caused by our inability to sit w ith an off icer to discuss a query or w orking paper. Gaining an understanding 

via Teams or phone is more time-consuming.

Total proposed audit 

fees on completion

107,891

P
age 53



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

22

A. Reports issued and fees – Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Reports issued

Report Dated issued

Audit Plan 24 January 2020

Audit Findings Report 22 October 2020 

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund Audit Plan presented in January included £4,250 of proposed addition fees to the scale fee to take account of the additional 
scepticism required on the audit and the raising of the bar by our regulator. This is reflected in the total proposed audit fees at planning above.  

Since the presentation of the audit plan, we have added a significant risk to the audit following the impact of Covid-19 and engaged our own auditors valuation expert 
to provide further assurance over your derivative disclosures. We have now reflected on the time taken to discharge our responsibilities this year and are proposing 
a further increase in fees of £6,000 in addition to those proposed at the planning stage of the audit. This brings the total proposed audit fee up to £28,575. Further 
details on the breakdown is provided on the next page. 

This further charge has not been entered into lightly but reflects only a proportion of the significant additional work we have had to undertake this year to discharge 
our responsibilities.

We have been discussing this issue with PSAA over the last few months and note these issues are similar to those experienced in the commercial sector and NHS. 
In both sectors there has been a recognition that audits will take longer with commercial audit deadlines being extended by 4 months and NHS deadline by a month. 
The FRC has also issued guidance to companies and auditors setting out its expectation that audit standards remain high and of additional work needed across all 
audits. The link attached https://www.frc.org.uk/covid-19-guidance-and-advice (see guidance for auditors) sets out the expectations of the FRC.

Please note that these proposed additional fees are subject to approval by PSAA in line with the Terms of Appointment.

Audit fees 2019/20 Proposed fee

County Council scale fee
Additional proposed audit fee at planning stage

18,325

4,250

Total proposed audit fees (excluding VAT) at planning £22,575

Further additional fees proposed at completion 6,000

Total proposed audit fees (excluding VAT) on completion £28,575

Non-audit fees for other services Proposed fee Final fee

Audit Related Services 

Provision of IAS 19 Assurance Letters to other auditors 7,000 7,000

Total non- audit fees (excluding VAT) £7,000 £7,000

P
age 54



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

23

Appendix A - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Audit fee variations – Further analysis 
Final proposed audit fees

The table below  show s the proposed variations to the original scale fee for 2019/20 subject to PSAA approval

Audit area £ Rationale for fee variation

Scale fee 18,325

Raising the bar 2,500 The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has highlighted that the quality of w ork by all audit f irms needs to improve across local audit. This 

w ill require additional supervision and leadership, as w ell as additional challenge and scepticism in areas such as journals, estimates, 

f inancial resilience and information provided by the entity.

Valuation of level 3 

investments 

1,750 The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has highlighted that the quality of w ork by all audit f irms in respect of valuations of hard to value 

investments needs to improve across the sector. Accordingly, w e plan to enhance the scope and coverage of our w ork to ensure an 

adequate level of audit scrutiny and challenge over the assumptions and evidence that underpin the valuations of level 3 investments this 

year to reflect the expectations of the FRC and ensure w e issue a safe audit opinion.

Revised planning fee 22,575

Auditor’s expert -

Valuation

2,000 As part of our audit w ork on investments w e used, for the f irst time this year, our internal valuations team to provide assurance over the 

fair value of your derivatives. 

Covid-19 4,000 Over the past six months the current Covid-19 pandemic has had a signif icant impact on all of our lives, both at w ork and at home. The 

impact of Covid-19 on the audit of the f inancial statements for 2019/20 has been multifaceted. This includes:

• Revisiting planning - w e have needed to revisit our planning and refresh risk assessments, materiality and testing levels. This has 

resulted in the identif ication of a signif icant risk at the f inancial statements level in respect of Covid-19 necessitating the issuing of an 

addendum to our original audit plan as w ell as additional w ork on areas such as going concern and disclosures in accordance w ith

IAS1 particularly in respect to material uncertainties.

• Management’s assumptions and estimates - there is increased uncertainty over many estimates including investment valuations. 

• Remote w orking – the most signif icant impact in terms of delivery is the move to remote w orking. We, as other auditors, have 

experienced delays and ineff iciencies as a result of remote w orking. These are understandable and arise from the availability of the 

relevant information. In many instances the delays are caused by our inability to sit w ith an off icer to discuss a query or w orking paper. 

Gaining an understanding via Teams or phone is more time-consuming.

Total proposed audit 

fees on completion

28,575

P
age 55



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Gloucestershire County Council Annual Audit Letter  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 56



1

Audit and Governance Committee

22nd January 2021

Title of Report Strategy Reports 2021/22.

Purpose of Report To provide the Committee with the proposed Capital Strategy, 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2021/22 and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.

Recommendations
To consider, and comment as appropriate, on the proposed 
strategies for 2021/22, including the Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy.

Officers
Paul Blacker: Director of Finance (01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Kathryn Oakey: Finance Manager: (01452) 328915
kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Report

The Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) 2017 Prudential 
Code, Treasury Management Code of Practice and Ministry of Housing Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG) 2018 guidance requires the Council to produce:

 A Capital Strategy (Annex 1), 

 A Treasury Management Strategy (Annex 2) and 

 An Investment Strategy covering non-treasury investments (included in Annex 2).

These strategies are included within the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 
approval by full Council in February 2021.

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Annex 1
Capital Strategy 2021/22

Introduction

This capital strategy gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local public 
services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future financial sustainability. 

Decisions made this year on capital and treasury management will have financial 
consequences for the Council for many years into the future. They are therefore 
subject to both a national regulatory framework and to local policy framework, 
summarised in this annex.

Capital Expenditure and Financing

Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as property 
or vehicles that will be used for more than one year. In local government this includes 
spending on assets owned by other bodies, and loans and grants to other bodies 
enabling them to buy assets.  Subject to all Financial Regulations and Accounting 
Instructions, Directors have the authority to incur expenditure provided in the capital 
programme approved by the County Council.

Expenditure may not be incurred if it is contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, 
the Policy Framework or Capital Programme.  Virements and changes to approved 
capital schemes can be made in accordance with the Accounting Instructions.

In 2021/22, the Budget set for planned capital expenditure is £221.9 million, 
summarised below.  

Table 1: Estimates of Capital Expenditure
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 88.460 123.473 221.948 78.985 222.168
PFI and Finance Leases 80.369 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 168.829 123.473 221.948 78.985 222.168

Estimates of Capital Expenditure

Governance: 

For the majority of service areas service managers bid annually to include projects in 
the Council’s capital programme.  The Council’s project appraisal process is the 
methodology employed to evaluate schemes included in the MTFS. The elements 
are:

 Scheme description
 Fit against the Council’s priorities
 Costs including whole life costs and scheme phasing
 Available funding and source
 Revenue consequences
 Risk assessment

Page 58



3

 VAT issues
 Planning and site issues
 Target dates

Analysis of existing approved schemes will be carried out at each MTFS refresh to 
identify all “non-committed” schemes. If necessary these will be re-prioritised against 
other priority schemes awaiting approval.  Capital resources will also be made 
available to deliver schemes that meet the Council’s “invest to save” criteria.

All Highway related projects, with a few limited exceptions are subjected to a 
mathematical assessment process applicable to the area of the service involved.  
The exceptions are the allocations that are set aside for reactive works which relates 
to urgent work necessary to keep the network in a safe and operational state, 
Community Offer where we match contributions from the community and low cost 
minor works where the Council reacts to needs on a local basis. 

The Council has a statutory obligation to ensure there are sufficient local school 
places available across the County.  The capital and grant funding it receives is 
prioritised against schemes which have been identified to meet forecast growth 
(basic need) in areas where additional places are required and where the condition of 
the school’s infrastructure needs updating and replacing. Annual monitoring of pupils 
forecasts and housing, together with annual inspections of school site and premises 
ensure the information is up to date to inform planned decisions.  The Council 
produced a draft School Places Strategy document (2018- 2023).  The strategy, 
which was approved by Cabinet in December 2018, is a key framework document for 
the Council in considering any statutory proposals for changes to school organisation 
including the commissioning of new schools and will inform future capital investment 
priorities. 

The final capital programme is presented to Cabinet in January and to Council in 
February each year.

Full details of the Council’s current capital programme can be found in the MTFS: 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-
spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/

Financing Capital Expenditure

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government 
grants and other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and 
capital receipts) or debt (including internal borrowing), leasing and Private Finance 
Initiative). The planned financing of the above expenditure is as follows:

Page 59

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/


4

Table 2: Financing the Capital Programme
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
External Sources 58.087 84.190 138.670 36.614 200.018
Internal Resources, Capital 12.602 20.068 34.951 11.304 2.001
Internal Resources, Revenue 5.786 6.900 10.309 2.667 0.949
Debt 11.985 12.315 38.018 28.400 19.200
Sub Total 88.460 123.473 221.948 78.985 222.168
PFI and Finance Leases 80.369 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Total 168.829 123.473 221.948 78.985 222.168

Capital Financing

Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, 
and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue 
which is known as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) and leased PFI assets are 
financed via lease payments.  Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets 
(known as capital receipts) may be used to replace debt finance. Planned MRP, PFI 
and lease payments are as follows (there are no plans to use capital receipts in this 
way at the current time):

 
Table 3: Replacement of Debt Finance

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Minimum Revenue Provision 6.600 7.079 7.570 8.600 9.374
PFI and Finance Leases 1.098 1.338 1.177 1.468 1.268
Total 7.698 8.418 8.747 10.067 10.642

Replacement of Debt Finance

MRP is increasing due to more reliance on debt financing / internal borrowing to fund 
the approved capital programme - details of which can be found in the MTFS.  The 
Council’s full MRP statement is available within the Treasury Management Strategy, 
Annex 2 below.

The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the 
capital financing requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital 
expenditure and reduces with MRP payments and capital receipts used to replace 
debt.  Based on the above figures for expenditure and financing, the Council’s 
estimated CFR is as follows:

 
Table 4: Capital Financing requirement

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 291.436 296.671 327.119 346.919 356.746
PFI and Finance Leases 98.408 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157
TOTAL CFR 389.844 393.741 423.012 441.345 449.903

Capital Financing Requirement

Page 60



5

Asset management: 

To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has an 
asset management strategy in place. This document seeks to align the asset portfolio 
with the needs of the Council.  

The Council’s asset management strategy is available on the Council’s website, 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

Asset disposals: 

When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, 
known as capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt.  Since 
2016/17 new capital receipts can also be used to fund the revenue costs of 
transformation projects designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery 
of public services and / or to transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or 
demand for services in the future.  The proposed budget 2021/22 does not anticipate 
the use of capital receipts in this way, however given the on going transformation 
programme and the financial challenges faced by the Council as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic it may become necessary to consider using capital receipts in 
this flexible manner in future. Using capital receipts in this way will require the 
approval of the Council.

Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital receipts. 
The Council plans to receive £21.5 million of capital receipts in the coming financial 
year as follows:

 
Table 5: Capital Receipts

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Asset sales 12.602 9.962 21.502 17.962 3.750
Investment Platform 0.037 0.035 0.028 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 12.639 9.997 21.530 17.962 3.750

Capital receipts

Treasury Management

Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash 
available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved.  
Surplus cash is invested until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by 
borrowing, to avoid excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current 
account.  The Council is typically cash rich in the short-term as revenue income is 
received before it is spent, but cash poor in the long-term as capital expenditure is 
incurred before being financed.  The revenue cash surpluses are offset against 
capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall borrowing. 

Due to decisions taken in the past, the Council is currently projected to have £261.8 
million borrowing as at the end of March 2021 at an average interest rate of 4.72% 

Page 61

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


6

and £362.3 million treasury investments at an average rate of 1.273%, projected as 
at the end of March 2021. 

Borrowing strategy: 

The Council is currently holding all new long term external borrowing requirements 
internally.  However, should the Council need to externalise this debt or take short 
term debt for cash flow purposes the main objectives when borrowing will be to 
achieve a low but certain cost of finance, while retaining flexibility should plans 
change in future.  These objectives are often conflicting and the Council therefore 
seeks to strike a balance between cheap short-term loans (currently available at 
around 0.15%) and long-term fixed rate loans where the future cost is known but 
higher (currently 1.5 to 2.5%).

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing 
and PFI liabilities are shown below, compared with the capital financing requirement 
(see above).

 
Table 6: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Debt (incl. Other Liabilities) 368.194 358.893 347.771 334.203 324.935
Capital Financing Requirement 389.844 393.741 423.012 441.345 449.903

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing 
Requirement 

Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing 
requirement, except in the short-term. As can be seen from table 6, the Council 
complies with this currently and in the longer term. 

Liability benchmark: 

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated showing minimum level of borrowing required to 
keep investments at a minimum level.  This benchmark is currently -£13.0 million as 
a result of the historical borrowing portfolio of the Council and the level of balances 
and reserves.  The benchmark is forecast to increase to £44.5 million over the next 
three years due to the additional borrowing proposed.  In effect, this is saying that if 
we had no additional investment balances / surplus cash during 2020/21 the Council 
would not need to borrow currently to support the capital programme.    

 
Table 7: Borrowing and the Liability Benchmark

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Outstanding borrowing 269.786 261.823 251.878 239.778 231.778
Liability benchmark -38.964 -13.029 15.019 34.719 44.546

Borrowing and the Liability 
Benchmark 

The table shows that the Council expects to remain borrowed above its liability 
benchmark in the medium term.  This is because the Council has a large historic debt 

Page 62



7

portfolio, and due to the high premiums that would be incurred on the early 
repayment of this debt, it is not currently feasible to reduce the level of borrowing.  
Any new debt requirements are currently held internally, reducing the cost of carry 
and this additional debt results in the Council being above the liability benchmark 
from 2021/22.  This new debt would only be externalised if it become uneconomical 
to hold it internally.

The purpose of the liability benchmark is to assist the Council when making decisions 
about affordability of the capital programme and the need to borrow in the future.

Affordable borrowing limit: 

The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the 
authorised limit for external debt) each year and to keep it under review.  In line with 
statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level 
should debt approach the limit.

 
Table 8: Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Limit Limit Limit Limit Limit
£m £m £m £m £m

Total Authorised Limit for External 
Debt and Other Liabilities 440.000 455.000 500.000 500.000 495.000

Split: External Debt 341.592 357.930 404.107 405.575 401.843
Other Liabilities 98.408 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157

Total Operational Boundary for 
External Debt 420.000 435.000 480.000 480.000 475.000

Split: External Debt 321.592 337.930 384.107 385.575 381.843
Other Liabilities 98.408 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157

Authorised limit and operational 
boundary 

Further details on borrowing are available within the treasury management strategy 
at Annex 2 below. The Council’s proposed capital programme will be contained within 
these affordability limits.  

Treasury Investment strategy: 

Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out again.  
Investments made for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally 
considered to be part of treasury management however MHCLG guidance requires 
that an non treasury management Investment Strategy is maintained and can be 
included as part of the Treasury Management Strategy.

The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity over 
yield that is to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash that is 
likely to be spent in the near term is invested securely, for example with the 
government, other local authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the 
risk of loss. Money that will be held for longer terms is invested more widely, 
including in bonds, shares and property, to balance the risk of loss against the risk of 

Page 63



8

receiving returns below inflation. Both near-term and longer-term investments may be 
held in pooled funds, where an external fund manager makes decisions on which 
particular investments to buy and the Council may request its money back at short 
notice.

Following the Motion agreed by Council in November 2019 the Council has 
developed and implemented a Responsible Investment Policy, which rules out new 
investments in fossil fuel companies. 

 
Table 9: Treasury Manasgement Investments

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Near-term investments 180.4 146.5 108.5 76.7 58.8
Longer-term investments 121.9 121.9 121.9 121.9 121.9
TOTAL 302.3 268.4 230.4 198.6 180.7

Treasury Management Investments

Further details on treasury investments are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment strategy, Annex 2.

Governance: 

Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily and 
are therefore delegated to the Section 151 Officer and staff, who must act in line with 
the treasury management strategy approved by annually by Council in February.  
Regular reports on treasury management activity are presented to Audit and 
Governance Committee.  The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for 
scrutinising treasury management decisions.

Investments for Service Purposes

The Council makes investments to assist local public services; this could include 
making loans to local service providers, small businesses to promote economic 
growth and Council subsidiaries that provide services.  In light of the public service 
objective, the Council is willing to take more risk than with treasury investments, 
however it still plans for such investments to break even after all costs.

Governance: 

Decisions on service investments are made by the relevant service manager in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer and must meet the criteria and limits laid 
down in Accounting Regulations and the Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategy.  Most loans and shares are capital expenditure and significant purchases 
will be approved as part of the capital programme.

Further details on service investments are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy, Annex 2.

Commercial Activities

Page 64



9

With central government financial support for local public services declining, many 
local authorities have invested in commercial property for financial gain.  

With financial return being the main objective, Council’s will generally accept higher 
risk on commercial investment, in line with business cases, than it would for treasury 
investments. The principal risk exposure includes gaps in rental income, falls in 
capital value, delays in occupation.  Should the Council choose to pursue commercial 
activities, the risks will be managed in line with a comprehensive business case. 

Governance: 

Decisions on commercial investments will be made by the Section 151 Officer in line 
with the criteria and limits approved by full Council in the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy.  Property and most other commercial investments are also 
capital expenditure and purchases will therefore also be approved as part of the 
capital programme.

Further details on commercial activities are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy, Annex 2.

Revenue Budget Implications

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest 
payable on loans and MRP payments are charged to revenue, offset by any 
investment income receivable.  The net annual charge is known as financing costs; 
this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. the amount funded from Council Tax, 
business rates and general government grants.  

 
Table 10: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Proportion of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 5.78% 6.20% 6.23% 6.63% 6.70%

Further details on the revenue implications of capital expenditure are within Annex 8 
of the MTFS document.

Sustainability: 

Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue 
budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for up to 
50 years into the future. The Section 151 Officer is satisfied that the proposed capital 
programme is prudent, affordable and sustainable because new schemes are 
robustly challenged through the capital bid process.

Knowledge and Skills

Page 65



10

The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior 
positions with responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment 
decisions.  The Council pays for staff to study towards relevant professional 
qualifications.

Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made of 
external advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field. The Council 
currently employs Arlingclose Limited as treasury management advisers.  

Asset valuations are co-ordinated internally by the Council’s Valuation Service Team, 
with valuations carried out through a combination of the Council’s internal valuers 
and, where necessary, external valuers (RICS qualified). The Valuation Service 
Team ensures all valuations are carried out in accordance with the methodologies 
and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors.

Page 66



11

Annex 2
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy

2021/22 

Introduction

Treasury management is the management of the Councils cash flows, borrowing and 
investments, and the associated risks. The Council has borrowed and invested 
substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the 
loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The 
successful identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore central 
to the Council’s prudent financial management. 

Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in 
the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires 
the Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each 
financial year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.

Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered within 
this Strategy as per MHCLG guidance.

External Context

Economic background
The impact on the UK from coronavirus, lockdown measures, the rollout of vaccines, 
as well as the new trading arrangements with the European Union (EU) will remain 
major influences on the Council’s treasury management strategy for 2021/22.

The Bank of England (BoE) maintained Bank Rate at 0.10% in December 2020 and 
Quantitative Easing programme at £895 billion having extended it by £150 billion in 
the previous month. The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted unanimously for 
both, but no mention was made of the potential future use of negative interest rates. 
In the November Monetary Policy Report (MPR) forecasts, the Bank expects the UK 
economy to shrink -2% in Q4 2020 before growing by 7.25% in 2021, lower than the 
previous forecast of 9%. The BoE also forecasts the economy will now take until Q1 
2022 to reach its pre-pandemic level rather than the end of 2021 as previously 
forecast. By the time of the December MPC announcement, a COVID-19 vaccine 
was approved for use, which the Bank noted would reduce some of the downside 
risks to the economic outlook outlined in the November MPR.

UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) for November 2020 registered 0.3% year on year, 
down from 0.7% in the previous month. Core inflation, which excludes the more 
volatile components, fell to 1.1% from 1.5%. The most recent labour market data for 
the three months to October 2020 showed the unemployment rate rose to 4.9% while 

Page 67



12

the employment rate fell to 75.2%. Both measures are expected to deteriorate further 
due to the ongoing impact of coronavirus on the jobs market, particularly when the 
various government job retention schemes start to be unwound in 2021, with the BoE 
forecasting unemployment will peak at 7.75% in Q2 2021. In October, the headline 3-
month average annual growth rate for wages were 2.7% for total pay and 2.8% for 
regular pay. In real terms, after adjusting for inflation, total pay growth was up by 
1.9% while regular pay was up 2.1%.

GDP growth rebounded by 16.0% in Q3 2020 having fallen by -18.8% in the second 
quarter, with the annual rate rising to -8.6% from -20.8%. All sectors rose quarter-on-
quarter, with dramatic gains in construction (41.2%), followed by services and 
production (both 14.7%). Monthly GDP estimates have shown the economic recovery 
slowing and remains well below its pre-pandemic peak. Looking ahead, the BoE’s 
November MPR forecasts economic growth will rise in 2021 with GDP reaching 11% 
in Q4 2021, 3.1% in Q4 2022 and 1.6% in Q4 2023.

GDP growth in the euro zone rebounded by 12.7% in Q3 2020 after contracting by -
3.7% and -11.8% in the first and second quarters, respectively. Headline inflation, 
however, remains extremely weak, registering -0.3% year-on-year in November, the 
fourth successive month of deflation. Core inflation registered 0.2% y/y, well below 
the European Central Bank’s (ECB) target of ‘below, but close to 2%’.  The ECB is 
expected to continue holding its main interest rate of 0% and deposit facility rate of -
0.5% for some time but expanded its monetary stimulus in December 2020, 
increasing the size of its asset purchase scheme to €1.85 trillion and extended it until 
March 2022.

Credit Update

After spiking in late March as coronavirus became a global pandemic and then rising 
again in October/November, credit default swap (CDS) prices for the larger UK banks 
have steadily fallen back to almost pre-pandemic levels. Although uncertainly around 
COVID-19 related loan defaults lead to banks provisioning billions for potential losses 
in the first half of 2020, drastically reducing profits, reported impairments for Q3 were 
much reduced in some institutions. However, general bank profitability in 2020 and 
2021 may be significantly lower than in previous years.

The credit ratings for many UK institutions were downgraded on the back of 
downgrades to the sovereign rating. Credit conditions more generally though in 
banks and building societies have tended to be relatively benign, despite the impact 
of the pandemic.

Page 68



13

Looking forward, the potential for bank losses to be greater than expected when 
government and central bank support starts to be removed remains a risk, 
suggesting a cautious approach to bank deposits in 2021/22 remains advisable.

Interest Rate Forecast

The Council’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose is forecasting that BoE Bank 
Rate will remain at 0.1% until at least the first quarter of 2024. The risks to this 
forecast are judged to be to the downside as the BoE and UK government continue 
to react to the coronavirus pandemic and the new EU trading arrangements. The BoE 
extended its asset purchase programme to £895 billion in November while keeping 
Bank Rate on hold and maintained this position in December. However, further 
interest rate cuts to zero, or possibly negative, cannot yet be ruled out but this is not 
part of the Arlingclose central forecast.

Gilt yields are expected to remain very low in the medium-term while short-term 
yields are likely remain below or at zero until such time as the BoE expressly rules 
out the chance of negative interest rates or growth/inflation prospects improve. The 
central case is for 10-year and 20-year to rise to around 0.60% and 0.90% 
respectively over the time horizon. The risks around the gilt yield forecasts are judged 
to be broadly balanced between upside and downside risks, but there will almost 
certainly be short-term volatility due to economic and political uncertainty and events.

A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is 
attached at Appendix A.

Local Context

At 31st March 2021 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as 
measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is estimated to be £393.7 
million, while usable reserves and working capital which are the underlying resources 
available for investment are estimated at  £362.3 million. This is set out in further 
detail at Appendix B.  Forecast changes in these sums are shown in the balance 
sheet analysis in table 1 below.

The Council currently has £261.8 million of external borrowing, a £97.1 million lease 
liability (including PFI and the Waste liability) and £367.3 million (as at 29th October 
2020) of internal investments. This is set out in further detail at Appendix B, and 
forecasts changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis at Table 1 
below. 

The Council’s current strategy is not to borrow but to hold lower investment balances, 
sometimes known as internal borrowing.  CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities recommends that the Council’s total debt should be 
lower than its highest forecast CFR over the next three years.  Table 1 shows that the 
Council expects to comply with this recommendation during 2021/22. 

Page 69



14

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund CFR 389.844 393.741 423.012 441.345 449.903
Less: Other debt liabilities 98.408 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157
Loans CFR 291.436 296.671 327.119 346.919 356.746
Less: External borrowing 269.786 261.823 251.878 239.778 231.778
Internal (over) borrowing 21.650 34.848 75.241 107.141 124.968
Less: Usable reserves 244.300 223.600 226.000 226.100 220.100
Less: Working capital 79.600 79.600 79.600 79.600 79.600
(Investments) or New borrowing (302.250) (268.352) (230.359) (198.559) (174.732)

Balance Sheet Summary

 
Liability benchmark

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated and presented in the Capital Strategy, showing the 
lowest risk level of borrowing. This benchmark is currently -£13.2 million and is 
forecast to rise to £44.5 million over the next three years as the Council seeks to hold 
new capital borrowing requirements internally.

Borrowing Strategy

The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2020/21 is forecast to be £393.7 million 
(equivalent to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external and a lease liability.  
The Council’s aim is to both repay maturing debt, and where possible some of the 
existing debt when opportunities to do this arise. The Council also considers new 
borrowing where it can be shown to be prudent and financial beneficial to do so.  In 
2020/21 £8.0 million maturing external debt was repaid with £9.9 million being 
forecast to be repaid in 2021/22.

The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low 
risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over 
the period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the 
Councils long-term plans change is a secondary objective.

The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability 
without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term 
interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event 
that the Council needed to borrow it would be more cost effective in the short-term to 
either use internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead.  

By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is most 
likely to be beneficial over the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain low, it is 
unlikely to be sustained in the medium-term.  The benefits of internal borrowing will 

Page 70



15

be monitored regularly against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring 
borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise 
modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven 
analysis. 

In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to one month) 
to cover unexpected cash flow shortages.

Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loan Board)
• UK local authorities
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• any other UK public sector body
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire Pension 

Fund)
• capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created 

to enable local Council bond issues

In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not 
borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

• leasing
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback.

The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) but will consider long-term loans from other 
sources including banks, pensions and local authorities, in order to lower interest 
costs and reduce over-reliance on one source of funding in line with the CIPFA Code.  
PWLB loans are no longer available to local authorities planning to buy investment 
assets primarily for yield; the Council intends to avoid this activity in order to retain its 
access to PWLB loans.

The UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local 
Government Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It issues bonds on the 
capital markets and lends the proceeds to local authorities.  This is a more 
complicated source of finance than the PWLB for two reasons: borrowing authorities 
will be required to provide bond investors with a guarantee to refund their investment 
in the event that the agency is unable to for any reason; and there will be a lead time 
of several months between committing to borrow and knowing the interest rate 

Page 71



16

payable. Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a 
separate report to Audit and Governance Committee.  

The Council holds £33.050 million of Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) 
loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as 
set dates, following which the Council has the option to either accept the new rate or 
to repay the loan at no additional cost.  All of these LOBO’s have options during 
2021/22, however lenders are unlikely to exercise their options in the current low 
interest rate environment. The situation with these LOBOs will be kept under regular 
review and the Council will take the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has 
the opportunity to do so.  Previously a further £8.0 million of loans with Barclays were 
classified as LOBOs, however Barclays have now fixed the interest rates on these 
loans until maturity. These are now classified as fixed rate market loans.

Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-term 
interest rate rises and are therefore subject to interest rate exposure limits in the 
treasury management indicators below.  Financial derivatives may be used to 
manage this interest rate risk (see Financial Derivatives section below).

Debt Rescheduling

The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a 
premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current interest 
rates. Some bank lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption 
terms. The Council may take advantage of this and replace some loans with new 
loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is expected to lead to an 
overall saving or reduction in risk.

Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee in the Annual Treasury Management Report, the Mid Year Report and 
any other treasury management reports presented to Audit & Governance 
Committee.

Treasury Investment Strategy

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in 
advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2020/21 the 
Council’s internal treasury investment balance has ranged between £308.8 million 
and £384.8 million.  Balances are expected to start falling as internal borrowing starts 
to become a feature of future years.

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its treasury funds prudently, and to 
have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest 
rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an 

Page 72



17

appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses 
from defaults and the risk receiving unsuitably low investment income.  Where 
balances are expected to be invested for more than one year, the Council will aim to 
achieve a total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in 
order to maintain the spending power of the sum invested.

Negative interest rates:

The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the risk that the Bank of England will set its 
Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to negative interest rates 
on all low risk, short-term investment options. Since investments cannot pay negative 
income, negative rates will be applied by reducing the value of investments. In this 
event, security will be measured as receiving the contractually agreed amount at 
maturity, even though this may be less than the amount originally invested.

Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank 
investments, the Council aims to continue its strategy of diversifying into more secure 
and / or higher yielding asset classes during 2021/22.  This is especially the case for 
funds available for longer-term investment. The pie chart below shows how the 
Council’s surplus cash is currently invested.

UK Banks
5%

Covered 
Instruments

1%

Local Authorities
39%

MMF+
1%

MMFs
31%

Housing 
Associations

3%

Long Dated 
Funds
12%

Property Fund
8%

Investments as at 29/10/20

Under the new IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain investments depends on 
the Council’s “business model” for managing them. The Council aims to achieve 
value from its internally managed treasury investments by a business model of 
collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore, where other criteria are also met, 
these investments will continue to be accounted for at amortised cost.

The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in table 2 
below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty), the time limits shown and the 

Page 73



18

Responsible Investment Policy incorporated as part of the Treasury Management 
Policies.

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties 

 

Sector  Time limit Counterparty 
limit Sector limit

The UK Government  50 years Unlimited n/a
Local authorities & other government entities 25 years £15m  Unlimited
Secured investments * 25 years £30m  Unlimited
Banks (unsecured) * 13 months £15m Unlimited
Building societies (unsecured) * 13 months £15m £30m
Registered providers (unsecured) *  5 years £15m £30m
Money market funds * n/a £30m / fund Unlimited
Strategic pooled funds n/a £30m £150m
Real estate investment trusts n/a £30m £30m
Other investments * 5 years £15m £30m

* Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk will only be made with entities 
whose lowest published long-term credit rating is no lower than A-

Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published long-term credit 
rating from a selection of external rating agencies. Where available, the credit 
rating relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise 
the counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never 
made solely based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including 
external advice will be taken into account.

For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made either (a) 
where external advice indicates the entity to be of similar credit quality; or (b) to a 
maximum of £100,000 per counterparty as part of a diversified pool e.g. via a 
peer-to-peer platform.

 Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional 
and local authorities and multilateral development banks. These investments are 
not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, although 
they are not zero risk. Investments with the UK Central Government may be made 
in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

 Secured Investments: 
These investments are secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits the 
potential losses in the event of insolvency.  Where there is no investment specific 
credit rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit 
rating, the highest of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating 
will be used to determine cash and time limits.  The combined secured and 

Page 74



19

unsecured investments in any one bank will not exceed the cash limit for secured 
investments.

 Banks and Building Societies Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks 
and building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  These 
investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator 
determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail.

 Registered Providers (unsecured): 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of registered 
providers of social housing and registered social landlords, formerly known as 
housing associations.  These bodies are regulated by the Regulator of Social 
Housing (in England). As providers of public services, they retain the likelihood of 
receiving government support if needed.  

 Money market funds: 
Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and very low or no price 
volatility by investing in short-term money markets. They have the advantage over 
bank accounts of providing wide diversification of investment risks, coupled with 
the services of a professional fund manager in return for a small fee. Although no 
sector limit applies to money market funds, the Council will take care to diversify 
its liquid investments over a variety of providers to ensure access to cash at all 
times.

 Strategic Pooled Funds: 
Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but 
are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset 
classes other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying 
investments. Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are 
available for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and continued 
suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be monitored 
regularly.

 Real estate investment trusts: 
Shares in companies that invest mainly in real estate and pay the majority of their 
rental income to investors in a similar manner to pooled property funds. As with 
property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more 
volatile especially as the share price reflects changing demand for the shares as 
well as changes in the value of the underlying properties.  Investments in REIT 
shares cannot be withdrawn but can be sold on the stock market to another 
investor.

 Other investments: 
This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for example 
unsecured corporate bonds and company loans. Non-bank companies cannot be 
bailed-in but can become insolvent placing the Council’s investment at risk. 

 Operational bank accounts: 

Page 75



20

The Council may incur operational exposures, for example though current 
accounts, and merchant acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no 
lower than BBB- and with assets greater than £25 billion.  These are not classed 
as investments but are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will 
therefore be kept to a minumum.  The Bank of England has stated that in the 
event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 billion are more likely to be 
bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the Council maintaining 
operational continuity.

 Risk assessment and credit ratings: 
Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the Council’s treasury advisers, who 
will notify changes in ratings as they occur. The credit rating agencies in current 
use are listed in the Treasury Management Practices document. Where an entity 
has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment 
criteria then:

o no new investments will be made,
o any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, 
o full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 

investments with the affected counterparty.

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for 
possible downgrade (also known as “negative watch”) so that it may fall below the 
approved rating criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn will be made 
with that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This policy 
will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel 
rather than an imminent change of rating.

Other information on the security of investments: 

The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of 
investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available 
information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including 
credit default swap prices, financial statements, information on potential 
government support, reports in the quality financial press and analysis and advice 
from the Council’s treasury management adviser.  No investments will be made 
with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit quality, even 
though it may otherwise meet the above criteria.

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally reflected in credit 
ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these circumstances, the 
Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and 
reduce the maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level of 
security.  The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial market 
conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of 
high credit quality are available to invest the Council’s cash balances, then the 
surplus will be deposited with the UK Government or with other local authorities.  This 
will cause a reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will protect the 
principal sum invested.

Page 76



21

Investment Limits

The Council’s holds general revenue reserves which would be available to cover 
investment losses.  However, in order to limit this risk, in the case of a single default, 
the maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK 
Government) will be £30.0 million.  A group of entities under the same ownership will 
be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed on 
fund managers, investments in brokers’ nominee accounts, foreign countries and 
industry sectors as below. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development 
banks do not count against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is 
diversified over many countries.

Table 3: Investment Limits

Cash limit

Any group of pooled funds under the same management
£30m per 
manager

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee 
account

£30m per 
broker

Foreign countries
£30m per 
country

Liquidity management: 
The Council uses cash flow forecasting to determine the maximum period for which 
funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is compiled on a prudent basis to 
minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet 
its financial commitments.  Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to 
the Council’s medium-term financial plan and cash flow forecast.

The Council will spread its liquid cash over at least three providers (e.g. bank 
accounts and money market funds) to ensure that access to cash is maintained in the 
event of operational difficulties at any one provider.

Treasury Management Indicators

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks 
using the following indicators.

Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk 
by monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio.  
This is calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and 
taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated 
investments are assigned a score based on their perceived risk.

Credit risk indicator Target
Portfolio average credit rating A

Page 77



22

Liquidity: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity 
risk by monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within 
a rolling three month period, without additional borrowing.

Liquidity risk indicator Target
Total cash available within 3 months £50m

Interest rate exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to 
interest rate risk.  The upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall 
in interest rates will be:

Interest rate risk indicator Limit
Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise / fall in 
interest rates £901,000

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that 
maturing loans and investments will be replaced at current rates.

Maturity structure of borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Council’s 
exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of 
borrowing will be:

Refinancing rate risk 
indicator

Upper 
limit

Lower 
limit

Under 12 months 25% 0%
12 months and within 24 
months 25% 0%

24 months and within 5 years 50% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 100% 0%
10 years and above 100% 0%

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of 
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year: The purpose of this 
indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking 
early repayment of its investments.  The limits on the long-term principal sum 
invested to final maturities beyond the period end will be:

Table 5: Upper Limit
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Upper Limit for total principal sums 
invested over 364 days 200.000200.000 200.000 200.000 200.000

Page 78



23

The Council’s Approach to Responsible Investment

The Council has implemented a Responsible Investment Policy for future Treasury 
Management investment. 

I. For direct investments, the Council will seek to ensure that counterparties 
(excluding the UK Government and other UK Local Authorities) have no 
direct investment in Fossil Fuel companies prior to investing.

II. For additional investments into Pooled Funds the Council will seek to 
ensure that any fund used does not have exposure to Fossil Fuel 
investments prior to investing.

Non Treasury Investment Strategy

The Council invests its money for three broad purposes:

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example 
when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as treasury 
management investments),

 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 
organisations (service investments), and

 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is the 
main purpose).

This section of the report is concerned with meeting the requirements of statutory 
guidance issued by the government in January 2018, and focuses on the second and 
third of these categories, service and commercial investments. 

Service Investments: Loans

The Council can lend money to support local public services and stimulate local 
economic growth.  The Council has previously made a £100,000 investment in the 
Funding Circle platform, designed to support local businesses and economic growth 
within Gloucestershire.  The Council is currently disinvesting from the platform and to 
date has received back £71,838.90.

Where loans are made for service purposes accounting standards require the 
Council to set aside loss allowance for loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-
payment. Following changes to Accounting Standards the figures for loans in the 
Council’s statement of accounts from 2018/19 onwards will be shown net of this loss 
allowance, where material.  

Service Investments: Shares

The Council holds shares costing £1 in Ubico Ltd. The fair value of the council’s 
interest in the company at 31st March 2020 is considered to be nil, since it is a wholly 
local authority owned not-for-profit ‘Teckal’ company.  As a ‘Teckal’ company it is 

Page 79



24

treated as if it were an in house department and the shareholder councils are able to 
enter into service contracts with the company without undertaking an EU compliant 
procurement process.

Commercial Investments: Property

The Council has not invested in Commercial Property to date and has no plans to do 
so.  

It has however invested in Gloucestershire based regeneration projects which have a 
commercial element and will continue to look at similar regeneration projects in 
future. Should the Council identify such a regeneration opportunity it will require a 
detailed business case and will only do so in accordance with government guidance. 
The Council considers a property investment to be secure if its accounting valuation 
is at or higher than its purchase cost including taxes and transaction costs.

The Council will assess the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding 
property investments by producing a comprehensive business plan and monitoring 
performance on an ongoing basis.

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees

Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged hands 
yet, loan commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to the Council and 
are included here for completeness. 

The Council has guaranteed to cover the liabilities associated with the pensions of 
ex-employees following the transfers of council services to external bodies.  These 
arrangements are monitored and assessed to ensure that any provision for possible 
liabilities are made, and included within the Statement of Accounts.  

Capacity, Skills and Culture
The Council provides training from our Treasury Management Advisors to members 
of the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis, to ensure that they are 
fully aware of the investments included in the Treasury Management Strategy and 
Investment Strategy.  This training will also cover the requirements of the Capital 
Strategy and the non Treasury Management investments.  This ensures that 
members can take informed decisions on the investments being included in the 
strategies, and have the opportunity to challenge their use to ensure that they fully 
understand the implications of the investment.

Where commercial deals are to be negotiated, Finance will be involved to ensure that 
the core principles of the prudential framework and of the regulatory regime within 
which local authorities operate is taken into account.

Page 80



25

Investment Indicators
The Council has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members 
and the public to assess the Council’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment 
decisions. 

The first indicator shows the Council’s total exposure to potential investment losses. 
This includes amounts the Council is contractually committed to lend but have yet to 
be drawn down, and guarantees the Council has issued over third party loans, if any.  
It assumes that balances for treasury investments reduce as reserves reduce.

Table 1: Total Investment Exposure
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Treasury management investments 308.8 274.9 236.9 205.1 187.2
Service investments: Loans 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Exposure 308.8 274.9 236.9 205.1 187.2

Total investment exposure

Government guidance is that these indicators should include how investments are 
funded. Since the Council does not normally associate particular assets with 
particular liabilities, this guidance is difficult to comply with.  However the table below 
shows that the Council will not hold any investments funded by borrowing as usable 
capital receipts plus its working capital are expected to exceed total investments. 
This is indicative that the Council uses internal borrowing to fund part of its capital 
programme.. 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Treasury management investments -15.1 -28.3 -68.7 -100.6 -118.5
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Funded by Borrowing -15.1 -28.3 -68.7 -100.6 -118.5

Investments funded by borrowing

Table 2: Investments funded from 

Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income received less 
the associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a 
proportion of the sum initially invested. Note that due to the complex local 
government accounting framework, not all recorded gains and losses affect the 
revenue account in the year they are incurred.  Where a negative return is shown, 
this has occurred as costs are greater than investment income received.

Table 3: Investment RoR
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

% % % % %
Treasury management investments 1.78 1.82 1.86 1.90 1.95
Service investments: Loans 4.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Investments net rate of return

Page 81



26

 
Other items

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to include the following in its treasury 
management strategy.

Financial Derivatives 

Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into 
loans and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and 
forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk 
(e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits).  The general power of competence in 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much of the uncertainty over local 
authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are not embedded 
into a loan or investment). The CIPFA Code requires authorities to clearly detail their 
policy on the use of derivatives in the annual strategy.

The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, 
futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall 
level of the financial risks that the Council is exposed to.  Additional risks presented, 
such as credit exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when 
determining the overall level of risk.  Embedded derivatives, including those present 
in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not be subject to this policy, 
although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk 
management strategy.

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets 
the approved investment criteria assessed using the appropriate credit rating for 
derivative exposures. An allowance for credit risk calculated using the methodology 
in the Treasury Management Practices document will count against the counterparty 
credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit.

In line with the CIPFA Code, the Council will seek external advice and will consider 
that advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it fully understands 
the implications.

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

The Council has opted up to professional client status with its providers of financial 
services, including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access to 
a greater range of services but without the greater regulatory protections afforded to 
individuals and small companies. Given the size and range of the Council’s treasury 
management activities, this is the most appropriate status.

2021/22 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement

The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was introduced when the Local Government 
Capital Finance System was changed on 1 April 1990.  CLG’s Guidance on MRP 
places a duty on local authorities to make a prudent provision for debt redemption.  

Page 82



27

Guidance has been issued by the Secretary of State and local authorities are 
required to “have regard” to such Guidance under section 21(1A) of the Local 
Government Act 2003.  The MRP Statement must be submitted to Council before the 
start of the financial year.  If it is ever proposed to vary the terms of the original MRP 
Statement during the year, a revised statement would be put to Council at that time.

In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of 
capital grants by government, the Council has not borrowed externally to fund the 
capital programme over the last 8 years.  Opportunities are now limited for the 
repayment of debt early due to the low interest rate environment, meaning that high 
premiums would need to be paid should the Council wish to restructure or repay 
external debt early.  Maturing debt will continue to be redeemed over the next few 
years, and where opportunities present to repay internal borrowing this will  be by 
way of a voluntary revenue provision.

In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council regularly 
reviews its Capital Financing Requirement.  To reduce the amount of excess MRP 
set aside, the Council changed its policy for supported capital expenditure in 
2015/16. The method used is similar to other local authorities and sets aside a fixed 
sum of MRP each year. For Gloucestershire the fixed sum was set at £8.2m. 

Following further review of the Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential 
Indicators, and discussions with the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and 
external auditor (Grant Thornton) the MRP charge was further reduced during 
2017/18 for existing debt to £6.2 million.  This change still allows for a prudent 
provision for the repayment of existing debt, and ensures that Prudential Indicators 
are not breeched.

The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme will form the 
basis of calculating an annual MRP provision  for any new borrowing requirement 
going forward.  For any commercial related investments a business case review will 
be carried out and an appropriate provision for the repayment of any debt taken, set 
aside.

MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the IFRS-
based Code of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the associated 
deferred liability. 

Page 83



Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

Underlying Assumptions:

 The medium-term global economic outlook has improved with the distribution of 
vaccines, but the recent upsurge in coronavirus cases has worsened economic 
prospects over the short term.

 Restrictive measures and further lockdowns are likely to continue in the UK and 
Europe until the majority of the population is vaccinated by the second half of 2021. 
The recovery period will be strong thereafter, but potentially longer than previously 
envisaged.

 Signs of a slowing UK economic recovery were already evident in UK monthly 
GDP and PMI data, even before the second lockdown and Tier 4 restrictions. 
Employment is falling despite an extension to support packages.

 The need to support economic recoveries and use up spare capacity will result in 
central banks maintaining low interest rates for the medium term. 

 Brexit will weigh on UK activity. The combined effect of Brexit and the after-effects 
of the pandemic will dampen growth relative to peers, maintain spare capacity and 
limit domestically generated inflation. The Bank of England will therefore maintain 
loose monetary conditions for the foreseeable future.

 Longer-term yields will also remain depressed, anchored by low central bank policy 
rates, expectations for potentially even lower rates and insipid longer-term inflation 

Page 84



expectations. There is a chance yields may follow a slightly different path in the 
medium term, depending on investor perceptions of growth and inflation, or the 
deployment of vaccines.

Forecast: 
 Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to remain at the current 0.10% level. 

 The central case for Bank Rate is no change, but further cuts to zero, or perhaps 
even into negative territory, cannot be completely ruled out, especially with likely 
emergency action in response to a no-deal Brexit.

 Gilt yields will remain low in the medium term. Shorter term gilt yields are currently 
negative and will remain around zero or below until either the Bank expressly rules 
out negative Bank Rate or growth/inflation prospects improve.

 Downside risks remain in the near term, as the government continues to react to 
the escalation in infection rates and the Brexit transition period comes to an end.

Page 85



Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD 

Portfolio 
29-Oct-20

Average 
Rate

31-Mar-21 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-24

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m % £m £m £m £m

External Borrowing
Fixed Rate – PWLB 220.773 4.89 220.773 210.828 198.728 190.728
Fixed Rate – Market 33.050 4.24 33.050 33.050 33.050 33.050
Variable Rate – PWLB 0.000 0.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Variable Rate – Market 8.000 5.00 8.000 8.000 8.000 8.000
Total External Borrowings 261.823 4.79 261.823 251.878 239.778 231.778
Other long-term liabilities (PFI) 97.070 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157
Total External Debt 358.893 358.893 347.770 334.203 324.935
Treasury Investments:
Managed in house

- Short term deposits and monies 
on call and Money Market Funds 235.968 0.56 198.968 160.950 132.550 113.350

- Long Term investments (over 12 
months)

56.300 1.29 88.300 88.300 88.300 88.300

Managed externally / Strategic 
Funds 75.000 4.00 75.000 75.000 75.000 75.000

Total Investments 367.268 1.37 362.268 324.250 295.850 276.650

Net  (Borrowing) / Investment 
Position 8.375 3.375 (23.520) (38.353) (48.285)

Page 86



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 22nd January 2021 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2020/21

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation 
to the 2020/21 Internal Audit Plan and provide a progress report in 
relation to those audits undertaken up to  December 2020.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. Notes the amendments to and progress against the current 
2020/21 Internal Audit Plan; 

2. Requests senior management attendance at the next meeting of 
the Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in 
relation to the recommendations made in the Direct Payments 
(Children’s) internal audit and the Client Affairs (Adults) internal 
audit; and 

3. Notes the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of 
the internal audit activity completed to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Stephanie Payne – Group Manager, Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) 
(Deputy Chief Internal Auditor)
Tel: 01452 328899
Stephanie.payne@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Paul Blacker - Director of Finance 
Tel: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Stephanie.payne@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Progress report on

2020-2021
Internal Audit Activity

Page 89



Appendix 1

2

(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
a relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance”. 

The Internal Audit Service is provided by Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) under a Shared 
Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, Stroud District Council and 
Gloucester City Council and carries out the work required to satisfy this legislative 
requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to management and to this Committee.

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards 2017 (PSIAS) as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The standards 
define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and undertake its 
functions. The Shared Service Internal Audit function is conducted in conformance with the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

There is a requirement under the PSIAS i.e. Standard Ref ‘1312 External Assessments’ for 
internal audit to have an external quality assessment (EQA) which must be conducted at 
least once every five years by a qualified, independent assessor or assessment team from 
outside the organisation. The latest review was undertaken during May 2020 by the 
Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA).  

The EQA assessment concluded that:

“We are pleased to report that the ARA team meet each of the 64 Standards, as well as the 
Definition, Core Principles and the Code of Ethics, which form the mandatory elements of 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the Institute of Internal Auditors’ 
International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF), the globally recognised standard for 
quality in Internal Auditing. There are no formal recommendations made for improvement.”

“In conclusion, this is an excellent result and the Chief Internal Auditor and the ARA team as 
a whole should be justifiably proud of their service, its approach, working practices and how 
key stakeholders’ value it. 

It is therefore appropriate for the function to say in reports and other literature ‘Conducted in 
Conformance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing’.”

The full EQA report was provided to Audit and Governance Committee virtually in July 2020 
and can be accessed here.  

Page 90

https://www.stroud.gov.uk/media/1286800/item-6-appendix-a-eqa-outcome-final-report.pdf


Appendix 1

3

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advising the 
organisation that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which also 
provide assurance and these are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the standards is that the Chief Internal Auditor should 
provide progress reports on internal audit activity to those charged with governance. This 
report summarises:

 The progress against the 2020/21 Revised Internal Audit Plan, including the 
assurance opinions on the effectiveness of risk management and control processes;

 The outcomes of the 2020/21 Internal Audit activity concluded between October 
2020 and December  2020; and

 Special investigations/counter fraud activity.

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Services (GFRS) Action Plan Follow Up Internal Audit 
activity is separately reported to Audit and Governance Committee, with the second 
progress report being presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on 22nd January 
2021. 

(4) Progress against the 2020/21 Revised Internal Audit Plan, including the 
assurance opinions on risk and control

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2020/21 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during the financial year to date, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on 
the effectiveness of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to 
manage those risks and the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been 
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are shown below. 

Page 91



Appendix 1

4

Assurance 
Levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks relating 
to the area under review and the impact that 
these may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and 
staff.  All key risks are accurately reported 
and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – 
Robust framework of 
controls ensures that there 
is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the risks 
relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff, however 
some key risks are not being accurately 
reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – 
Sufficient framework of 
key controls for objectives 
to be achieved but, control 
framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied but 
with some lapses

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurate and regular 
reporting and monitoring of the key risks 
in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the service area 
has not demonstrated a satisfactory 
awareness of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these 
may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners 
and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk 
of objectives not being 
achieved due to the 
absence of key internal 
controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in 
the application of 
control

Page 92



Appendix 1

5

(4a) Summary of Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The pie charts provided below show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited in relation to 
the 2020/21 audit activity undertaken up to December 2020.

It is noted that the split assurance control opinion (Limited/Satisfactory) on Client Affairs 
reported to Committee in January 2021 has been reflected in the satisfactory segment only 
of the control assurance pie chart. 

Satisfactory
 29%

Substantial
 64%

Limited
 7%

Risk Assurance

Page 93



Appendix 1

6

The pie chart outcomes for 2020/21 audit activity undertaken to December 2020 compare to 
last year’s performance (as reported in the Internal Audit Annual Report 2019/20) as follows:

 2019/20 control assurance opinion outcomes: substantial 2%; satisfactory 70%; and 
limited 28%; and

 2019/20 risk assurance opinion outcomes: substantial 20%; satisfactory 70%; and 
limited 10%.  

(4b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions 

Where audit activity records that a limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

(4c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During the period October 2020 to December 2020, one limited assurance opinion on control 
has been provided on completed audits from the Revised Internal Audit Plan 2020/21. This 
relates to Direct Payments (Children’s).

In addition, one partial limited assurance opinion was provided on some areas of risk within 
the Client Affairs internal audit.

It is important to note that whilst a limited assurance opinion has been provided on the above 
areas, management have responded positively to the recommendations made and actions 
are being taken to address them.

In addition, where a limited assurance opinion is given, a follow up audit is undertaken to 
provide assurance that the agreed actions have been implemented by management. 

(4d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity records that a satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided, where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in 
control, the Committee can take assurance that improvement actions have been agreed with 
management to address these. 

(4e) Internal Audit Recommendations

During the period October 2020 to December 2020 Internal Audit made, in total, 30 
recommendations to improve the control environment, 11 of these being high priority 
recommendations (100% of these being accepted by management) and 19 being medium 
priority recommendations (100% accepted by management).  

The Committee can take assurance that all high priority recommendations will remain under 
review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular management updates, until the required action 
has been fully completed. 

Page 94



Appendix 1

7

(4f) Risk Assurance Opinions

During the period October 2020 to December 2020, one limited assurance opinion on risk 
has been provided on completed audits from the Internal Audit Plan. This relates to Direct 
Payments (Children’s).

Where a limited assurance opinion is given, the Council’s Senior Risk Management Advisor 
is provided with the Internal Audit report(s) to enable the prioritisation of risk management 
support. 

(4g) Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 Refresh (Covid 19)

Covid 19 has placed significant pressures on Council services and has impacted (and 
continues to impact) the Council’s priorities, objectives and risk environment. 

Due to this changing position and to ensure that the Risk Based Internal Audit Plan meets 
the assurance needs of the Council, the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 was reviewed and 
refreshed in consultation with Executive Directors / Directors (with input from Heads of 
Service and Service Managers). This included consideration of newly identified activities, 
current activities that should be prioritised within 2020/21 and activity deferrals/cancellations 
(due to risk). 

The revised Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 was presented to Audit and Governance Committee 
on 30th October 2020 and approved. 

The revised document included the new activities completed by ARA since the outcome of 
the pandemic. For example and as reflected within the Internal Audit Progress Report, within 
2020/21 ARA:

 Is providing consultancy support (from both our internal audit and counter fraud 
teams) regards Supplier Relief and Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) Supplier 
Payments;

 Supports the Council's Covid 19 volunteering effort (e.g. food packages for shielding 
individuals within the County and the County Covid 19 mass testing pilot) with input 
from a number of ARA team members; 

 Continues to work with Strategic Finance to review/provide assurance regards 
Premiums for Care Providers; 

 Is providing counter fraud team support and action in regard to Covid 19 relevant 
irregularities (see report section below ‘Summary of Special Investigations/Counter 
Fraud Activities’); and

 Has completed Internal Audit review of the Lost Sales, Fees and Charges Grant 
(Covid 19) claim 1 and is progressing review of the second grant return. 

Page 95



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

8

Completed 2020/21 Internal Audit Activity for the period October 2020 to 
December 2020

Summary of Limited Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Children’s Services

Audit Activity: Direct Payments

Background
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is committed to promoting individual wellbeing and to 
supporting independence through preventing, reducing or delaying the need for care and 
support. Direct Payments are the Government’s and GCC’s preferred mechanism for 
personalised care and support as they promote Service User independence, choice and 
control over how their needs are met.

A Direct Payment is a payment of money from the local authority to parents/carers of young 
people needing care and support so that services and/or equipment can be purchased to 
meet assessed needs. This allows parents/carers and young people greater choice and 
flexibility in obtaining individual services that will meet their needs. The 2020/21 budget for 
Direct Support Payments which is held by Disabled Children and Young People is £724,000.

Children’s Services within GCC has adopted the use of Payment Card Accounts provided by 
Prepaid Financial Services Limited (PFS) and started issuing the cards in September 2018. 
Eligible Service Users will be set up with a Payment Card Account and provided with a card 
that will be used in a similar way to a banking debit card. The Payment Card Account is 
managed by the parents/carers with oversight by Children and Young People’s (CYP) 
Business Support and Care Services Finance (CSF).

Scope
The objectives of the audit were to determine whether there were effective arrangements in 
place for the:

 Monitoring of Direct Payments currently being made to parents/carers to ensure they 
are being effectively used to provide the agreed support to meet the assessed needs; 
and

 Administration of Payment Card Accounts.

The audit reviewed Direct Payments arranged by Disabled Children and Young People’s 
Service (DCYPS).

Risk Assurance – Limited

Control Assurance – Limited

Key Findings

Page 96



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

9

Government regulations and GCC’s own internal procedures set out the requirements for the 
monitoring of Direct Payments where GCC has set a higher level of frequency for 
monitoring.  Internal Audit was informed that Direct Payments are not monitored within the 
first three months of being made in line with GCC’s internal procedures. CSF was unaware 
of this requirement.

There are two types of Direct Payment:

 One-off payments to a family to provide services such as occasional respite care; 
and

 Ongoing payments to provide ongoing support such as a Personal Assistant.

There is a Service Level Agreement in place to clarify the roles and responsibilities of CSF in 
relation to Direct Payments. In addition there is a Direct Payment flowchart that outlines 
roles for the set up and monitoring of Direct Payments across the DCYPS, CSF and the 
Business Service Centre. 

Internal Audit found that the registering of DCYPS Service Users for a Payment Card 
Account was strong as once the DCYPS Administration Team receives the completed and 
signed paperwork they verify against the minutes of the DCYPS Management Panel 
decisions. Where appropriate they then request a Payment Card Account from PFS. This 
information is then passed to CSF who arrange for either the one-off payment or the first four 
week payment of an ongoing payment to be made to the family/carer. Once the family has 
provided CSF with either a timesheet or invoice that shows agreed support has been 
received and paid for, CSF arrange for the ongoing payments to be triggered.

Although the above process is robust with adequate separation of duties, Internal Audit 
found that the process is not always followed and CSF were unaware of several Direct 
Payment Service Users.

CSF has monitored ongoing Direct Payments since 2007 although only took over 
responsibility for monitoring Payment Card Accounts from DCYPS Administration in July 
2020.  CSF does not currently monitor one-off Direct Payments and Internal Audit was 
unable to locate evidence that these payments are reviewed elsewhere to ensure they are 
spent as agreed.

Internal Audit reviewed all current, open Payment Card Accounts (145) and found eight 
where one-off payments were made between three and 11 months previously and  where 
there was still an unused balance on the Payment Card Account (the total unspent balance 
for these cards was £3,984.87).

CSF uses a ‘CWD Monitoring Spreadsheet’ to schedule and document ongoing Direct 
Payment reviews. When CSF review a Direct Payment they check for over or under spend 
by the family/carer as well as any unusual spend; however the spend is not compared with 
the agreed services to meet the Service User’s assessed needs as documented in the Direct 
Payment Agreement.

Page 97



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

10

As at the date of the audit the spreadsheet contained 190 DCYPS Service Users with a 
Direct Payment, of which:

 118 (62%) were noted as having a current open Payment Card Account; and

 99 (52%) were due a review but the review had not been fully completed. Of the 99, 
CSF had identified issues with 36 (36%), such as under/over spend, notified the 
DCYPS mailbox (between one and nine months previously) requesting advice but 
had not received a reply which would allow the review to be completed.

Internal Audit extracted from the Council’s Financial System (SAP) all DCYPS Direct 
Payments and sampled 15 ongoing Direct Payments to verify that annual monitoring had 
taken place, and found:

 All 15 (100%) sampled Direct Payments had a signed Direct Payment Agreement on 
file;

 Two of the 15 (13%) had been reviewed in the last 12 months;

 Nine of the 15 (60%) had not had a review in the last 12 months, of which:

o Four were missing from the ‘CWD Monitoring Spreadsheet’. Internal Audit 
informed CSF of the missing Service Users and the team has now scheduled 
reviews.  At the time of the audit CSF were unable to confirm why the Service 
Users were not included on the spreadsheet.; and

o Five had not been monitored at all as they had a Payment Card Account and the 
review date was prior to CSF taking responsibility for monitoring Payment Card 
Accounts.

 Three of the 15 (20%) had a review started however CSF had identified issues with 
the Direct Payment balance, notified the DCYPS and were awaiting advice on how to 
progress. The DCYPS had been contacted between three and 12 months previously 
for advice and CSF had not yet received replies; and

 One of the 15 (7%) had not had the ongoing payments triggered yet as the family 
had not returned an invoice to demonstrate that the initial payment had been spent 
appropriately. CSF do not currently monitor until ongoing payments have been set 
up.

Prior to CSF taking responsibility for monitoring Payment Card Accounts and being granted 
access to the PFS System in July 2020, it was the responsibility of the DCYPS 
Administration Team. Internal Audit was informed by the Business Senior Administrator 
(DCYPS) that the required annual monitoring reviews did not take place.

The Business Senior Administrator provided Internal Audit with an extract from the PFS 
System of all Payment Card Accounts, including closed and temporary blocked accounts. 
Internal Audit analysed the 233 accounts and found that improved monitoring would further 
strengthen current processes for administering the accounts.

Page 98



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

11

Senior Management do not receive regular formal reports that give them oversight of the 
number of DCYPS Service Users with a Direct Payment, how many have received a review 
and how much funding remains unspent on the Payment Card Accounts and/or has been 
reclaimed by the Council.  This second line of defence should be strengthened.

Conclusion
The current monitoring of DCYPS Direct Payments does not meet the requirements of 
Government regulations and GCC internal procedures, primarily:

 Ongoing Direct Payments are not formally reviewed within the first three months 
(GCC requirement); 

 One-off Direct Payment are not reviewed at all; and

 Annual Reviews do not take place consistently (Government requirement).

Internal Audit found that when DCYPS Direct Payments are reviewed and areas of concern 
are raised by CSF with DCYPS Social Workers or Lead Professionals, responses are not 
always received in a timely manner. This means that inappropriate spend by families could 
continue or the needs of the child are not met. 

Since July 2020 CSF has taken over responsibility for monitoring Direct Payments that have 
Payment Card Accounts. Systems and controls that have been developed for undertaking 
this work should improve the monitoring and administration of Payment Card Accounts but 
good communication between CSF and DCYPS is essential.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendations raised (which are in line 
with the conclusion observation themes).

Service Area: Adult Services

Audit Activity: Client Affairs

Background
Every day, we make decisions about our lives. Our ability to make decisions is called mental 
capacity. When a person lacks mental capacity to manage their finances or assets and there 
is no other suitable individual to do so on their behalf, the council’s Client Affairs team (CAT) 
is able to apply to the Department for Works and Pensions to act as their benefit Appointee, 
and to the Court of Protection to act as their Deputy for property and financial affairs. This 
duty requires the team to undertake a breadth of administrative tasks / duties.

Prepaid Cards

Page 99



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

12

Prepaid Financial Services (PFS) offers a card account facility to the council. In January 
2020 the CAT adopted the use of these as a method to distribute an individual’s personal 
spending money provided that the individual is capable of managing their own finances 
using a card authorised by a personal identification number (PIN). 

If an individual is unable to manage the use of a card and PIN, where appropriate, a card 
can be issued to a third party (such as a carer) in order to gain access to the individual’s 
personal spending money on their behalf.

As at August 2020, the CAT manage the financial and property affairs of circa 550 
individuals, of these circa 40 have been issued with a Prepaid Card.

Motability Vehicles
A person who is eligible to receive a Disability Living Allowance / Personal Independence 
Payment mobility, at the highest rate, can forfeit payment of the benefit and instead have the 
use of a Motability vehicle.

As at August 2020, circa 18 individuals have opted for the use of a Motability vehicle.

It is acknowledged that the service is in the process of digitising its processes and some 
recent process changes have been made due to the changed way of working brought about 
by the pandemic.

Scope
To review the effectiveness of the control environment in relation to the:

 Risk management arrangements to ensure these are in compliance with the council’s 
Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy 2018-2021;

 Management and monitoring of Prepaid Cards; and

 Administrative arrangements for an individual to have use of a Motability vehicle that 
may also be driven by a third party, i.e. a carer.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory (Prepaid Cards) / Limited (Vehicles)

Key Findings

Risk Management
The service’s risk management arrangements should be further developed to ensure these 
are aligned to the council’s Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy 2018-2021.

Prepaid Cards
The introduction of Prepaid Cards has been a positive initiative for both the service and for 
individuals. 

Page 100



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

13

For the service, it offers resource efficiencies and oversight of access to personal monies. 
Individuals who are assessed as being able to manage the use of a Prepaid Card benefit 
from direct access to managed amounts of personal spending monies, promoting an 
element of greater independence for the individual.

Policy and procedural guidance is in place and is subject to periodic reviews / refresh. These 
documents are accessible to team members.

The findings emanating from the review of this area has highlighted opportunities for the 
introduction of a number of enhancements to the current documented procedures in order to 
provide more detailed guidance for staff and further strengthen the control environment for 
administering Prepaid Cards. Including but not exclusive to the following:

 Requests / approval for a Prepaid Card to be set up;

 Issue of the Prepaid Card;

 Replacement / cancellation / closure; 

 Authorisation of Standing Orders and BACS payments;

 Separation of duties within the administration and monitoring functions; and

 Monitoring arrangements of card usage and status.

Four cases were selected for audit testing, the results confirmed compliance overall with the 
agreed procedures for account set up; receipt of card; identity checks, and Standing Orders 
and BACS transactions that had been processed during the period May to September 2020 
for the respective sample of individuals.

Motability Vehicles
A policy is in place and is subject to periodic review. This is accessible to view via the 
council’s website and intranet. 

Procedural guidance is also in place and is accessible to staff via the shared folder. The 
current guidance is brief and would benefit from a review and refresh to include the 
proposed enhancements to the current control environment for administering Motability 
leases as a result of the findings emanating from this review, including:

 Standardisation of prime records to be viewed and additional verification checks that 
are required in order to complete driver checks;

 Minimum requirements to be stated for periodic review of the stated prime records 
and re-performance of driver verification checks;

 Development of declaration forms to be utilised to collect key information required to 
support the process for approval of a permitted driver; and the permitted driver’s 
acknowledgement / agreement of the insurance policy terms and conditions, and 
their responsibilities;

Page 101



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

14

 Document retention requirements to be considered and referenced within the 
guidance to aid future compliance with the General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR); and

 Enhancements to the current annual review template in relation to the re-
performance of driver checks is required to aid the assurance process that details of 
nominated drivers are confirmed and remain up-to-date, and continue to meet the 
pre-requisite checks of an approved permitted driver.

Four cases were selected for audit testing, the results identified: 

 Motability Agreement: For all four cases an agreement is in place and a copy is held 
on the service’s Money and Property Management System (CASPAR);

 Insurance Certificate: For all four cases an insurance certificate for the duration of the 
lease is in place and a copy is held on CASPAR;

 Full and valid UK or EU licence and declaration of any accidents / losses / motoring 
convictions, fixed penalty notices or any licence endorsements in the last five years, 
or which are currently pending:

o For all four cases, driver checks in the form of a full and valid UK or EU driving 
licence were undertaken however there is an inconsistent approach to the 
validation process with a mix of prime records being used in the form of either 
card only, paper only, card and paper (note: the paper counterpart to the 
photocard driving licence was abolished on 8th June 2015) and use of the 
GOV.UK website;

o There is also an inconsistent approach to the validation process for the 
declaration of any accidents / losses / motoring convictions, fixed penalty notices 
or any licence endorsements in the last five years, or which are currently pending:

 For one of the four cases, whilst this information had been requested, as at 
October 20 this information has not been received / verified since inception of 
the agreement, however a Motability 2 letter has been issued confirming that 
the nominated individuals are council approved permitted drivers;

 For one of the four cases, the case worker advised that they were not aware 
of any accidents / losses/ motoring convictions, fixed penalty notices or any 
licence endorsements in the last five years, or which are currently pending but 
that they rely on the driver to inform them.

 It was also noted that in two instances a photocopy of the driver licence had been 
retained on the shared folder (contravention of GDPR).

Annual Review:
All four individuals had received an annual review, these were completed during the period 
December 2019 to July 2020.

Page 102



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

15

However there is an inconsistent approach to the driver verification check undertaken at this 
time, therefore assurance that the pre-requisite permitted driver checks remain is limited.

Conclusion
The service needs to further develop their risk management arrangements to ensure that 
these are in compliance with the council’s Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy 
2018-2021. Internal Audit has made one medium recommendation to address the identified 
improvement area.

The current control framework for the management and monitoring of Prepaid Cards could 
be further strengthened. One high priority recommendation has been made to promote 
separation of duties within the administration and monitoring functions; and three medium 
priority recommendations to promote greater transparency over the initial request / approval 
for a Prepaid Card, authorisation process for financial transactions, monitoring usage and 
status of Prepaid Cards, and the requirement for more detailed and up-to-date guidance.

Similarly, the control framework for administering Motability vehicles could be further 
strengthened. Six high priority recommendations have been made to:

 Ensure that procedural guidance is sufficiently detailed and refreshed to include the 
proposed agreed internal control changes as detailed within the management report;

 Permitted drivers are informed of and acknowledge the conditions of the respective 
insurance policy and understand the role of the permitted driver and known liabilities;

 Promote greater assurance that pre-requisite driver checks are more robust, 
verifications checks are applied consistently, and are re-performed on a periodic 
basis; and

 Ensure compliance with GDPR requirements.

In light of the above:

 Satisfactory assurance can be provided that the risk identification arrangements 
operating within the area reviewed are operating as intended; and

 Satisfactory assurance can also be provided that these risks which are considered to 
be material to the achievement of the services objectives for this area under review 
are adequately managed and controlled for Prepaid Cards however, only limited 
assurance can be provided for Motability vehicles.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendations made.

Page 103



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

16

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Corporate Resources

Audit Activity: Disposals from the public sector estate (land and buildings)

Background
Asset disposal categories can include (but are not exclusive to) ICT, land, buildings/ 
property, and vehicle disposal. Internal audit review of disposal of assets is delivered via a 
cyclical audit review programme. This review considered the corporate disposal of land and 
buildings which are managed by Asset Management and Property Services (AMPS). 

When land or assets are no longer required, they can be sold and proceeds spent on capital 
expenditure or to repay debt. Proceeds can also currently be spent on transformation 
projects. Phases 1 and 2 of the Meeting the Challenge Programme generated £105m from 
the disposal of surplus assets. The capital receipts target for phase 3, April 2018 to March 
2021 is £33m. It was reported to Cabinet in March 2020 that sales from April 2018 to date 
achieved receipts of £11,671,295 of which £7.175m related to shortfall in phase 2 receipts.

Scope
The audit reviewed the effectiveness of the asset disposal governance arrangements, 
including the decision making processes for the disposal and / or transfer of the Council’s 
surplus property taking into account the requirements of the Council’s Policy for the Disposal 
of Property, the Corporate Asset Management Plan 2019-24 and other relevant policies. 
This included review of the following:

 Identification of surplus properties and subsequent authorisation of disposal;

 Ensuring that value for money is achieved in the method of sale of property and any 
price set;

 Ensuring compliance with section 123 (2A) Local Government Act;

 Ensuring that all sale proceeds are received and banked in a timely manner; and

 Ensuring that disposals are correctly recorded in the Council’s asset register.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
There is a Policy for the Disposal of Property which was last updated in 2016. This policy 
does not cover the requirement to obtain approval from the Secretary of State for the sale of 
school land or buildings or the requirement under Section 123 (2A) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to advertise the sale of open land.

Page 104



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

17

Cabinet approved a Strategic Estate Plan for rationalisation of rural estate holdings to 
achieve in the order of £60m capital receipts in April 2016. 

A sample of three sales was examined in depth. This showed that procedures in the Policy 
for the Disposal of Property had been followed:

 Land or properties that are no longer of use to the Council are referred to AMPS. Full 
reports are presented to the Property Board and agreement for disposal granted, 
including method of disposal.

 Sales are agreed by Cabinet, however, it was noted that sales can take a number of 
years to complete but the date that the sale has been agreed by Cabinet is not 
included within the six monthly updates.

 Independent valuations are obtained where land is tenanted and the tenant has 
expressed an interest in purchasing the land. 

 E-mails sighted from agents indicated that highest offers had been accepted.

 Income was recorded within the accounts within a few days of a sale.

 An e-mail confirming the disposal was sent to Strategic Finance and the asset 
register working papers had been correctly updated. 

Although it is not a requirement of the policy, obtaining quotes from agents for the sale of the 
land or property could only be fully demonstrated for one sale from the sample of three.

Where the ‘undervalue’ in the sale of land or property is estimated to be more than £250,000 
or 20% of its market value this should be approved by Cabinet. None of the sales within the 
sample fell into this category, however, land was recently transferred to Stroud Valleys 
Canal Company for £1. Approval had been given by Cabinet in 2004 to transfer various 
parcels of land to British Waterways, now superseded by various charities, one of which is 
Stroud Valleys Canal Company.

Under section 123 (2A) Local Government Act where open land is to be disposed of the 
Council is required to publish a notice in a local newspaper. None of the sales in the 
selected sample fell in to this category. An e-mail confirming that this had been completed 
was sighted for sale of land in Moreton-in-Marsh.

Conclusion
 Land and property is agreed as surplus by the Property Board and disposal is then 

agreed by Cabinet. 

 The sample of sales examined during the audit review had been through agents, 
quotes had only been obtained from agents for one of the three sales. 

 E-mail evidence indicated that the best offers had been accepted.

Page 105



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

18

 Income is received in a timely manner.

 Information is sent from AMPS to Strategic Finance to ensure that disposals are 
correctly recorded in the Council’s asset register.

Three recommendations have been made to update the Policy for the Disposal of Property 
to ensure that legal requirements are followed, to add the date of Cabinet approval to enable 
members to question delay in the disposal of land or property and to ensure that the Council 
receives value for money in the choice of agent.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendations made.

Service Area: Corporate Resources

Audit Activity: Database Administration and Security (Oracle – SQL) - Limited 
Assurance Follow Up

Background
Effective database administration and security is critical to protecting key information assets 
and the data they contain, ensuring that information assets are appropriately secured and for 
preventing unauthorised access to or the loss of critical information assets.

The original Database Administration and Security (Oracle - SQL) internal audit was 
completed in 2016/17 and the final report issued on 14th September 2017.  The audit 
resulted in a limited assurance opinion for risk identification maturity and a limited assurance 
opinion for control environment.  Fourteen audit recommendations were raised (five High 
and nine Medium priority) and accepted by management.  

Scope
The Database Administration and Security (Oracle - SQL) follow up review is to provide 
assurance that the agreed actions from the 2016/17 Database Administration and Security 
(Oracle - SQL) internal audit have been appropriately implemented and that the original 
levels of assurance can be revised and reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. 
Where the original recommendations were found to be not/partially implemented, Internal 
Audit evaluated the residual risk and made recommendations to mitigate that risk where 
required.

Audit follow up was completed in June 2020 and the initial audit findings were reported in 
draft to management in July 2020. Additional service update and supporting audit trail was 
then required to conclude the audit and ARA remained active in key contact communication 
to support this. Final audit trail and update was obtained in December 2020.

Page 106



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

19

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
Audit testing identified that extensive work had been undertaken to address the findings from 
the original internal audit report. Discussion with relevant officers and review of Active 
Directory and database settings and content as at June 2020 confirmed that:

 Access to the Database Administrator (DBA) Role is restricted to valid and 
authorised Oracle administrative accounts;

 All Oracle administrators are assigned valid and uniquely identifiable database 
accounts;

 The documented Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) Password Policy had been 
approved and implemented following the original audit;

 Password Ageing and Password History settings had been invoked on Oracle 
database accounts;

 Restrictions are invoked for failed login attempts across GCC Oracle databases;

 The Password Verify Function is enabled on all Oracle production databases to 
enforce password complexity and minimum password length;

 All production database servers are subject to regular internal vulnerability scanning;

 Auditing is enabled on all GCC business critical Oracle database platforms;

 A temporary Password Management system has been deployed to centrally capture 
and administer all database super user accounts and passwords with a more 
permanent solution planned;

 Password security and account lockout security settings have been invoked on all 
live Standard Query language (SQL) Server databases;

 Guest accounts have been disabled on all SQL Server databases; and

 All GCC SQL Server databases reside on vendor supported software.

 The Nessus scanning tool has been implemented across all GCC servers and the 
Oracle Database Security Assessment Tool has been implemented on Oracle 
databases to scan for vulnerabilities.

It is noted that at the point of audit follow up, the Global Information System (GIS) database 
was in the process of being replaced. The specification of the replacement GIS database 
has been set to meet the original audit recommendation requirements. Due to this position, 
the relevant recommendations have not been marked as outstanding and an ICT review of 
the replacement GIS system will be proposed for the 2021/22 internal audit plan.

Page 107



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

20

The above actions have led to the following confirmed position against the original audit 
report recommendations raised:

Position at June 2020 Internal Audit Follow UpOriginal 
Recommendation 
Priority

Original 
Recommendations 
Raised Implemented Partially 

Implemented
Not 
Implemented

High Priority Five Five - -

Medium Priority Nine Seven Two -

The position of the two partially implemented recommendations is as follows:

 Oracle access rights were confirmed as reviewed at the time of the original audit for 
relevant databases, however the number of Eric (the Council’s Adult Social Care 
database) Oracle accounts that have not been used since 2017 would indicate that 
the Oracle access rights had not be reviewed since. A further recommendation has 
been made that Oracle access rights are regularly reviewed.

 A temporary solution has been implemented relating to the deployment of a 
Password Management system to centrally capture and administer all database 
super user accounts and passwords, whilst a more permanent solution was identified 
to address the recommendation. A more permanent solution has now been identified 
and a further recommendation relating to implementing this solution has been made.

Three further new Medium priority audit recommendations have been raised to support 
strengthening of the current Database Administration and Security (Oracle - SQL) control 
environment, relating to:

 Disabling the Oracle SYS and SYSTEM DBA accounts, to reduce the risk of 
unauthorised access and/or disclosure of sensitive customer data; 

 Evidenced ongoing review of the Council Password Policy; and

 Increasing the length of time that the audit log information for the Capita One 
database is retained for to enable the possibility of being able to undertake a forensic 
investigation in the event of a data breach.

Conclusion
The 2016/17 Database Administration and Security (Oracle-SQL) internal audit report made 
a total of fourteen audit recommendations (five High priority and nine Medium priority). Audit 
follow up review and testing has confirmed that twelve recommendations (five High priority 
and seven Medium priority) have been fully implemented and that the two remaining Medium 
priority recommendations have been partially implemented. This position has significantly 
reduced the risks identified within the original review, although some residual risk will remain 
until the final two recommendations have been fully implemented.

Page 108



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

21

Three additional Medium priority recommendations have been made to support further 
improvement of the control environment.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendation made within the report.

Service Area: Children’s Services

Audit Activity: Health Assessments

Background
The corporate parenting responsibilities of local authorities include having a duty under 
section 22(3)(a) of the Children Act 1989 to safeguard and promote the welfare of the 
children they look after, including eligible children and those placed for adoption, regardless 
of whether they are placed in or out of authority or the type of placement. This includes the 
promotion of the child’s physical, emotional and mental health and acting on any early signs 
of health issues. 

The local authority that looks after the child must arrange for them to have a health 
assessment as required by The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) 
Regulations 2010. The Initial Health Assessment (IHA) must be done by a registered 
medical practitioner and completed within 20 working days of the child or young person 
coming into care. IHAs are undertaken by a contracted assessment provider on behalf of 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC).

Scope
This audit reviewed the effectiveness of the control and monitoring framework in place to 
provide assurance to management that IHAs are completed and recorded in line with 
statutory requirements for children coming into care for the first time.

Risk Assurance – Substantial 

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings

Process
GCC has a comprehensive guide for practitioners to support all front line practitioners and 
managers within Gloucestershire Children’s Services in promoting the health and well-being 
of children in care, specifically in relation to Initial and Review Health Assessments. Internal 
Audit reviewed the procedure notes and confirmed that it contained process notes for the 
key elements surrounding the completion of an IHA as suggested by the statutory guidance.

Page 109



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

22

Prior to the start of the audit, Children’s Services undertook a trial process within the 
Gloucester locality for the completion of IHAs to reduce the time taken to book an IHA with 
the contracted health assessment provider. This has resulted in a streamlined process for 
the completion of IHAs and an increase of IHAs completed within the 20 working day 
deadline from 33% in September 2019 to 79% in May 2020 within the Gloucester Locality. 
The updated process is to be rolled out to all localities in stages, with supporting guidance 
updated to reflect this.

The statutory guidance requires local authorities to ensure that, as a minimum, the child’s 
main carer completes the carer’s two-page version of the Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaire (SDQ) for the child in time to inform his or her health assessment. Whilst 
processes are in place for this to be completed, prior to the start of the audit, it had been 
identified by the service area that the current controls and monitoring arrangements were not 
operating as intended and therefore SDQs had not been completed as required.

To improve the current process for the completion of SDQs, flowcharts and web monitoring 
reports have been drafted and are awaiting trial, to ensure they are appropriate to effectively 
complete and record the SDQ by the child or young person main carer as a minimum.  An 
escalation process is also being implemented, managed by the Team Administrators, to 
ensure completion in line with statutory requirements.

From June 2020 a checklist has also been introduced into the process to aid completion of 
all the statutory requirements when a child enters care including progressing the IHA. The 
checklists are to be signed by the Head of Service five working days post completion of the 
IHA confirming completion of the case in respect of the IHA process.

Sample Testing
Internal Audit selected 13 CYP out of 332 children requiring an IHA between July 2019 and 
May 2020 to ensure that the process as intended had been completed including ensuring 
appropriate consents had been obtained and recorded within LiquidLogic and that the IHA 
had been fully completed and signed off in a timely manner. Due to the known issues with 
the completion of SDQs this was not tested. It was found that:

 1 CYP no longer required an assessment and therefore no IHA had been completed;

 12 consents to carry out assessment forms had been received by the contracted 
health assessment provider prior to the IHA. All 12 had physical signatures as 
required by the statutory guidance. However, only three out of 12 of these (25%) 
were recorded within LiquidLogic as required by the procedural guidance, with the 
remaining nine held by the contracted assessment provider;

 12 fully completed IHAs where available on LiquidLogic; and

 A signed consent form from those with parental responsibility, providing authority for 
health colleagues to access their medical records could be found in only three out of 
12 applicable cases (25%). The absence of this consent does not prevent the IHA (or 
subsequent Review Health Assessments) from proceeding but health professionals 
cannot access parental medical records without this consent and this may have 

Page 110



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

23

implications in terms of identifying a child’s health needs. The GCC Guidance on the 
completion the consent forms is clear about the need to gain these consenting 
signatures. 

Monitoring Arrangements 
Monitoring arrangements are in place and working effectively for the completion of IHAs via 
a LiquidLogic web report.  A four-day escalation process has been trialled within the 
Gloucester locality which is monitored by the Administration Team to ensure that the 
completion of the necessary paperwork required by the contracted assessment provider is in 
place and does not cause a delay within the process. This process is due to be rolled out to 
the other localities.

From June 2019 to June 2020, significant improvement has been seen in the overall 
completion of required IHAs in accordance with the required 20 working day statutory 
deadline, with an increase from 32% to 75% of IHAs completed. This has also seen the 
number of IHAs completed within the deadline per month at the highest recorded level of 21.

Conclusion
Significant improvements have been made to the IHA process and monitoring arrangements. 
This has seen a substantial improvement in the completion of IHAs in accordance with the 
required 20 working day deadline from June 2019 to the date of the audit with further 
improvements expected with the adoption of the IHA process that was trialled by the 
Gloucester locality.

Prior to the undertaking of the audit, issues with the completion and monitoring of SDQs had 
been identified by the service area. Corrective actions to remedy the concern have been 
drafted, with trialling of the process occurring imminently. Due to this, satisfactory assurance 
has been provided for the control environment excluding the pending implementation of the 
adjusted SDQ process and monitoring procedures by the service area.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendation made by Internal Audit on 
improving monitoring arrangements for the completion of the consent form to access 
parental medical records.

Page 111



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

24

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Corporate Resources

Audit Activity: Breach Reporting

Background
A personal data breach is a breach of security leading to the accidental or unlawful 
destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorised disclosure of, or access to, personal data. This 
includes breaches that are the result of both accidental and deliberate causes.

When a personal data breach has occurred, Gloucestershire County Council (the Council) 
must establish the likelihood and severity of the resulting risk to people’s rights and 
freedoms as defined by the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). If it is likely that 
there will be a high risk or is likely to be a risk to individuals’ rights and freedoms then the 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) must be formally notified.

Information Management Service (IMS) supports the Council on all aspects of information 
management, including governance, security, records and compliance; as well as advice, 
help and support in the event of an information security incident or data breach. 

In the 2019 calendar year there were 854 incidents reported to the IMS of which the ICO 
were made aware of 11 incidents. For the period 1st January 2020 to 30th June 2020 there 
were 524 incidents of which the ICO were made aware of three incidents.

Scope
This audit review sought to determine whether Gloucestershire County Council is in 
compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation and the ICO requirements for 
personal data breach reporting.

The scope for this audit only looked at areas the IMS are responsible for and therefore 
school data breaches were not reviewed.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key Findings
 The Council’s intranet ‘Staffnet’ provides accessible and extensive policies and 

guidance to support staff in the identification, prevention and reporting of personal 
data breaches. Internal Audit have made two recommendations to enhance these 
policies in the areas of informing staff of the progress of incident investigations, and, 
obtaining written confirmation from recipients who have received confidential material 
in error. The Council also uses the MetaCompliance system which monitors when 
staff have read and understood key policies including the Data Protection Policy and 
the Information Security Policy. 

Page 112



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

25

 To ensure consistency and transparency the IMS use an ‘Assessing the Severity of 
an Information Security Breach’ guidance document which ensures that personal 
data breaches are accurately severity risk rated and documented. To determine a 
severity rating the IMS take into account up to 11 factors including the scale of the 
breach and whether the individuals affected are likely to have been placed at risk.

 Severity ratings are defined as:

o Noted: where no breach has occurred or the breach does not meet the threshold 
for reporting to the ICO or other regulators;

o Low: unlikely to be reportable to the ICO or other regulators;

o Moderate: likely to be reportable to the ICO or other regulators;

o High: reportable to the ICO or other regulators; and

o Very High: reportable to the ICO or other regulators.

 Data analysis of personal data breach incidents where the date of incident occurred 
between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020, found that 70% of data breaches were 
given an initial severity rating of ‘Noted’, this number rose to 80% after the IMS had 
investigated. Further data analysis showed there were no occasions of incidents 
initially rated as ‘Noted’ being finally rated as ‘Moderate’ or higher.

 Internal Audit tested 15 personal data breaches whether the incident occurred 
between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020 to verify that the investigations and 
findings met the expectations of the ICO. Internal Audit found that:

o Internal Audit replicated the assessment of the breaches using the ICO self 
assessment tool and found that for all 15 breaches the ICO tool agreed with the 
IMS decision;

o 11 of the 15 sampled personal data breaches had been investigated and not 
reported to the ICO. Internal Audit agree with the finding of the IMS and that that 
they did not need reporting;

o Two of the four personal data breaches reported to the ICO were not reported 
within the expected 72 hours however this was outside the control of IMS; and

o Four of the six personal data breaches with a final severity rating of 
Moderate/High/Very High and not reported to the ICO, the reason for not 
reporting was not documented. Therefore Management have agreed that 
incidents with an initial or final severity rating of Moderate, High or Very High will 
have a fully completed ‘Information Security Breach Initial Report’ saved into the 
incident folder which will include the reasons for not reporting to the ICO.

 From the review of sampled breach incidents Internal Audit finds that the IMS initially 
treat all reports of personal data breaches with equal urgency, however, following 
assessment a significant amount of documentation is obtained for all severity ratings. 

Page 113



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

26

As 80% of cases had a final breach severity rating of ‘Noted’ then this would result in 
a significant amount of IMS time, where in most cases a breach has not occurred.
Therefore, Management have agreed that the process will be reviewed and amended 
for cases that have an initial severity rating of ‘Noted’ to see where further 
efficiencies can be made. Ongoing reviews of the amended process will take place to 
ensure risk mitigation.

 Data Breaches are reported six-monthly to the Information Board as well as the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

 The IMS document and monitor recommendations and actions in a ‘Breach Action 
Plan Tracker’; and the six-monthly report to the Information Board includes a section 
titled ‘What we have done to mitigate the risk of future information security incidents’.

Conclusion
Internal Audit finds that the IMS provide a thorough, supportive role to Council employees to 
facilitate understanding of what is personal data and how it must be protected, as well as 
with the identification and reporting of data breaches when they occur.

The IMS have tools in place to support the ICO requirement for breach detection, 
investigation and internal reporting procedures.

Sample testing of data breaches investigated by the IMS found no discrepancies; and 
although Internal Audit has made four recommendations (as referred to in the Key Findings 
section above) these are to further streamline and strengthen the existing control framework.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendations made.

Service Area: Corporate Resources

Audit Activity: Treasury Management

Background

Treasury Management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive liquid assets 
available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved. Surplus 
funding is invested until required, while a shortage will be met by borrowing in order to avoid 
excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current account. The revenue cash 
surpluses are offset against capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall borrowing. Due to 
decisions taken in the past, the Council (as at November 2019) had £276.6 million borrowing 
at an average interest rate of 4.76% and £346.1 million treasury investments at an average 
rate of 1.27%. 

Page 114



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

27

Scope

As there is significant assurance given by other providers (notably external audit) this audit 
focused solely on the transfer process as transfers are normally in the region of £10m each. 
Thus assurance will be provided that the transfer process is robust with adequate oversight, 
separation of duties and formal sign off. 

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial 

Key Findings

Transfer Process

The process is currently split into three separate roles consisting of a daily dealer, first 
authoriser and second authoriser with roles assigned according to a monthly rota. The 
dealer and first authoriser are chosen from the same pool of staff, some of whom are trained 
in both roles however they cannot perform both roles on the same day. The second 
authoriser is chosen from a different, smaller group of staff with higher level authority.

The purpose of the daily dealer is to input and update the Council’s current financial position.  
This then allows the first authoriser to assess whether any transfers need to be made, taking 
into account income and expenditure as well as any loan repayments and investment 
maturities. The current instruction for the team is that a balance of approximately £50,000 
should be left in the account each night. 

Once an investment need has been established, the dealer updates a series of 
spreadsheets with key required information. The transfer can then be set up for payment on 
the HSBC.net system. 

The first authoriser checks over the information within the spreadsheets and completes the 
first stage of authorisation on the system. The second authoriser is then provided with a 
snapshot of all relevant transfer information for that day and can complete the final stage of 
authorisation. 

Testing

A sample of 44 investments from the period of April 2019 to December 2020 was selected 
for review to confirm whether the Council’s procedures had been complied with. Internal 
Audit performed walkthroughs of the chosen investments and found that: 

 Investment need was in line with the completed cash flow forecast/statement; 

 Supporting audit trail was available to verify the deal for the 24 BACS transfers to a 
call account, money market fund or fixed term deposit; 

 Of the 20 CHAPS transfers tested, all required request forms were recorded on the 
shared drive and 17 approval emails were saved; and

Page 115



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

28

 All transfers were appropriately verified on the online system. 

Overall, the investment transfer process is robust and works sufficiently. There are a number 
of spreadsheets to update which rely solely on the user entering the information correctly. 
This increases the risk in this area however key, useful information is retained and no errors 
were found during testing. 

Segregation of Duties

Prior to April 2020 investment transfer paperwork was produced and signed manually. For all 
samples tested before this date, Internal Audit viewed reports downloaded from HSBC.net.  
With the team now working remotely, this part of the process has become electronic and 
Internal Audit were able to view this paperwork for testing and verify if the segregation of 
duties had taken place. 

The Treasury Management team all have unique log in information to perform their tasks on 
the HSBC system. The software settings implemented only allow a user to complete what is 
necessary, therefore if a member of staff sets up a transfer payment as the daily dealer they 
are then unable to authorise that same payment. 

Internal Audit observed that for all 44 transfers sampled there was appropriate segregation 
of duty, however there were seven instances where a person performing the duty did not 
comply with the rota. Of these, six instances were where the second authoriser differed to 
the rota however the member of staff to perform these duties was still from the pool of senior 
members of staff with the high level authority required for this task. Internal Audit was 
advised that these instances occurred due to clashes in busy schedules and the need to 
meet Treasury Management deadlines. Subsequently, Internal Audit performed additional 
testing by checking the schedules of the authorisers and can confirm that this was the case 
for all six instances where the authoriser had changed.  The other instance occurred where 
the daily dealer differed to the rota. The person who performed the dealer duties that day 
was from the correct pool of people. 

As a result of the findings Internal Audit did not provide a recommendation for improvement.   

Conclusion

The Treasury Management team have clearly defined roles and responsibilities in their tasks 
and this audit review found that appropriate procedures and levels of control are in place. 
The use of the HSBC system enforces the segregation of duties appropriately and ensures 
complete transparency when setting up transfer payments. Since the team have moved to 
operating remotely positive efforts have been made to ensure a clear audit trail remains in 
place. It is noted that some approval emails were not saved when testing the CHAPS 
transfers and the team should be mindful to keep retaining these for the audit trail. 

Management Actions

None required. 

Page 116



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

29

Summary of Consulting Activity, Grant Certification and/or Support Delivered 
where no Opinions are provided

No audit assurance opinions on risk and control are provided in this section as this section 
relates to other audit activity such as statutory Chief Internal Auditor grant certification sign 
off and consultancy work i.e. where internal audit advise management on the risk and control 
environment in relation to new and emerging risks, projects, systems and processes to help 
‘design out’ risk at the developmental stage. 

Service Area: Grant Certification (Council Wide)

Audit Activity: Lost Sales Fees & Charges - Claim 1

Background
Covid-19 has impacted local authorities’ ability to generate revenues in several service areas 
as a result of lockdown, government restrictions, and social distancing measures, related to 
the pandemic. The Ministry of Housing, Communities, and Local Government (MHCLG) has 
introduced a one-off income loss scheme to help compensate for a proportion of the 
irrecoverable and unavoidable losses from sales, fees and charges income generated in the 
delivery of services in the financial year 2020/21.

There are a total of three claims over the periods of April 2020 to July 2020; August 2020 to 
November 2020; and December 2020 to March 2021. The three claims are subject to a 
reconciliation process that is to be completed after the submission of the third claim and is 
due to account for losses claimed for in the early part of the scheme that may ultimately be 
recoverable, and others that might ultimately be irrecoverable when recoverability was 
originally considered possible.

Scope
To review the Lost Sales, Fees and Charges claim 1 (April 2020 to July 2020) and provide 
assurance that the claim had been submitted in line with the guidance from the MHCLG.

Key Findings
 The records supplied by the Gloucestershire County Council Strategic Finance team 

identified that applicable loss income in 2020/21 under the Lost Sales, Fees and 
Charges scheme claim 1 totalled £2,537,000.

 Internal Audit selected and reviewed three service areas within the claim (EEI, 
Corporate Resources, and Children and Families) accounting for £2,240,000 of the 
applicable losses to ensure that the budget had been correctly calculated, all lost 
income was in accordance with the three principals of the scheme, within the relevant 
period under the claim (April 2020 to July 2020) and was as shown within the 
Council’s financial management system (SAP).

 Income budgets had been correctly accounted in the claim for EEI, Corporate 
Resources and Children and Families.

Page 117



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

30

 The income for Traded Services (as part of Children and Families) included within 
the claim was based on estimates, using information from the 2019/20 financial year 
and therefore the actual irrecoverable losses from April 2020 to July 2020 could not 
be confirmed by Internal Audit. The Finance Business Partner responsible for Traded 
Services confirmed that as part of the reconciliation to be undertaken after claim 3 of 
the scheme, the actual income and losses for Traded Services will be calculated and 
any differences between the estimates and actuals will be claimed or refunded as 
required.

 Actual income received for the claim period, as shown for within the Council’s 
financial management system, had been correctly accounted for in line with the 
schemes guidance for EEI and Corporate Resources.

 Internal Audit confirmed that the parameters of the formula for the scheme had been 
correctly applied to the applicable losses claimed for in the period April 2020 to July 
2020. GCC claimed the amount of £1,292,806 after the required deductions (in line 
with the claim criteria) had been made to the original calculated loss of £2,537,000.

Conclusion
The Council submitted a Lost Sales, Fees and Charges claim for £1,292,806 under the 
scheme for April 2020 to July 2020 (claim 1). 

Audit review confirmed that for claim 1 of the Lost Sales Fees Charges for the sample of 
claims reviewed, the claimed amounts of lost income were in accordance with the 
government guidance with the exception of the Traded Services claim which was calculated 
using 2019/20 actuals with estimates of losses to calculate the loss of income.

The actual income and losses for Traded Services will be calculated in line with the schemes 
guidance as part of the claim 3 reconciliation and any differences between the estimates 
used for this claim and actuals will be claimed or refunded as required.

Management Actions
Actions required regards Traded Services loss estimates are known and are due to be 
actioned in the claim 3 reconciliation process. No additional management actions are 
required as a result of the audit review. 

Page 118



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

31

Service Area: Grant Certification (Adults Services)

Audit Activity: Disabled Facilities Grant

Background
The Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) is for the provision of adaptations to disabled people’s 
homes to help them to live independently in their own homes for longer. This funding is part 
of the Better Care Fund (BCF), allocated to County Councils by the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to be further distributed to District Councils 
as the local housing authorities.

Gloucestershire County Council received an allocation of £6,030,346 in 2019/20 from the 
Better Care Fund Disabled Facilities Capital Grant under the grant determination 2019/20 No 
31/3710.

Scope
The Chief Internal Auditor is required to return to the MHCLG a declaration by 31th October 
2020 in the following terms: ‘To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out 
appropriate investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the 
conditions attached to Disabled Facilities Capital Grant Determination (2019/20) No 31/3710 
have been complied with.’ 

The declaration deadline was extended by the MHCLG to the 20th November 2020 due to 
the Covid 19 global pandemic.

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects the conditions of 
the Grant Determinations have been complied with. The period under audit review was 
2019/20, with consideration of relevant internal audit findings from prior years.

Key Findings
 The Council received funding of £6,030,346 in 2019/20 under the Disabled Facilities 

Capital Grant Determination [31/3710] scheme. 

 GCC and the district authorities agreed on the level of funding for each district 
alongside a pooled budget held by county to provide equipment for disabled service 
users across the county. This was formally agreed between the districts, GCC and 
Gloucestershire’s Clinical commissioning Group through the Better Care Funding 
plan for Gloucestershire.

 Total grant expenditure by districts and GCC for 2019/20 was £5,573,840.71.

 The total carry forward for the grant into 2020/21 is therefore £3,581,432.29 when 
including the carry forwards of the previous financial years prior to 2019/20.

Conclusion

Page 119



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

32

Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit have gained reasonable assurance that the conditions of the Grant 
Determinations have been fulfilled and as such the declaration has been signed and 
submitted to the MHCLG.

The remainder of the Disabled Facilities Grant funding (£3,581,432.29) has been carried 
forward into 2020/21.

Management Actions
No management actions required.

Service Area: Children’s Services

Audit Activity: High Needs Block – Positional Statement and Deferral

Background
The High Needs audit was included in the Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) 2020/21 
Internal Audit Plan but has been deferred to 2021/22.  The intention was to complete the 
work during Quarter 4 of 2020/21 after the appointment of a new Director of Education in 
early 2020/21 who could direct the scope of the audit.  However, following appointment and 
then turnover of the Acting Director of Education post in Quarter 3 2020/21, a new Director 
of Education is not expected to be appointed until early 2021/22.

The High Needs Block encompasses Independent Places, Special School places, 
Alternative Provision Schools (APS) and Education Health and Care plans (EHCP).  The 
pressure on High Needs budgets is a nationally recognised one with significant budget 
overspend not being uncommon amongst many Local Authorities, including Gloucestershire.

The key risks are as follows:

 Overspend of the High Needs Block within the Dedicated Schools Grant;

 Increased demand for services;

 Educational outcomes for children and young people not improved; and

 Ineffective commissioning.

Scope
The objective of the audit will be to take account of the work of the High Needs Programme 
and focus on providing assurance over systems and processes within specific areas of 
spend of the High Needs Block as agreed by the new Director of Education.

Page 120



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

33

Key Findings/Deferral Rationale
At the mid-year Internal Audit plan revision stage, the Acting Director of Education 
suggested that the High Needs audit should be deferred for the following reasons:

 The Education Service had recently embarked on a full programme of work around 
this area and as part of that would also be seeking external support/challenge to 
areas that would normally expose GCC to scrutiny;

 Internal Audit assurance had already been obtained for the following key areas:  the 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) decision making process, 
independent placements and travel allowances; and

 It would enable the service teams to focus on high priority Covid-related activity 
which is anticipated to be a considerable pull on resources over the next six months.

The decision to defer the High Needs audit was also supported by the Director of Policy, 
Performance and Governance, the Director of Partnerships and Strategy and the Director of 
Finance.

The Head of Education, Strategy and Development confirmed that the High Needs internal 
audit should be deferred to 2021/22 for the following reasons:

 The Central government SEND review is due to be published in March 2021;

 By end of June 2021 the 2020/21 outturn figures will be known;

 Confirmation of the 2021/22 funding will have been received;

 New leadership will be in place; and

 Recommendations from the recent EHCP review will have been implemented.

Conclusion
Having given consideration to all the factors involved, Audit Risk Assurance’s (ARA) Chief 
Internal Auditor in post at the time of preparing this report approved the deferral of the High 
Needs audit to 2021/22.

Page 121



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

34

Service Area: Grant Certification (Children’s Services)

Audit Activity: Troubled Families Grant Claim 1

Background
The Families First (payment-by-result) programme was introduced in a renewed drive to help 
improve the outcomes for troubled families. 

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has produced a Financial 
Framework for local authorities. This document makes clear that payment- by-result (PBR) is 
the subject of self-declaration, and therefore the purpose of this audit was to provide 
assurance that the Families First grant conditions and criteria had been met by the families 
to support the PBR grant claim.

Scope
To provide assurance that those families forming the PBR claims made to the date of the 
audit met the relevant criteria and that there was sufficient evidence to support the outcomes 
recorded.  

Key Findings
As at 25th September 2020 there were 101 PBR claims prepared for submission relating to 
the period April to September 2020. Internal Audit testing was completed on 12 claims (12% 
of the population) to ensure appropriate coverage of the eligibility criteria and the six 
localities. 

Internal Audit testing confirmed:

 Of the PBR claims sampled all met the criteria outlined by the Troubled Families 
Grant. 

 There were systems and processes for how families and their eligibility markers (i.e. 
education/crime/anti-social behaviour; progress to work; and continuous employment 
(and off out-of-work benefits)) were being collated and verified.  

Conclusion
Internal Audit is satisfied that as at 25th September 2020 the process undertaken by the 
Troubled Families team of assessing, collating and verifying families against the eligibility 
markers and related outcomes was working effectively and in accordance with the 
requirements of the scheme.

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Page 122



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

35

Service Area: Children’s Services

Audit Activity: Foster Carer Bandings and Payments

Background
A County Councillor received an initial and subsequent complaint from a constituent 
concerning foster carer Banding reviews and payments.  The complaints were referred to 
Internal Audit for review due to the nature of the complaints indicating that there were 
process issues and where audit trails were less than transparent.

Scope
Internal Audit was asked to provide a response to the following concerns:

 Banding assessment reviews:  there were issues with the constituent being informed 
that they had been put onto a higher Band but later told that it was not the case until 
their annual review and subsequently that also changed; and

 Banding overpayments:  there were concerns whether Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC) had proper systems in place for identifying overpayments to foster 
carers that had de-registered as GCC foster carers.

Key Findings
The reviews that were undertaken were not full audits and as such opinions on risk 
management and the control environment were not given.

For the Bandings issue, GCC’s assessment process achieved the correct outcome and the 
constituent’s complaint was not upheld.  However, the processes followed to review, 
approve and apply new Bandings were not robust or particularly transparent. The 
management actions below detail the process improvements that have been/will be made.

For the Banding overpayments issue, the constituent was incorrectly overpaid after de-
registering as a GCC foster carer due to a lack of controls in place to cease making 
payments to de-registered foster carers, or to identify when overpayments had been made.  
The management actions below detail the process improvements that have been/will be 
made.

Management Actions
The Head of Service confirmed the following to Internal Audit in relation to Banding reviews:

 A new process flowchart has been shared with the whole fostering service and has 
been discussed in team meetings and in individual supervision sessions when foster 
carers are discussed;

 When the fostering policy is due for update the flowchart will be added to the policy 
with a link to the local resources;

Page 123



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

36

 A further document will provide clear guidance about the Band criteria and 
expectations of each Band.  The flowchart will also be a link within the full Band 
guidance and will be uploaded onto the local resources on Tri-x (procedures that 
underpin social care practice and safeguarding responsibilities); and

 The flowchart has also been made available to foster carers on the secure website.

The Head of Service confirmed the following to Internal Audit in relation to Banding 
payments:

 The foster carer payments to the constituent (now a de-registered GCC foster carer) 
have been stopped;

 An invoice for £6,729.48 was raised to recover the overpayments that were made to 
the constituent;

 An exercise has been undertaken to identify any overpayments that may have been 
made to other de-registered/withdrawn foster carers but no further overpayments 
were identified/made;

 A Children and Young People finance officer will attend the induction of new Social 
Workers to provide an overview of finance-related matters so that the importance of 
Change Sheets can be covered;

 The induction pack for new Social Worker starters in the Fostering Service has been 
updated and it includes processes for fostering placements.  The Head of Service 
has agreed that process maps and flowcharts will be included in practice guidance 
for Social Workers so that they can be referred to subsequent to any induction 
training undertaken;

 Refresher training on LiquidLogic (Children’s case management system) will be 
offered which will focus on fostering placements; and

 The Panel team within Fostering will undertake a periodic review of all foster carers 
that have been de-registered and ensure that the payments have been ended.  This 
will be an additional management oversight control applied as a second line of 
defence in the event that the operational controls are not completed as required.

Conclusion
Internal Audit is satisfied that the management actions will help to mitigate uncertainty within 
the process for reviewing foster carer Bandings and provide future audit trails/evidence of 
decisions taken.

Internal Audit is also satisfied that corrective actions have been taken to stop future 
payments to the constituent and to recover any overpayments that have been made, 
including any that may have been paid to other de-registered foster carers.

Page 124



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

37

Due to the lack of controls in place to detect overpayments to de-registered foster carers, 
Internal Audit is satisfied that actions have been/will be taken to strengthen the control 
environment, both in the first and second lines of defence. 

Service Area: Grant Certification (EEI)

Audit Activity: Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant

Background
On 4th April 2019 a letter was issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) confirming the 
payment of £458,365 to Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) as a grant to cover the 
period 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020. The purpose of the grant is to provide support to 
local authorities in England towards expenditure lawfully incurred or to be incurred by them.

The Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG) may only be used for the purpose of supporting 
bus services (including community transport services under a section 19 permit), or for the 
provision of infrastructure supporting such services in that authority’s, or neighbouring 
authority’s, area. The letter stated that the DfT reserve the right to request data/information 
from local authorities and other Local Decision Bodies on the way in which devolved funds 
have been used and the cost of the services/infrastructure bought with the funds.

Scope
The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the Department for 
Transport a declaration by 30th September in the following terms: ‘To the best of our 
knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations and checks, in our 
opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Local Authority Bus Subsidy 
Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant Determination 2019/20 have been complied with.’

Key Findings
 The Council received funding of £458,365 under the Local Authority Bus Subsidy 

Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant Determination [31/3644] scheme.

 The total expenditure in 2019/20 for tendered bus services was £3,007,575.73.

 Internal Audit sample tested 13 lines of expenditure totalling £149,524.26 (33% of 
grant funding) and found that the expenditure was appropriate under the grant 
determination [31/3644] and the amounts recorded matched to the supporting 
invoices.

 The grant determination stated that a survey provided by the DfT was to be 
completed in line with condition 3 of the grant determination. Internal Audit contacted 
the DfT on the 25th September 2020 to confirm when the survey would be made 
available for completion to allow for the sign off of the grant. 

Page 125



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

38

 On the 1st October 2020 the DfT confirmed to GCC that the survey had been 
removed due to Covid-19 and therefore would no longer form part of the grant 
conditions.

Conclusion
Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit has gained appropriate assurance that the conditions of the grant 
determination have been met and as such the 2019/20 declaration has been signed and 
submitted to the DfT.  

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Service Area: Grant Certification (EEI)

Audit Activity: Flood Resilience and Pothole Action Fund

Background
Department of Transport (DfT) in 2019/20 made £993,213 available to Gloucestershire 
County Council for the purpose of repairing pot holes and protecting local roads from severe 
weather. This funding came under the Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Pothole 
Action Fund). Gloucestershire County Council received this funding under the grant 
determination: No 31/3221, which determines that the grant: ‘May be used only for the 
purposes that a capital receipt may be used for in accordance with regulations made under 
section 11 of the Local Government Act 2003.’

Scope
The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the Department for 
Transport a declaration by 30th September in the following terms: ‘To the best of our 
knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations and checks, in our 
opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Local Transport Capital 
Block Funding (Pothole Action Fund) Grant No 31/3221 have been and will be complied 
with.’

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects; the conditions of 
the relevant Grant Determination have been complied with.

The period under audit review was 2019/20, with consideration of relevant internal audit 
findings from prior year.

Key Findings

Page 126



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

39

 The Council received funding of £993,213 in 2019/20 under the Local Transport 
Capital Block Funding (Pothole Action Fund) grant scheme.

 In 2019/20 a total of £993,213 was spent against the Local Transport Capital Block 
Funding (Pothole Action Fund) grant scheme.

 Internal Audit has reviewed a sample of transactions covering 71.6% of the 2019/20 
expenditure population and confirmed that the sampled expenditure was in 
accordance with the relevant DfT grant conditions.

 The grant funding was fully expended within 2019/20 with no carry forward into the 
2020/21 financial year.

Conclusion
Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit has gained appropriate assurance that the conditions of the grant 
determination have been met and as such the 2019/20 declaration has been signed and 
submitted to the DfT.  

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Service Area: Grant Certification (EEI)

Audit Activity: Safer Roads Fund

Background
On 1st August 2017 a letter was issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) stating the 
allocation of the Safer Roads Fund Grant for 2017/18: No 31/3103. The grant allocation for 
Gloucestershire County Council for the year was £1,800,000.  A further £360,000 was 
received in 2018/19. 

Following expenditure within 2017/18 and 2018/19, a funding carry forward occurred of 
£217,408.64 into 2019/20.

The Safer Roads Fund may only be used for the purposes that a capital receipt may be used 
for in accordance with regulations made under section 11 of the Local Government Act 
2003. 

Scope
The Chief Executive and the Chief Internal Auditor are required to sign and return to DfT a 
declaration by 30th September 2020 in the following terms: 

Page 127



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

40

‘To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Safer 
Roads Fund (2017/18) No. 31/3103 have been complied with.’

Key Findings
 A balance of £217,408.64 was carried forward into 2019/20 from the previous 

financial year.

 The records supplied by the Strategic Finance Accountant confirm that at the year-
end £217,408.64 of the Safer Roads Fund Grant for 2019/20 was expended. Internal 
Audit reviewed a sample of transactions covering 100% of the expenditure and 
confirmed that expenditure was in accordance with the relevant grant conditions.

 No further funding has been carried forward into 2020/21.

 The capital expenditure for the Safer Roads Fund Grant is monitored by the Capital 
Accountant who has confirmed that this relates fully to the purchase of capital items, 
and was accounted for as such in the Council’s financial system.

Conclusion
The records supplied by the Strategic Finance Accountant confirm that expenditure against 
the Safer Roads Fund in 2019/20 totalled £217,408.64. Therefore no further funding has 
been carried forward into 2020/21. Internal Audit concludes that the conditions of the Grant 
Determination for 2019/20 have been fulfilled. 

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Service Area: Community Safety (GFRS) 

Audit Activity: Cultural Review – Position Statement and Deferral

Background
The GFRS Cultural Review was included in the Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) 
2020/21 Internal Audit Plan but has been deferred to 2021/22.  The intention was to 
complete the work during Quarter 4 of 2020/21 so that the outcome of the audit would 
support GFRS in preparation for the Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) return visit that was due in early 2021/22.

The Cultural Review would also provide assurance in relation to GFRS’s Senior Leadership 
Team priorities, namely to stabilise the service, support staff to act with professionalism and 
pride and to have leaders that are accountable.

Page 128



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

41

The key risks are as follows:

 Staff leave the organisation;

 High levels of sickness impacting resilience and workloads;

 Staff do not see change resulting in failure to engage with refreshed service priorities;

 Reputational damage; and

 Ministerial intervention.

Scope
The objective of the audit is to provide assurance that actions emanating from previous 
audits/reviews/surveys of culture are being implemented and to evaluate the outcome/impact 
of the actions to identify the direction of travel. Specifically, the audit will focus on the 
following areas:

 Lack of trust in values, vision and behaviours of the previous leadership team;

 Visible and transparent pathway for change, fully documented and available to all 
staff; and

 Managers to be seen to demonstrate the new values through their behaviours and 
rebuild trust.

Conclusion
Having given consideration to all the factors involved, Audit Risk Assurance’s (ARA) Chief 
Internal Auditor in post at the time of preparing this report approved the deferral of the GFRS 
Cultural Review to 2021/22.

Page 129



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

42

Summary of Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

To date the Counter Fraud Team (CFT) within Internal Audit has received nine new referrals 
in 2020/21, and continued to work on six cases from previous years. In addition to the 
referrals that require further investigation by the CFT, advice has been provided to various 
clients which has allowed management to deal with the issues/risks promptly and prevent 
the matters escalating into an investigation. For example, liaising with a provider in respect 
of a potential duplicate invoice paid by the Council which on further investigation turned out 
to be an error with invoice numbers and therefore a payment due to the provider; and advice 
provided on the use the Council’s new travel expenses system, Concur.

Three of the brought forward cases plus four of the new cases referred in 2020/21 have now 
been completed, of which two have previously been reported to Audit and Governance 
Committee. 

The service areas of the cases referred to Internal Audit within 2020/21 to date are 
categorised as follows: Adults (3); Childrens (3); Community Safety (1); and Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure (2). 

Previous years’ referrals closed case

Of the three closed cases from previous years, two have already been reported. The third 
case involved concerns relating to a joint funded package with the NHS (Clinical 
Commissioning Group) and centred on the level and cost of care/support being provided by 
a company owned by the family thus creating a potential conflict of interest. Greater scrutiny 
of the family involvement and costs incurred has been introduced by relevant services within 
2020/21 and therefore no further action is required at this point in time. 

Current year (2020/21) referrals

Of the four closed cases from the current year, two have already been reported to 
Committee. 

Of the two new closed cases one involved an individual who had shielded during the first 
national lockdown. On return to work the individual provided documentation to support the 
application to shield. However, concerns were raised by the line manager and an 
investigation by the CFT established that the documents had not been provided by a medical 
practitioner. Disciplinary action has been instigated and the individual is no longer employed 
by the Council.  

The other closed case involved concerns that Council grant funding provided by the Council 
(relevant to a community based grant issued in a previous year) had not been spent in 
accordance with the grant funding criteria. Investigation by the CFT established that the 
Council grant funding had been provided as a one off contribution towards the overall project 
costs (alongside other non GCC project funding streams) and that the Council grant criteria 
is being met. The project is still ongoing albeit with some planned changes and therefore no 
further involvement by the CFT in the matter is required. 

Page 130



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

43

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police referral. This 
invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be classed as closed and reported 
to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

15th to 21st November 2020 was International Fraud Awareness Week. As in previous years, 
Gloucester County Council signed up as a supporter of this week. During the week, 
information on some of the more topical scams and areas of increased fraud risk due to the 
Covid 19 pandemic were shared with the Council’s employees.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the NFI which is a biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office. The data collections for the 2021/22 exercise have been 
uploaded to the Cabinet Office. The data matching reports are due to be released from 28th 
January 2021. The timetable can be found using the following link GOV.UK.

Examples of data sets include insurance, payroll, creditors, pensions, care provision, blue 
badges and concessionary bus passes. Not all matches are investigated but where possible 
all recommended matches are reviewed by either Internal Audit or the appropriate service 
area. 

Page 131

https://www.nfi.gov.uk/r/34AA62E5BC1349DFA38F24BE5DCADC53


This page is intentionally left blank



22nd January 2021

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Council Wide Data Analytics Project NHS 1 In Progress
Brought Forward. Joint consultancy project with the 

NHS. Outcomes to be reported in March 21. 

Council Wide Oversight of Arms Length Organisations 2 Planned

Council Wide Design of the Assurance Framework 2 Consultancy

Council Wide Cyber Security 1 Planned

Council Wide ICT Technology Procurement 1 Planned
To include outcomes from the Non Approved ICT 

Provision internal audit 19/20 activity.

Council Wide Volunteering - Covid 19 1 In Progress

New Activity. Team input into the Council's Covid 19 

volunteering effort (e.g. food packages for shielding 

individuals within the County and the County's Covid 

19 mass testing pilot). 

Council Wide Supplier Relief 1 Consultancy

New Activity. Covid 19 risk area. Consultancy advice 

support. Outcomes to be reported in the 20/21 Annual 

Report. 

Council Wide Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) – supplier payments (Covid 19) 1 Consultancy

New Activity. Covid 19 risk area.  Consultancy advice 

support. Outcomes to be reported in the 20/21 Annual 

Report. 

Council Wide
Business Continuity Management (BCM) Critical Systems - Corporate 

Oversight
1 Consultancy

Main audit planned for 21/22. Internal Audit to request 

input into Council BCM lessons learnt activity post 

Covid 19 as a sounding board. Consultancy advice 

support.

Council Wide Lost Sales, Fees and Charges - claim 1 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 New Activity. Grant review. Covid 19 relevant. 

Council Wide Lost Sales, Fees and Charges - claim 2 1 Audit in Progress New Activity. Grant review. Covid 19 relevant. 

Corporate Resources Disposals from the public sector estate (land and buildings) 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 22/01/2021

Corporate Resources Quayside Development Project Overview 2 Planned

Corporate Resources Members Expenses and Allowances 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 30/10/2020

Corporate Resources Grievance Process 1 Planned

Corporate Resources The General Customer Complaints Process 2 Planned

Corporate Resources Officer Decision making process (where delegated from Cabinet) 2 Audit in Progress

Corporate Resources Breach Reporting 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 22/01/2021

Corporate Resources GCC usage of CCTV in compliance with legislation 2 Draft Report Issued

Page 1 of 6

P
age 133



22nd January 2021

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Corporate Resources White Slip Payment Process 2 Deferred

Deferral approved (due to impact of Covid 19 and 

remote working, causing significant reduction in use of 

process) in the Revised Internal Audit Plan 20/21. To 

be re-considered as part of the 21/22 audit planning 

process. 

Corporate Resources Treasury Management 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 22/01/2021

Corporate Resources Payroll Payments and Standing Data 2 Audit in Progress

Corporate Resources Sopra Steria Exit Strategy 1 Planned

Corporate Resources Safer Recruitment - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Planned

Corporate Resources Expenses and Benefits 2 Draft Report Issued Brought Forward.  

Corporate Resources IT Disaster Recovery - Limited Assurance Follow Up (second) 1 Planned

Corporate Resources
Asset Replacement Programme - Windows 10 upgrade: roll out of new 

devices 
1 Audit in Progress Brought Forward.  

Corporate Resources
Asset Replacement Programme - Windows 10 upgrade: collection and 

disposal of end of life devices 
1 Audit in Progress Brought Forward.  

Corporate Resources JADU eforms 1 Audit in Progress Brought Forward.  

Corporate Resources Approval of Payments for Agency Staff - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 30/10/2020

Corporate Resources
Database Administration and Security (Oracle – SQL) - Limited Assurance 

Follow Up
1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 22/01/2021 Brought Forward.  

Adult Services Gloucestershire Industrial Services (GIS) Healthcare - Establishment audit 1 Planned

Adult Services GIS Equipment System (ICT audit) 1 Planned Brought Forward.  

Adult Services Best Value 2 Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Consultancy advice support

Adult Services Learning Disability Respite Units 2 Deferred

Deferral approved (due to impact of Covid 19 - the 

Learning Disabilities Respite Units were closed for 

periods during lock down and based on risk 

assessment are unable to support audit visits) in the 

Revised Internal Audit Plan 20/21. To be re-

considered as part of the 21/22 audit planning 

process. 

Adult Services Investment in Order of St Johns homes - governance framework 1 Deferred

Deferral approved (Covid 19 has impacted the 

progression of works in year) in the Revised Internal 

Audit Plan 20/21. To be re-considered as part of the 

21/22 audit planning process. 

Adult Services Out of County/cross charging for sexual health 2 Deferred

Deferral due to the additional work pressures within 

Public Health in 20/21 due to Covid 19. To be re-

considered as part of the 21/22 audit planning 

process. 

Page 2 of 6

P
age 134



22nd January 2021

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Adult Services Disabled Facilities Grant (Better Care Fund) 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 Grant certification.

Adult Services Social Care (Capital) Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Adult Services Blue Badge - New Criteria Implementation 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Adult Services Premium for Care Providers 1 Consultancy

New Activity. Covid 19 risk area. Consultancy advice 

support with testing. Outcomes to be reported in the 

20/21 Annual Report. 

Adult Services Market Management 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Adult Services Learning Disabilities Transitions (Children to Adults) 2 Deferred

Deferred for consideration within the 21/22 plan with a 

refreshed scope, due to in house review within 20/21 

resulting in Cabinet approval (December 2020) of the 

‘Preparing for Adulthood Strategy 2020-2023’ and roll 

out of relevant action plans.

Adult Services Client Affairs 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory/Limited 22/01/2021 Brought Forward.  

Adult Services Disabilities Hub Job Coaching Brokerage 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Adult Services ERIC Replacement (ICT internal audit) 1 Deferred

Deferral approved (new ICT system implementation 

has been delayed until March 2021) in the Revised 

Internal Audit Plan 20/21. To be re-considered as part 

of the 21/22 audit planning process. 

Children's Services High Needs Block 2 Deferred Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021

Please see Internal Audit Progress Report Appendix 1 

for the Assurance Position Statement which includes 

rationale for deferral of the full audit. 

Children's Services Early Help: Edge of care 2 Planned

Children's Services No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) 2 Planned

Children's Services Independent Reviewing Officers 2 Planned

Children's Services Social Work Academy 2 Planned

Children's Services Use of Neglect Toolkit 2 Planned

Children's Services Re-referral rates and Repeat Child Protection Plan 2 Planned

Children's Services Troubled Families Grants 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 Grant review.

Children's Services Troubled Families Grants II 1 Planned Grant review.

Page 3 of 6

P
age 135



22nd January 2021

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Children's Services Schools internal audit 20/21 (Local Authority Maintained Schools and other) 2 Planned

The Local Authority Maintained Schools audit 

approach 20/21 is undergoing further consultation with 

the Director of Childrens Services, due to the impact 

of Covid 19. A pilot remote audit approach has been 

delivered in quarter 3 20/21 across 3 schools with 

wider roll out targeted for quarter 4 20/21.  Schools 

audit outcomes to be reported in the 20/21 Annual 

Report. 

Children's Services Academies 2 Planned

Children's Services Foster Carer Bandings and Payments 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 20/01/2021 New Activity. Consultancy. 

Children's Services Section 17 spend - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Planned

Children's Services Direct Payments 1 Final Report Issued Limited Limited 22/01/2021 Brought Forward.  

Children's Services Health Assessments 1 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 22/01/2021 Brought Forward.  

Children's Services Recruitment, Development and Retention of Foster Carers 2 Audit in Progress Brought Forward.  

Children's Services Transition from Children’s to Adults Services including Costs 2 Deferred

Deferred for consideration within the 21/22 plan with a 

refreshed scope, due to in house review within 20/21 

resulting in Cabinet approval (December 2020) of the 

‘Preparing for Adulthood Strategy 2020-2023’ and roll 

out of relevant action plans.

Children's Services Discretionary Payments to Foster Carers - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Planned

Children's Services
Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support (Fostering) - Limited 

Assurance Follow Up
1 Final Report Issued Substantial Limited 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Children's Services Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support (Commissioning) 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Children's Services PACE Protocols 2 Audit in Progress Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Disposal of Assets (vehicles) 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Adult Education Service 1 Deferred

Deferral approved in the Revised Internal Audit Plan 

20/21. The recent Adult Education Services 

Restructure consultancy review identified work 

required on policy update, which will be reviewed and 

implemented within the service. Executive Director 

agreement obtained or the audit to occur after the 

policy change has been implemented. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Oversight of Parking Management NSL Contract 2 Deferred

Deferral approved (Covid 19 impact on Parking 

income, processes and procedures) in the Revised 

Internal Audit Plan 20/21. To be re-considered as part 

of the 21/22 audit planning process. 

Page 4 of 6

P
age 136



22nd January 2021

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Transport Infrastructure Project Cost Reporting 2 Deferred

Deferral approved (Covid 19 impact and 21/22 Cyber 

Park review due as part of the GFirst LEP 

Accountable Body requirement) in the Revised 

Internal Audit Plan 20/21. To be re-considered as part 

of the 21/22 audit planning process. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Adult Education Restructure 1 Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Consultancy advice support.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Library Management System (ICT audit) 1 Audit in Progress

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Additional Highways Maintenance 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Community Capacity Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Pothole Action Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Integrated Transport, Highways Maintenance Block Needs Element, 

Highways Maintenance Incentive Element (Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grant)

1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Flood Resilience 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021

Funding body grant determination for 19/20 combines 

Pothole Action Fund and Flood Resilience. Audit 

outcomes to be consolidated and reported to 

Committee in January 21.  
Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
National Productivity Investment Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Safer Roads Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Growth Hub 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
EU Exit Business Readiness and Engagement 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Registration Service – Income Collection 2 Audit in Progress Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Procurement of Short Term Transport Arrangements for Social Care Users - 

Limited Assurance Follow Up
1 Audit in Progress Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Growth Deal – Growth Hub business model 2 Draft Report Issued Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Parking Management Services - Contract Management Arrangements 2 Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Traffic Signals – Asset Management and Replacement 2 Audit in Progress Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Oversight of the Highways Maintenance contract 2 Audit in Progress Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Energy from Waste contract 2 Deferred

Deferral (Covid 19 impact). Audit objective unable to 

be met through a remote audit approach. Deferral 

agreed with Executive Director. To be re-considered 

as part of the 21/22 audit planning process. 

Page 5 of 6

P
age 137



22nd January 2021

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Fleet Management 1 Deferred

Deferral due to independent review of  the fleet 

management and pool car operations in 20/21. To be 

re-considered as part of the 21/22 audit planning 

process. 

Community Safety Business Fire Safety 2 Planned

Community Safety Cultural Review 2 Deferred Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021

Please see Internal Audit Progress Report Appendix 1 

for the Assurance Position Statement which includes 

rationale for deferral of the full audit. 

Community Safety Stores, procurement and stock control 1 Planned

Community Safety Trading Standards-Civil Protection-Coroners (cyclical approach) 2 Deferred

Deferral approved (Covid 19 impact) in the Revised 

Internal Audit Plan 20/21. To be re-considered as part 

of the 21/22 audit planning process. 

Community Safety Fire and Rescue Authorities Grants 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Community Safety GFRS Action Plan Follow Up Internal Audits 1 Audit in Progress

All GFRS follow up audit activity will be reported to the 

Audit and Governance Committee separately with the 

second update being provided on 22nd January 21.  

Pensions Ghost Pensioners 1 Planned

Pensions Investments - Portfolio Transition 1 Planned

Pensions Management of the Local Governance Pension Scheme (LGPS) 1 Planned

Review timing aligns to the Council Annual 

Governance Statement 20//21. Outcomes to be 

reported in the 20/21 Annual Report. 

Pensions Pensions Information and Cyber Security - upgraded Altair system 1 Planned

Page 6 of 6

P
age 138



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 22nd January 2021 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 Improvement Plan – Progress 
Report 

Purpose of Report: The purpose of this report is to provide assurance to the Audit and 
Governance Committee that the improvement areas and associated 
actions identified as part of the annual review of governance 
arrangements operating within GCC have been/are being addressed. 

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee reviews 
and considers the actions taken to address the governance improvement 
areas identified.

Officer (s) Contact: Stephanie Payne – Group Manager, Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) 
Tel: 01452 328899
Stephanie.Payne@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker: Director of Finance  Tel: 01452 328999
Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective corporate governance framework prevents 
the Council in directing and controlling its resources effectively and 
efficiently, to enable the Council’s priorities and objectives to be met.

Background The Council is required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to 
publish an Annual Governance Statement, in accordance with ‘proper 
practices’ in order to report publicly on the extent to which we comply 
with our own Local Code of Corporate Governance. This approach 
includes how the Council has monitored the effectiveness of 
arrangements in year and on any planned changes to governance 
arrangements in the coming year. 

Through the Council’s Constitution, the Audit and Governance 
Committee has responsibility for review and approval of the Statement 
and to be provided with the assurance that any improvement actions 
identified are implemented.

In line with prior year, ARA have prepared the Progress Report and 
collated action owner updates. Audit and Governance Committee have 
agreed that relevant executive / senior management action owners 
would be invited to attend committee on 22nd January 2021 to provide 
their updates on the actions taken to address the governance matters 
identified.

Page 139

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Stephanie.Payne@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Gloucestershire County Council Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 2019/20 Improvement Plan – 
Progress Report

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and Lead 
Officer

Financial 
Governance

Future Financial Sustainability / Covid-19

The Council identified savings of £10.545m as part of the 2020/21 budget setting process. 
Delivery of this level of savings will be challenging for the Council. A small contingency is 
available if savings are not fully met in 2020/21.

Actions in response to the above: 

 To continue to review the financial resilience, strategic risks, the robustness of financial 
planning and the accuracy of outturn forecasts in order to ensure long term financial 
sustainability;

 Ongoing regular review and reporting of funding, cost pressures and savings, with focus on 
the Adult Single Programme savings, High Needs, financial pressures within Children and 
Families and additional pressures re Covid-19; and

 Update future years funding forecasts as more details of the Comprehensive Spending 
Review are announced.

In addition, new cost pressures, lost income and unachievable savings targets as a result of the 
impact of the coronavirus lockdown is being closely managed and monitored. As the long term 
implications for the Council become more apparent our financial planning will be updated 
accordingly.

31st March 2021

Chief Financial Officer

P
age 141



2

Position as at December 2020

The Council is on track to deliver over 93% of the 2020/21 savings target which is a great result given that so much time and energy in 
2020/21 has been diverted to dealing with the pandemic. The pandemic has resulted in significant additional Council expenditure but 
through robust financial management it is currently forecast that the costs will be contained within the additional grant funding allocated 
to GCC.  

The Council’s biggest financial challenges continue to be additional expenditure in Children’s Services associated with the OFSTED 
improvement programme and the continued overspend in the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant. In terms of the 
Children’s Services budget this is being closely monitored and the overspend in 2020/21 will be covered from corporately held budgets 
/ reserves. A recovery plan / High Needs Strategy is currently being implemented which aims to ensure the DSG budget is balanced in 
future years.   

The one year Spending Review in November 2020 and the provisional Finance Settlement indicated that there will be sufficient funding 
available in 2021/22 to fund a robust and balanced budget in 2021/22. This will be confirmed in February 2021 when the final Finance 
Settlement is announced. There continues to be uncertainty about longer term funding which is likely to remain until a multi year 
Comprehensive Spending Review is announce – this is anticipated in the Autumn of 2021.

General Reserves are £18.846 million (December 2020) which is considered sufficient to cover unforecast / unexpected expenditure. 

P
age 142



3

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and Lead 
Officer

Executive 
Director’s 
Assurance 
Statement 
2019/20

Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services 

GCC Children’s Services continue on an improvement journey following the Ofsted inspection 
in 2017. In February 2020, Ofsted undertook their final monitoring visit and the next time they 
return to Gloucestershire it will be to conduct a full inspection under the inspections of local 
authority children's services (ILACS) framework. During 2019/20 work has continued to 
enhance our assurance and governance arrangements as part of our wider improvement 
programme, including: 

 An Access to Resources Panel has been introduced in order to strengthen management 
oversight of access to financial assistance for children and families. It is chaired by a 
member of Senior Leadership Team and comprises of managers from across children’s 
services. Implementation has been supported by detailed written guidance and a series of 
briefings with locality teams. 

 A 16 Plus Panel has been introduced to monitor those young people with a pathway plan 
who are either homeless or at risk of becoming homeless to ensure appropriate 
preventative action is taken and/or assistance provided. 

 A detailed piece of work has been completed around care placements which may be 
considered (by the Regulator) to constitute unregistered provision to ensure there is a clear 
rationale for the placement, to take action where this need and the child’s needs are being 
met. 

Ongoing

Director of Children’s 
Services (DCS)

P
age 143



4

 We have developed a comprehensive vulnerable children database to ensure there is a 
clear line of sight across education, early years and social care provision around those 
children and young people causing greatest concern. 

 High Cost Placement Panel continues to provide a mechanism for scrutiny of costs for 
children with high cost, complex care packages. 

 We are continuing to scrutinise agency spend and ensure that time sheets are subject to 
managerial sign off - this is evidencing high levels of compliance. 

 Our Performance Management arrangements have continued to develop in order to bring 
further service elements within Liquid Logic reporting, thereby reducing our reliance on 
locally generated data. This is providing for a more exhaustive and rigorous overview of 
performance.

Children’s Services has continued to experience significant costs pressures during 2019/20 
with a projected overspend at year end of circa £13.5m. This is due in greater part to external 
placements and costs associated with agency staffing in social care. 

The High Cost Placements Panel continues to provide a mechanism to ensure senior 
management oversight of individual cases and our Sufficiency Strategy sets our longer term 
vision to ensure good quality care provision is available for children and young people. The 
opening of Trevone House during 2020/21 will be a key element in realising that vision. 

Our ‘grow your own’ workforce strategy will also begin to have greater traction on our agency 
spend as the current cohorts of students, overseas workers and newly qualified staff being able 
to take up substantive posts over the next 12 months. 

The Social Work Academy will also play a key role in ensuring we are able to support an 
ongoing cohort of students, Assessed and Supported Year in Employment programme (ASYE) 

P
age 144



5

and newly qualified practitioners. 

Social work practice quality remains a significant issue in terms of reaching an Ofsted rating 
that would be seen as reasonable progress and cease to be a reputational risk. Quality audits 
still demonstrate ‘inadequate’ practice in too many case files. Quarterly trends are positive but 
need to move faster. The Social Work Academy training plus targeted leadership interventions 
are key to tackling this remaining issue.

All Council Ofsted monitoring reports can be viewed here. 

Position as at December 2020

The emergence of Covid-19 in March 2020 has had a significant impact on Children’s Services, and its regulator Ofsted.  It had been 
anticipated that full inspection would take place in April/May 2020, however, Ofsted suspended its inspection activity until the early 
Autumn and only re-commenced under a changed programme of monitoring and focused visits.  

As Gloucestershire had previously had its final monitoring visit in February, it was subject to a focused visit in October this year. The 
focused visit was much more akin to a full inspection and involved a team of 5 HMI’s, one of whom was a Schools HMI, who looked in 
detail at effectiveness of the Virtual School and the outcomes for children in care.  In the published letter 20th November 2020, Ofsted, 
inter alia, noted:

 The local authority’s response to Covid-19 has been positive, proactive and well managed.

 Despite the multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) having to operate virtually, there has been no significant drop-off in its 
performance. Children in need of help or protection have been seen regularly throughout, as have most children in care and care 
leavers.

 The quality of practice is still variable, much of it is now more purposeful, more rigorous, more child-focused and more clearly 
sighted on impact and effectiveness.

 The proportion of audited cases judged by the local authority to be inadequate has fallen significantly.

P
age 145

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/916
https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50156335


6

 In the absence of a clear, coherent and well-coordinated approach to services for children and families on the edge of care, the 
number of children in care continues to increase year-on-year.

 Short and long-term placement stability is problematic and some children are still experiencing too many changes of social workers.

With respect to governance, we have continued to develop the actions set out in the previous assurance statement in order to further 
embed assurance and governance, as part of our wider improvement programme: 

 Our Accelerated Improvement Plan (AIP) has been enhanced to encompass a range of thematic and service specific improvement 
plans and provide a focal point for all improvement activity.

 A Permanence Project has been commenced in order to improve our permanence planning and enhance our control of associated 
expenditure.  A panel approach, building on the panel arrangements set out above, has been implemented to review individual 
cases.

 Bronze meetings (twice weekly) chaired by the Interim Director of Safeguarding and Care provide for a sustained grip on practice 
and service activity during a period of considerable challenge.

 Increased the number of forms and data points reported through Liquid Logic to further enhance the rigour of our case recording 
and performance reporting.  The development of the Fostering Service dashboard as an example has enabled greater senior 
leadership oversight and direction of this important area of practice.

P
age 146



7

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and Lead 
Officer

Chief Fire 
Officer’s 
Assurance 
Statement

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS)

GFRS are on an improvement journey and all the work being carried out will move them 
towards being fully compliant in all areas of governance. However the Service acknowledges 
that this will take time. A full and robust internal restructure has been completed to secure 
additional resources which included extensive staff consultation.  Following the release of the 
internal audits last year, an Improvement Board has been established which is made up of both 
GFRS and GCC senior directors, project management staff and the cabinet portfolio member, 
the Local Government Association have also attended and supported this.  Internal Audit will 
also be undertaking follow up reviews to provide the independent assurances on progress. As 
part of the wider integration development plan, the GCC Core Values have been rolled out and 
aligned across the Service.  Staff workshops have been set up to allow staff to raise concerns 
with fortnightly staff briefings also taking place.

Along with the audit findings which are being addressed through the Improvement Board, two 
causes for concern have been identified following the HMICFRS (Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services) Inspection Report and these are in relation to 
Culture and Values and Business Fire Safety.  Action and progress is currently underway in 
both of these areas and again, are being regularly reviewed as part of the Improvement Board. 
Finally, the former Chief Fire Officer has been formally charged with fraud and this case is now 
ongoing.  

Recommendations implementation will continue to be overseen by the Audit and Governance 
Committee thereby providing the relevant assurances that these are being addressed in a 
timely manner.

Actions and progress 
are monitored by the 
Improvement Board 
monthly and the Audit 
and Governance 
Committee biannually.

Chief Fire Officer

P
age 147



8

Position as at December 2020

Despite the significant impact of COVID 19 on the day to day operation of GFRS and the associated need to maintain frontline 
emergency services; GFRS has contributed considerable resources and expertise to the COVID pandemic response across 
Gloucestershire.  The focus on improvement and service development remains unaltered.  

The restructure was implemented in April 2020 with a planned review date, as a result a further evolution of the structure is being 
consulted on with staff and changes will be made by April 2021.  This supports the key functions of the service by reducing the breadth 
of some roles in order to provide capacity for improvement.

Following the previous restructure and the establishment of functions that were ‘missing’ from the structure e.g. national operational 
guidance and operational assurance capability, it has become apparent that further capacity will be required in these areas to develop 
at the pace required locally and to meet the demands of sector wide developments coordinated by the National Fire Chiefs Council as 
part of the Home Office expectation under the fire transformation programme.

The Business Fire Safety function has a clear improvement plan which is being reviewed to be accelerated in order to complete fire 
safety audits in a shortened timeframe. Collaboration with other fire and rescue services will secure expert Fire Engineer capacity and 
provide peer challenge opportunities for quality assurance.  HMICFRS have acknowledged the positive direction of travel against this 
cause of concern.  

The GCC Organisational Development approach has evolved and short term dedicated business partner support is now in place to 
assist the GFRS cultural development cause of concern in line with the GCC approach to ensure further integration of GFRS with the 
wider organisation.  This approach is balancing the local aspiration with the fire sector wide work flowing from the National Fire Chiefs 
Council as part of the Home Office Fire Transformation Programme.  A new promotion and progression procedure has been developed 
after significant staff consultation which addresses previous concerns about openness and transparency.  Coupled with a significant 
number of permanent appointments to temporary posts this is providing much needed stability and role modelling of the intended 
approach to values based leadership and inclusivity.  Managers are also undertaking employment law and performance management 
training to improve the early management of workplace relationships and performance and how to conduct high quality investigations 
and hearings where required.  This will support consistency, confidence and clearly demonstrate the expected high standards required 

P
age 148



9

of all staff within GFRS.

GFRS has now established a portfolio management office (PMO) as part of the service governance arrangements.  The PMO has 
oversight of all projects and programmes of work to ensure prioritisation, resourcing and progress against the work programme.  This is 
supported by a refreshed approach to business and team plans which will be linked to individual staff appraisals and key performance 
indicators for teams linking to the IRMP objectives and GCC corporate indicators.  Priority areas of work within the PMO are IRMP 
development, business planning and fleet and equipment strategies, these priorities will support more effective engagement with the 
GFRS and GCC governance arrangements to ensure that revenue and capital MTFS timescales are complied with which has been 
problematic during this initial period of improving the governance within the service. 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) undertook a virtual inspection of the GFRS 
response to COVID 19 and their findings will be published in January 2021, initial indications are that HMICFRS were positive about the 
work of GFRS in relation to COVID 19.  The follow up cause of concern visit to business fire safety was postponed from late 2020 (due 
to the COVID 19 inspection programme) and will be scheduled for quarter 1 of 2021.  The second cycle of full inspections will begin in 
2021 and GFRS will be inspected in tranche 2 (44 FRS’s are separated into 3 tranches of 14 or 15 services).  Tranche 2 inspections 
will commence with document requests in May/June 2021, fieldwork in Autumn 2021 to Spring 2022 (GFRS are in the earlier stages of 
tranche 2) with the results published in summer 2022. 

Significant progress is being made against the 124 audit actions (arising from 118 audit recommendations).  Oversight by the GFRS 
Improvement Board is providing challenge and assurance that the agreed actions are being implemented appropriately.  Where the 
audit action is satisfactorily completed but further work would create additional organisational learning or effectiveness the additional 
development is transferred to the wider GFRS improvement plan for oversight by the GFRS Portfolio Management Office (PMO) and 
SLT.

Follow up process development

 The Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) team have worked directly with the GFRS Performance and Improvement Manager and GFRS 
Planning, Strategy and Performance Team from quarter 4 2019/20 to ensure an appropriate process with accessible audit trail to 
enable Internal Audit follow up delivery. 

P
age 149



10

 GFRS audit trail is accessed via Microsoft Teams. This includes Board papers, the GFRS recommendation tracker and ratification 
reports with supporting audit documentation per Internal Audit recommendation. 

 The Board was attended by ARA initially in May 2020, to enable understanding of Board agenda content and approach. 

 From June 2020 onwards, relevant ARA auditors have attended Board meetings on a monthly basis and have been able to engage 
in discussions, challenge as appropriate and raise relevant queries. Internal Audit follow up activity on an individual 
recommendation basis also commenced from June 2020.

Each Board meeting attended by ARA was chaired by the Chief Fire Officer and followed a set agenda including updates from GFRS 
Area Leads regards specific audit recommendations. It was evident through the meetings that Board members actively queried and 
challenged the position on each presented recommendation, to ensure assurance provided by the GFRS Area Lead was appropriately 
evidenced to enable Board formal sign off. 

ARA continues to work with the GFRS Performance and Improvement Manager to support further development regards Internal Audit 
access to audit trail and the audit trail content.  

GFRS Improvement Board Position Statement

As at 17th December 2020, the Board has signed off 91 (73%) out of the 124 actions (from 118 audit recommendation) total as 
implemented. These are detailed in the below table:

GFRS Improvement Board position as at 17th 
December 2020

Total audit recommendations / actions 118 audit recommendations.
6 recommendations were split out by GFRS into an 
interim action and a medium term action, totalling 124 
actions within the GFRS Improvement Board tracker. 
The 6 split recommendations were relevant to budget 
monitoring; budget setting; income and cash handling; 
disposals; and procurement cards. 

P
age 150



11

Actions confirmed as implemented by the 
Board 

91

Actions in progress 16
Actions in progress with the wider 
organisation (GCC)

17

 
The positive direction of travel has continued since October and the statistics being prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee 
Meeting in January 2021 will show that:

 “Actions confirmed as implemented by the Board” have increased; 

 Actions confirmed by Audit as “Agreed – No Further Action Required”  have increased; and

 “Actions awaiting feedback from GCC” are decreasing.

The report for the Audit and Governance Committee Meeting on 30th October 2020 concluded that as at October 2020:

 Covid-19 has placed significant pressures on public services and has impacted (and continues to impact) the Council’s and GFRS’s 
priorities, objectives and risk environment. Even during this very challenging period, the Board has made positive progress and 
applied a strong drive to complete the implementation of the Internal Audit recommendations with their target to have all 
recommendations implemented by 2020/21 year end. 

 Internal Audit recognises the hard work that GFRS has placed into addressing the audit recommendations in a timely manner, 
particularly continuing to focus on these actions during the pandemic, which has not been an easy task and demonstrates a strong 
commitment to driving good governance within GFRS.

 A further Internal Audit Follow Up Progress Report is scheduled to be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee at the 
March 2021 meeting or potentially sooner if all recommendations have been implemented.

The report contained additional feedback from GFRS Improvement Board Members and attendees which supports the cultural journey 

P
age 151

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s66188/GFRS%20Follow%20Up%20report%20v2.1.pdf


12

within GFRS as known and latterly confirmed by the HMICFRS inspection.  

Learning identified through this process is being shared with departments across GCC resulting in organisational policy and procedure 
changes for the benefit of the whole council.

The PMO within GFRS is in the process of phasing the wider development programme which will begin fully in 2021.  Capacity to 
undertake this work has been created by the focus on addressing the audit actions to clear this work.  The development plan will be 
presented to CLT in February 2021.

The Chief Fire Officer will attend the January 2021 Audit and Governance Committee meeting to provide a progress update and answer 
questions from the committee.

P
age 152



13

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and Lead 
Officer

Director’s 
Assurance 
Statement

The recruitment and retention of employees in hard to fill, critical positions 

There is increasing evidence that we are struggling to recruit and retain qualified and 
experience staff in certain critical positions.  There are a number of factors influencing this 
including a lack of those with the right skills and experience, the increasing buoyant job market, 
our salaries are falling behind other councils and the private sector as well as the perception of 
local government.  In addition, the aging profile of our workforce means that there is an ongoing 
loss of key experienced workers.

Actions in response to the above: 

 Development of a workforce plan that highlights critical, hard to fill roles and areas where 
critical individuals are likely to move on with targeted succession plans;

 Review of our employment offer and recruitment practice to improve promotion of 
Gloucestershire County Council as a place to work and the County as a place to live;

 Review of our pay and grading structure and benchmarking of key roles to ensure that our 
offer is competitive including use of market supplements and other payments where 
appropriate;

 A targeted recruitment and retention programme for children’s social workers;

 A ‘grow our own’ programme for key roles utilising the apprenticeship levy including areas 
such as future managers, lawyers, project managers, social workers, planning, highways 

31st March 2021

Director of Digital and 
People Services

P
age 153



14

and professional support roles; and

 An apprenticeship programme targeted at schools and college leavers to encourage them 
to work in local government.

Position as at December 2020

Council Wide 

A ‘grow our own’ programme for key roles utilising the apprenticeship levy including areas such as future managers, lawyers, project 
managers, social workers, planning, highways and professional support roles. 

The apprenticeship programme for progression for existing staff has grown significantly over the last two years. All areas apart from 
lawyers have/are being covered. There are discussions within Legal Services about the progression routes.  We have four current 
members of staff undertaking Law programmes at level 3 and level 6. 

An apprenticeship programme targeted at schools and college leavers to encourage them to work in local government.

The ‘School Leavers’ programme has been a positive approach as an introduction and is due to draw to a close in August 2020. All 
eight are on course to complete. We currently have 53 recruited apprentices across the organisation with an average age of 20 years 
old.

Corporate Resources and Economy, Environment and Infrastructure

Hard to fill posts have been identified in relation, particularly to experienced Childcare lawyers where targeted advertising campaigns 
and the use of welcome payments have not yielded the quantity and calibre of applicants desired due to the limited numbers of 
potential recruits. Therefore, a longer term but more sustainable strategy is being put in place to recruit paralegal staff keen to qualify 
as a solicitor and to support them through training while giving them experience in-house. The ‘grow our own’ approach will also be 
applied in relation to posts within other areas of law where in general local authority salaries are not as attractive as those candidates 
can obtain in the private sector. 

Market Rate supplements have been applied to Highways Major Projects, Transport Planning and HDM posts where salaries and 

P
age 154



15

benefit packages are not as attractive as those in central government or private sector organisations. At the same time, the use of 
apprenticeships to develop skill sets, knowledge and experience for future roles is increasing, particularly in Highways and in planning 
more broadly.

Work has also been undertaken within Strategy and Challenge to develop generic Project Managers for the future by a cross 
organisation apprenticeship training programme. 

All the work above will be a continuing exercise as the investment and results are for a sustainable and longer term approach to the 
issues around recruitment and retention.

Fire and Rescue Service 

A Workforce Planning Group has been established to co-ordinate and oversee the approach to workforce planning at GFRS including 
oversight of succession planning, future skills requirements and gaps, talent management and development pathways for specialist and 
hard to fill positions.  An agreed service wide approach to workforce planning has also been developed and will be launched in the near 
future. The Workforce Planning Group reviews regular management information in support of recruitment and retention and provides 
strategic governance for positive action to increase our representation from under represented groups. Firefighter apprenticeships, with 
a recruitment campaign for Wholetime Firefighters anticipated taking place during 2021.  

Adult Services

The  key ‘Hard to fill’ posts in Adult Social Care remain as in previous years, those of Experienced Social Workers and posts in Senior 
Social work roles.

This year has seen the introduction of Social Work Apprenticeships which enable us to offer a pathway to social work qualification to 
experienced social care assessors who have often been in their roles for a number of years and are geographically committed to the 
county for personal and family reasons. These individuals bring a maturity and stability to the workforce and it is good that we are able 
to offer these opportunities after the demise of the previous costly traineeships. It has also been possible to offer relocation payments to 
appointees in certain hard to fill roles and to improve our attraction package by the further development of a career map within the 
service. 

P
age 155



16

Roles Turnover Q4 17/18 to Q2 20/21 Current turnover rate 
Qualified SW roles Between 10.3% to 18.0% 10.7%
ASC Not Qualified Roles (incl. Learning Disabilities Between 5.7% to 15.0% 5.7%
Front-line SW (ASYE,SW,SSW): between 10.4% and 20.2% 12.98%

Overall ISC Turnover: between 8.8% and 15.1% 8.8% 

Children’s Services 

The key hard to fill posts are experienced social workers; those who have in the main have completed their ASYE and have post ASYE 
experience.  We have also found it difficult to recruit high quality team managers.  

We have introduced a number of different recruitment pipelines to increase our social worker staff group.  These include recruiting from 
overseas, using recruitment agencies to source permanent experience social workers.  

Whilst we have also introduced the apprenticeship for those who wish to train to become a social worker, this will continue to 
strengthen our ASYE population, but will build our pipeline for the future. This does put us at risk of an inexperienced workforce, which 
we are managing with agency workers, whilst we are supporting AYSEs to build up their practice experience.  

We review our salaries on a yearly basis and we adjust the welcome and retention payments in line with the market.  We have a 
dedicated Social Work Academy, which offers training and development not just to ASYEs but to staff across children’s services.  
Supervision is more focused and regular than it has been previously and the introduction of the new NAAS framework offers further 
career development and structure in relation to professional development.

Year Vacancy rate Agency rate Turnover rate 
April 2018 32.78% 33.5% 17.9%
April 2019 26.78% 37.9% 17.4%
April 2020 18.96% 30.06% 12.9%
December 2020 12.68% 24.42% 15.0%

P
age 156



17

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and Lead 
Officer

Corporate 
Governance

Covid-19 Impact on Governance

In late March 2020 the Government announced a national lockdown and advised that all 
employees should work from home except those engaged in essential services who were 
unable to work from home. The Council implemented home working during the week 
commencing 16th March 2020. There were a number of consequences that impacted upon the 
governance of the Council:

 The Council bi-election which was due to be held on 26th March 2020 was suspended;

 Council and committee meetings were suspended until further notice;

 Where necessary, decisions were either taken by officers under the Council’s scheme of 
delegation using urgency provisions where appropriate and having sought the required 
authorisations, or postponed;

 The Chief Executive met weekly with all Group Leaders to share information and discuss 
issues or concerns arising from members;

 The Council complied with the relevant Procurement Policy Notices issued by the Cabinet 
Office which ensured that suppliers were paid promptly, direct awards made for urgently 
needed goods and services and where relevant relief given to suppliers who would be 
critical in supporting the recovery;

 Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) met frequently (remotely and reducing over time to 2/3 
times per week) to share information and direct the Council's response to the pandemic;

Ongoing 

Chief Executive

P
age 157



18

 Council Officers contributed to national, regional, county-wide response and resilience 
groups to co-ordinate the response to the pandemic;

 A major community led response to providing support and assistance to the vulnerable and 
those in need, was developed by the Local Authorities, community and commercial 
organisations and individuals; and

 Communications channels were opened to keep Councillors and staff informed as the 
pandemic, and the Council's response developed. 

The Council has responded by:

 Setting up an internal emergency response structure, including gold, silver and bronze 
levels with cells to target specific tactical issues, in line with best practice. The governance 
structure can be found here;

 Putting measures in place to re-establish democratic decision-making and Overview and 
Scrutiny using digital/remote technologies;

 Establishing and monitoring a Covid-19 organisational risk register;

 Developing Business Continuity Management plans for all service areas and coordinated on 
an ongoing basis by a Business Continuity Management cell; 

 Continuing to ensure that executive decisions are recorded in line with the requirements of 
the constitution;

 Ensuring best practice is followed in terms of documenting and recording operational 
decision-making in response to the emergency;

 Maintaining delivery of the majority of Council Services via home working;

P
age 158

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2098625/covid-19-response-structure.pdf


19

 Supporting and co-ordinating a significant community led response to the pandemic 
including the administration of a £80k community fund and local delivery of a Community 
Help Hub; and

 Developing and implementing a Recovery Plan to return (restart suspended services), 
retain (keep and sustain any improved new ways of working), resist (resist the temptation to 
simply return to doing thigs as before) and reimagine (consider new ways of delivering 
services after the pandemic).

Position as at December 2020

The pandemic has continued to impact upon the Council in a number of ways, the most significant of which are:

 The continuing need for the vast majority of staff to continue to work from home on an extended basis.

 The introduction and implementation of new powers, duties and responsibilities in order to control and manage the spread of Covid-
19.

 The challenges of adapting council premises and services in order to continue to serve the local population whilst minimising the 
risk of exposure to the virus to the public and staff.

 The need to provide support towards the resilience of local communities and people against financial hardship resulting from the 
virus, in particular vulnerable children, families, adults and older people.

 The task of leading planning for economic resilience and recovery across local partners.

In order to rise to these challenges and maintain robust Governance, the Council has:

 Adapted its internal emergency response structures to be better suited to the enduring nature of the emergency.  This has included 
twice weekly GOLD meetings, weekly SILVER meetings incorporating tactical management of the pandemic with co-ordination of 
GCC’s recovery activity and operational BRONZE meetings for relevant service areas.

P
age 159



20

 Agreeing a Local Outbreak Management Plan and putting in place partnership structures for its governance and delivery.

 Continued to support the full range of Council and Committee meetings to operate in a virtual environment using web-conferencing 
software.

 Keeping county councillors informed about the emergency response through regular all member email briefings.

 Continuing to promote transparent and compliant decision making by ensuring that all executive decisions are published on the 
Council’s website in accordance with the law and the constitution.

 Providing a wide range of weekly data and intelligence on the impact of the pandemic to support Council decision-making.

 Continuing to maintain a Covid-19 risk register and reviewing it on a regular basis.

 Putting in place clear protocols and templates to govern the use of new powers of direction and enforcement.

 Keeping Business Continuity Plans under constant review, and putting in place a clear protocol for assessing risk and taking 
decisions around service closure and reinstatement in response to changes in the prevalence of Covid in the community and 
government guidance.

 Establishing processes for recording, monitoring and reporting Covid-related spend in order to ensure that additional funding is used 
appropriately and effectively, and to manage the impact of the pandemic on the Council’s financial sustainability.

 Ensuring appropriate governance and decision making is in place for Emergency Grant Funding to support individuals in crisis as a 
result of the pandemic.

 Ensuring that information governance requirements are met with respect to all new activities involving the processing of personal 
data, including putting in place Data Privacy Notices and conducting Data Privacy Impact Assessments and secure infrastructure for 
compliant transfer of data between partners.

P
age 160



21

 Establishing processes for the rapid recruitment and redeployment of staff (often at short notice) to support the emergency 
response, including local test and trace activity, welfare checks and enforcement support for those self-isolating, outbreak 
management and mass testing pilots.

 Continuing to ensure that procurement decisions are taken appropriately, including making use of emergency powers where 
appropriate.

 Rolling out updated DSE self-assessments to ensure that staff have an appropriate working environment and making additional 
equipment available to staff in order that they can work safety from home.

 Adapting all Council premises to be Covid safe, providing advice to site managers and schools and carrying out spot checks to 
ensure compliance.

 Commissioning additional support for staff for mental health and wellbeing and personal resilience, and providing advice and 
training to managers.

 Monitoring staff health and wellbeing through a series of online pulse surveys, and weekly monitoring of sickness/absence data by 
GOLD.

P
age 161



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 22nd January 2021 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Services (GFRS) Internal Audit 
Follow Up – Progress Report 2020/21

Purpose of Report: The purpose of this report is to:

 Provide assurance to the Audit and Governance Committee that 
the Internal Audit recommendations made in relation to the 
independent investigation of GFRS have been / are being 
addressed; and

 Inform Members of the progress of GFRS Internal Audit Follow 
Up activity undertaken up to 17th December 2020.  

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee reviews 
and considers the actions taken to address the recommendations made 
and progress to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Stephanie Payne – Group Manager, Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) 
(Deputy Chief Internal Auditor)
Tel: 01452 328899
stephanie.payne@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Paul Blacker - Director of Finance 
Tel: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Failure to deliver an effective corporate governance framework 
prevents GFRS and the Council in directing and controlling its 
resources effectively and efficiently, to enable their priorities and 
objectives to be met.

Page 163

Agenda Item 9

mailto:stephanie.payne@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – 
Progress Report

December 2020

Page 165



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0

Distribution

Co
nt

ents
1. Introduction................................................................................................................................1

2. GFRS Improvement Board........................................................................................................1

3. Audit Scope ...............................................................................................................................2

4. Key Findings as at December 2020 ..........................................................................................3

5. Conclusion/Position as at December 2020 ...............................................................................5

Appendix 1 – Original GFRS Internal Audit recommendations .....................................................7

Appendix 2 – Internal Audit assurance opinion and recommendation definitions .......................10

Appendix 3 – Recommendations verified as implemented by Internal Audit during the period 6th 
October 2020 to 17th December 2020 .........................................................................................11

Appendix 4 – Corporate recommendations that require implementation following on from GFRS 
activity as at 17th December 2020 ...............................................................................................29

Important

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein 
is subject to data protection legislation.

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 
and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 
its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 
without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor.

Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 
arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To: 

 

Gloucestershire County Council Audit and Governance Committee 

GFRS Improvement Board

Page 166



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 1

1. Introduction
On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council.  There 
were three strands to the complaint; one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the previous Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement 
in the process.  The other two concerns were regarding staffing issues.  It was agreed that 
Internal Audit would investigate the sale of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would 
review the remaining two concerns.

Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 
of Information Requests (FOIs) in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 
arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received.  As a result, following 
Internal Audit review, research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant 
GFRS Officers, Internal Audit co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific 
and council-wide/cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within 
each area to determine the level of risk.  These reviews/audits were outlined in the Action Plan 
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018 and the last of the 
audit outcomes were presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on 11th October 2019. 

Each published GFRS Internal Audit report contained an action plan detailing audit 
recommendations, agreed by management, for implementation. A total of 18 audits were 
undertaken which generated 118 individual audit recommendations (High Priority and Medium 
Priority).  Eleven of the audits were given limited assurance opinions either for risk 
management, the control environment or both.

A summary of the 18 audits are included at Appendix 1. Definitions for internal audit assurance 
opinions and recommendation priorities are detailed at Appendix 2.  

2. GFRS Improvement Board 
Following discussions between the CFO, Assistant Chief Fire Officer (ACFO) and 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) HR at the beginning of August 2019 the GFRS 
Improvement Board was established.  

The remit of the Board includes the GFRS Internal Audit Action Plan outcomes and actions 
required from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS) inspection 2019/20. In addition, the Board’s goal is to consider the wider picture of 
collective improvement for GFRS.

The main purpose, role and expectation of the Board as per the Board terms of reference is to:

 Maintain oversight to ensure that all the required improvements and quality assurances 
are achieved by Area Leads in a timely manner;  

 Add weight and rigour towards achieving the required outcomes; 

Page 167



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 2

 Take an overview of Area Leads’ actions (highlights and exceptions) and to address the 
findings;

 Support Area Leads by removing barriers where progress is hampered by elements 
outside of their control;

 Review the evidence, by way of Ratification Reports and supporting information supplied 
by Area Leads, which demonstrates that improvements are embedded within the 
organisation by the implementation of robust systems, processes, policies and 
procedures.  This will all be reported and monitored through the development of a tracker 
system that both GFRS and GCC staff (including Internal Audit) will have access to; and

 Be answerable to and to report progress or otherwise to, the following committees for 
consideration, Scrutiny and ultimately, for final ratification: Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service Senior Leadership Team; and Audit and Governance Committee.

 The GFRS Improvement Board membership is as follows:

 Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries;

 Chief Fire Officer (Chair);

 Commissioning Director (GCC);

 Assistant Chief Fire Officers; 

 Interim Head of Planning, Performance and Improvement (GCC);

 GFRS Performance and Communications Manager;

 Interim Area Manager; 

 Project Manager (GCC Planning, Performance and Improvement); 

 GFRS Planning, Strategy and Performance Team members; and

 Additional attendees as called to the meetings (including Internal Audit, HMICFRS and 
wider GFRS representation). 

GFRS Improvement Board meetings have been completed monthly since September 2019. 

3. Audit Scope  
ARA GFRS Action Plan follow up activity captures actions against Internal Audit 
recommendations only. HMICFRS recommendation review is excluded from the ARA work and 
will by monitored by the GFRS Improvement Board with oversight from HMICFRS. 

Page 168



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 3

The Internal Audit follow-up activity will review all High Priority recommendations from non-
limited assurance reports and all High Priority and Medium Priority recommendations from 
limited assurance reports to ensure timely implementation of the agreed recommendations.

The audit follow-up approach has been agreed with GFRS to provide the necessary assurances 
to the GFRS Improvement Board, Gloucestershire County Council’s Chief Internal Auditor and 
the Audit and Governance Committee. This includes:

 To enable efficiency and avoid duplication, ARA will place reliance, where possible, on 
the GFRS tracker system that is being used by the GFRS Improvement Board to monitor 
the implementation of the Internal Audit and HMICFRS recommendations;

 Relevant ARA auditors will attend relevant GFRS Improvement Board meetings where 
progress updates in terms of implementation of recommendations will be presented by 
GFRS Area Leads.  Following additional audit testing and review of evidence, ARA 
auditors will update the GFRS tracker system within the agreed areas until such time as 
all the recommendations have been verified as implemented; and

 If new recommendations are made as part of the follow-up activity, these will be added to 
the tracker system in consultation with GFRS senior management and the same process 
will be applied to follow up the implementation of those recommendations.

To ensure consistency and management of expectations, ARA has ensured that the original 
GFRS Action Plan lead auditors have been allocated to deliver the Internal Audit follow up 
activity.

The CFO and Chief Internal Auditor have agreed for updates as to progress to be presented to 
the Audit and Governance Committee twice a year (as a minimum) until all actions are 
confirmed by GFRS Improvement Board as implemented and the position has been verified 
(through review and testing) by Internal Audit.  

This is the second GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up Progress Report to Audit and Governance 
Committee. The first report was presented to Audit and Governance Committee on 30th October 
2020. 

4. Key Findings as at December 2020  
Follow up process development

The ARA team have worked directly with the GFRS Performance and Improvement Manager 
and GFRS Planning, Strategy and Performance Team from quarter 4 2019/20 to ensure an 
appropriate process with accessible audit trail to enable Internal Audit follow up delivery. 

GFRS audit trail is accessed via Microsoft Teams. This includes Board papers, the GFRS 
recommendation tracker and ratification reports with supporting audit documentation per 
Internal Audit recommendation. 

Page 169



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 4

The Board was attended by ARA initially in May 2020, to enable understanding of Board 
agenda content and approach. 

From June 2020 onwards, relevant ARA auditors have attended Board meetings on a monthly 
basis and have been able to engage in discussions, challenge as appropriate and raise relevant 
queries. Internal Audit follow up activity on an individual recommendation basis also 
commenced from June 2020.

Each Board meeting attended by ARA was chaired by the CFO and followed a set agenda 
including updates from GFRS Area Leads regards specific audit recommendations. It was 
evident through the meetings that Board members actively queried and challenged the position 
on each presented recommendation, to ensure assurance provided by the GFRS Area Lead 
was appropriately evidenced to enable Board formal sign off. 

ARA continues to work with the GFRS Performance and Improvement Manager to support 
further development regards Internal Audit access to audit trail and the audit trail content.  

GFRS Improvement Board Recommendations Position Statement

As at 17th December 2020, the Board has signed off 91 (73%) out of the 124 actions (from 118 
audit recommendation) total as implemented. These are detailed in the below table:

GFRS Improvement Board position as at 
17th December 2020

Total audit recommendations / actions 118 audit recommendations.

6 recommendations were split out by GFRS 
into an interim action and a medium term 
action, totalling 124 actions within the GFRS 
Improvement Board tracker. 

The 6 split recommendations were relevant to 
budget monitoring; budget setting; income 
and cash handling; disposals; and 
procurement cards. 

Actions confirmed as implemented by the 
Board 

91 (previously 78 as at 6th October 2020)

Actions in progress 16 (previously 17 as at 6th October 2020)

Actions in progress with the wider 
organisation (GCC)

17 (previously 29 as at 6th October 2020)

 

Page 170



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 5

Internal Audit’s Recommendations Position Statement

As at 17th December 2020, Internal Audit can confirm that in total:

 The 91 actions signed off by Board as implemented are relevant to 86 (73%) audit 
recommendations out of the 118 recommendation total;

 12 (10%) recommendations do not require Internal Audit follow up due to being Medium 
Priority recommendations from non Limited assurance opinion GFRS Action Plan internal 
audit reports;

 27 (23%) recommendations (previously 12 recommendations as at October 2020) have 
been verified by Internal Audit as implemented, with no further action required by GFRS 
Improvement Board. This includes all recommendations relevant to the GFRS 
Procurement Cards and GFRS Retirement internal audits; 

 2 interim actions (previously 2 interim actions as at October 2020) have been verified by 
Internal Audit as implemented, with the medium term action to be completed (in line with 
the management response to the relevant original review); 

 1 recommendation (GFRS Procurement recommendation 4) requires no further GFRS 
Improvement Board action, due to being a GCC corporate recommendation to be 
reviewed by ARA directly with the confirmed GCC lead officer and reported separately to 
Committee; and

 The ARA lead auditors continue to review and test recommendations marked by the 
Board as ‘Awaiting Approval By Audit’. The goal per recommendation is to ensure that 
audit trail and testing confirm the recommendation and management response as 
actioned and embedded.  

Appendix 3 details the GFRS audit recommendations verified as implemented by Internal Audit 
during the period 6th October 2020 to 17th December 2020. Appendix 4 confirms the Corporate 
recommendations that require implementation following on from GFRS activity as at 17th 
December 2020. 

GFRS Improvement Board outcomes / comments

The Board has now been in place for over a full year and continues to co-ordinate and progress 
the Internal Audit recommendations. 

5. Conclusion/Position as at December 2020  
Covid 19 has placed significant pressures on public services and has impacted (and continues 
to impact) the Council’s and GFRS’s priorities, objectives and risk environment. Even during this 
very challenging period, the Board continues to make positive progress and applies a strong 
drive to complete the implementation of the Internal Audit recommendations with their target to 
have all recommendations implemented by 2020/21 year end. 

Page 171



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 6

Internal Audit recognises the hard work that GFRS continues to place in addressing the audit 
recommendations in a timely manner, particularly prioritising and focusing on these actions 
during the pandemic, which has not been an easy task and demonstrates a strong commitment 
to driving good governance within GFRS.

A further Internal Audit Follow Up Progress Report is scheduled to be presented to the Audit 
and Governance Committee at the March 2021 meeting. 

Page 172



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 7

Appendix 1 – Original GFRS Internal Audit recommendations

Assurance Opinions*** Internal Audit recommendations raised*** 
(including number of recommendations for follow 
up by Internal Audit)

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audits 

Risk 
Identification 
Maturity

Control 
Environment

High Priority Medium 
Priority

Total 

Date audit findings 
were reported to 
Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

GFRS - Gifts and 
Hospitality and 
Declarations of 
Interest

Limited Limited 3 (3) 2 (2) 5 (5) 25th April 2019

GFRS Budget 
Monitoring 

Substantial Satisfactory 4 (4) 0 (0) 4 (4) 25th April 2019

GFRS Budget Setting Substantial Satisfactory 1 (1) 1 (0) 2 (1) 25th April 2019
GFRS Capital 
programme

Satisfactory Satisfactory 0 (0) 4 (0) 4 (0) 26th July 2019

GFRS Fleet – 
Commissioning of new 
vehicles

Limited (with a 
few Satisfactory 
aspects)

Limited 4 (4) 3 (3) 7 (7) 26th July 2019

GFRS Fleet – 
Disposal of vehicles

Limited Limited 12 (12) 2 (2) 14 (14) 26th July 2019

GFRS Fleet – 
Maintenance and 
Stores

Satisfactory Limited 8 (8) 6 (6) 14 (14) 25th April 2019

P
age 173



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 8

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audits 

Assurance Opinions*** Internal Audit recommendations raised*** 
(including number of recommendations for follow 
up by Internal Audit)

Date audit findings 
were reported to 
Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Risk 
Identification 
Maturity

Control 
Environment

High Priority Medium 
Priority

Total 

GFRS Fleet 
management – use of 
pool cars, personal 
and leased cars and 
fuel schemes 

Limited Limited 5 (5) 0 (0) 5 (5) 11th October 2019

GFRS Governance N/A N/A 3 (3) 1 (0) 4 (3) 25th January 2019
GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Absence reporting 
procedures

Satisfactory Satisfactory 3 (3) 0 (0) 3 (3) 26th July 2019

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Expenses and 
service benefits

Limited Limited 11 (11) 4 (4) 15 (15) 11th October 2019

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Progression

Limited Limited 5 (5) 1 (1) 6 (6) 25th April 2019

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Recruitment

Satisfactory Limited 3 (3) 0 (0) 3 (3) 25th April 2019

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Retirement

Satisfactory Satisfactory 2 (2) 1 (0) 3 (2) 25th April 2019

GFRS Income and 
cash handling

Satisfactory Satisfactory 3 (3) 5 (0) 8 (3) 26th July 2019

GFRS Procurement Limited Limited 7 (7) 1 (1) 8 (8) 26th July 2019
GFRS Procurement 
Cards

Limited Limited 7 (7) 1 (1) 8 (8) 25th April 2019

P
age 174



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 9

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audits 

Assurance Opinions*** Internal Audit recommendations raised*** 
(including number of recommendations for follow 
up by Internal Audit)

Date audit findings 
were reported to 
Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Risk 
Identification 
Maturity

Control 
Environment

High Priority Medium 
Priority

Total 

Syrian Refugee Grant Satisfactory Limited 4 (4) 1 (1) 5 (5) 11th October 2019
Total 85 (85) 33 (21) 118 (106)

***See Appendix 2 for the internal audit assurance opinion and recommendation definitions. 

P
age 175



               Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 10

Appendix 2 – Internal Audit assurance opinion and 
recommendation definitions 
ARA Internal Audit assurance opinion definitions: 

Assurance 
Levels Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment
Substantial Risk Managed

Service area fully aware of the risks relating 
to the area under review and the impact that 
these may have on service delivery, other 
services, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and 
staff. All key risks are accurately reported and 
monitored in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – 
Robust framework of 
controls ensures that there 
is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area have an awareness of the risks 
relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff. However 
some key risks are not being accurately 
reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – 
Sufficient framework of key 
controls for objectives to 
be achieved but, control 
framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied but 
with some lapses

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurate and regular 
reporting and monitoring of the key risks in 
line with the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy, the Service area has not 
demonstrated an adequate awareness of the 
risks relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk 
of objectives not being 
achieved due to the 
absence of key internal 
controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in 
the application of control

ARA Internal Audit recommendation priority definitions: 

Priority Description
High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, reputation, 

service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, service 
delivery and objectives of the organisation.

Page 176



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 11

Appendix 3 – Recommendations verified as implemented by Internal Audit during the period 6th 
October 2020 to 17th December 2020 
GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

Limited Assurance

GFRS Fleet 
Maintenance and 
Stores

High priority

1. Relevant GCC Financial Guidance, 
including Contract Standing Orders, 
Financial Regulations and Accounting 
Instructions should be brought to the 
attention of Fleet management and any 
other staff within Fleet that are involved in 
procurement.

An action plan will be put in place to 
address the findings and ensure that 
GFRS Fleet Management has full 
understanding and oversight of compliance 
with the required policies, procedures and 
regulations.

Recommendation implemented.

The Workshop Manager - Fleet 
Management and the Administrator for 
Logistics and Resources are the GFRS 
officers responsible for ordering goods and 
services relevant to fleet. Audit review of 
GFRS fleet training records confirmed that 
both officers received relevant training 
(Accounting Instruction 1, contract standing 
orders, etc) within 2019/20. The GFRS 
Finance team have also confirmed that 
financial training will be provided to other 
staff when requested by line managers for 
staff that require it as part of their role (i.e. 
where additional/new staff take on 
procurement roles). In addition, the GCC 
Strategic Procurement team has provided 
Part 1 of the Pro Contract Training to the 
Workshop Manager - Fleet Management 
within 2019/20 with Part 2 to be delivered 
at the point of audit follow up, having been 
postponed by GCC owing to Covid. 

GFRS Fleet Maintenance and Stores 
recommendation 2 actions also support 
recommendation 1 as implemented. 

P
age 177



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 12

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

Limited Assurance

GFRS Fleet 
Maintenance and 
Stores

High priority

2. Accounting Instruction No.1 should be 
updated to reflect the GCCs Constitution – 
Part 4 Contract Standing Orders relating to 
tendering goods and services. 

Once updated all GFRS staff who have 
responsibility for ordering goods and 
services should be made aware of the 
requirements.

Accounting Instruction number 1 is 
currently being updated. Once uploaded 
onto Staffnet, communication will be issued 
to GFRS staff.

Recommendation implemented.

Accounting Instruction 1(AI1) has been 
updated within 2019/20 by GCC Strategic 
Finance and the new version of the 
document is available to all staff via 
staffnet (the GCC intranet). Audit review 
has confirmed the updated version of AI1 
is aligned to GCC Constitution part 4 in 
relation to the expenditure thresholds for 
quotes and how the procurement should 
be approached. 

At the point of audit follow up, the 
Workshop Manager - Fleet Management 
and the Administrator for Logistics and 
Resources are the GFRS officers 
responsible for ordering goods and 
services relevant to fleet. Audit review of 
GFRS fleet training records confirmed that 
both officers received training on the 
updated AI1 and Contract Standing Orders 
in July 2019. In addition to the above, the 
GFRS Finance and Compliance Manager e 
mailed the updated AI1 to all GFRS budget 
holders and budget managers as at 
September 2019 to ensure wider 
awareness.

P
age 178



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 13

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

Limited Assurance

GFRS Fleet 
Maintenance and 
Stores

High priority

3. GFRS Fleet should ensure all 
purchasing is in accordance with GCC’s 
Contract Standing Orders with tendering 
undertaken and quotes received as 
required.

In addition, ensuring GCC’s e-procurement 
system is utilised in accordance with 
requirements.  

An action plan will be put in place to 
address the findings and ensure GFRS 
Fleet Management has full understanding 
and oversight of compliance with the 
required policies, procedures and 
regulations.

Recommendation implemented.

This recommendation is partly covered by 
the evidence for Fleet Maintenance and 
Stores recommendations 1 and 2 regards 
relevant Fleet staff training and awareness 
of accounting instructions related to 
purchasing.  

Internal Audit were also provided with 
evidence from the Strategic Procurement 
Team and GFRS Fleet Management in 
regard to the procurement of Driver 
License check software. This confirmed 
that a procurement exercise had been 
undertaken on Pro Contract for the 
services in line with Contract Standing 
Order requirements and had been awarded 
in April 2020 subsequent to the exercise 
being undertaken. Further evidence was 
provided demonstrating GFRS working 
alongside Strategic Procurement in 
2020/21 with purchase orders over £5k 
being entered on the Council’s Contract 
Register. 

Review of all purchase orders raised for 
the 2020/21 year to November 2020 
against the fleet cost centre 401206 was 
completed by Internal Audit and three 

P
age 179



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 14

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

purchase orders were identified to be over 
the £15k threshold with two of these 
procured through the Crown Commercial 
Services framework which was 
confirmed/evidenced by Strategic 
Procurement. The final purchase order for 
tyres was identified to not have been 
through a procurement exercise as 
required, however evidence provided 
confirmed Strategic Procurement are 
aware of this, have reflected the current 
position on the contracts register and will 
be supporting GFRS with the correct 
procurement process for future orders in 
this area. Internal Audit will review this 
action within 2021/22. 

Limited Assurance

GFRS Fleet 
Maintenance and 
Stores

Medium priority

4. Business continuity arrangements 
should be put in place within fleet to ensure 
business processes (specifically Tranman 
updates) will still be completed in the event 
of staff absences. Accounting Instruction 
No.4 - Inventories should be followed i.e. 
whenever new items are received and 
identified they must be entered on the 
inventory immediately.

An action plan will be put in place to 
address the findings and ensure that 
GFRS Fleet Management has full 
understanding and oversight of compliance 
with the required policy, procedure and 
regulations.

Recommendation implemented.

Since the time of the original audit, GFRS 
have begun to implement an updated 
Tranman system (fleet management 
system) and this is currently ongoing due 
to delays caused by Covid19. The current 
GFRS position on the updated Tranman 
system meets the recommendation 
requirements, to ensure that business 
continuity arrangements are in place for 
key data entry onto the fleet management 
system. 

P
age 180



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 15

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

During the original audit it was identified 
that there were only two staff members 
trained and able to use Tranman for job 
cards and stock inputting onto the 
Tranman system. The main issue was that 
the team were unable to keep up with the 
volume of information requiring input onto 
the Tranman system, with staff periods of 
leave causing delays or gaps in the 
inputting of data into Tranman. 

At the point of audit follow up, five officers 
(the Workshop Manager, Workshop 
Supervisor, Administrator for Logistics and 
Resources, Fleet Management 
Administrator and the Service Delivery 
Support Administrator for fleet) have all 
had training on the use of the new 
Tranman system. These staff members all 
use Tranman for the purpose of inputting 
stock and recording job cards for work 
completed against vehicles – providing 
resilience within the service for Tranman 
actions. The Workshop Manager also 
confirmed that to ensure segregation of 
duties, the wider workshop team do not 
have access to the system and are unable 
to amend stock files, input or change job 
cards. The recommendation has therefore 
been met as there are now business 

P
age 181



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 16

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

continuity arrangements in place (through 
appropriate officer training and cover) to 
ensure that job cards and stock files are 
maintained and updated in a timely 
manner.

Limited Assurance

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Progression

High priority

1. Recruitment/promotion for Green Book 
staff should be in accordance with GCC’s 
Starting Salary Policy.

Head of POD and GCC HR Business 
Partner to ensure that managers involved 
in recruitment/promotion are aware of 
policy and that required permissions are 
recorded.

Recommendation implemented.

Audit review confirmed that the GFRS’s 
Managers Guidance Green Book (through 
the updated policy guidance, SP003 
Section 04-4) contained appropriate links 
to GCC’s Staffnet (e.g. Recruitment 
process, SAP processes, HR Advice line 
etc.) and that the Starting Salary Policy is 
referenced during the recruitment process.

GFRS staff have been made aware of the 
updated policy through the bi-weekly 
briefing for policy updates issued to all 
GFRS staff on 30th November 2020 and 
through alternate communication on 7th 
December 2020.

Relevant managers at GFRS have 
completed recruitment training with GCC’s 
Recruitment and Resourcing Manager and 
this training is now standard for all new 
managers. This position has been verified 
through audit review of GFRS HR and 
Payroll – Recruitment recommendation 2.

P
age 182



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 17

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

By following GCC’s recruitment process, 
the Starting Salary Policy for Green Book 
staff is highlighted by and integrated within 
the recruitment and appointment process. 
In addition, SAP guidance states that when 
completing a new starter form on SAP it 
will automatically default to the bottom 
scale point of the grade. This can be 
changed manually, however verbal 
assurance from the BSC Recruitment 
Team has confirmed that where this occurs 
it will be flagged by the system and 
challenged by the Recruitment Team in the 
BSC.

Audit testing of SAP records show that 
between 1st May 2020 and 7th December 
2020 in relation to GFRS Green Book staff 
there were two new starters and three 
changes of position. The reviewed records 
confirm that the starting salary for all five 
individuals was in compliance with policy.

Limited Assurance

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Progression

High priority

4. All selection, evaluation and 
appointment decisions should be 
evidenced and these decisions should be 
held on the successful candidates’ 
personnel file, in line with the Council’s HR 
document retention schedule.

Ensure process to capture and record all 
stages of the appointments and 
progression decisions is known, 
understood and complied with across the 
service.

Recommendation implemented.

Grey and Green Book managers have 
attended recruitment training provided by 
GCC’s Recruitment Team and this training 
is now standard for all new managers (e.g. 
it has been added to the development 
pathways for Watch Manager and above).

P
age 183



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 18

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

Training slides have been viewed and the 
Recruitment and Resourcing Manager has 
confirmed by email that during the training 
the attendees were advised that all 
interview and selection notes should be 
forwarded to the Recruitment Team on 
completion of a recruitment process. 

The above position has been verified 
through audit review and testing of GFRS 
HR and Payroll – Recruitment 
recommendation 2.

The Ratification Report for this 
recommendation mentions that following a 
recruitment process earlier in the year 
some paperwork was being held back by 
the recruitment manager whilst all 
candidates were given feedback. The 
paperwork has not yet been handed to HR 
due to Covid restrictions but is being held 
securely whilst a response is obtained from 
HR as to how it can be handed over safely. 
The situation is being monitored by a 
member of GFRS staff to ensure that the 
handover is completed as soon as it is 
possible.

P
age 184



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 19

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

Limited Assurance

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Progression

High priority

6. Consideration is given to GCC HR 
having more corporate oversight of GFRS 
HR activities.

GCC HR already represented at SLT.  
Business Partner model strengthened 
between GFRS and GCC and compulsory 
inclusion of GCC HR Business Partner in 
all appointment, progression and transfer 
processes.  Existing discussion to be 
continued to explore enhancing HR 
support for the service.

Recommendation implemented.

Audit review identified that HR support 
delivery has been confirmed through a 
number of routes within 2019/20 and 
2020/21 to the point of audit follow up. This 
includes an agreed proposal from HR for 
HR review of all GFRS people 
management documents and policies; HR 
provision of the Human Resources & 
Organisational Development Service Offer 
2019 document (approved by GCC's 
Workforce Strategy Board in July 2019) to 
GFRS; and confirmation of the GFRS HR 
Partnership Provision in June 2020. The 
HR support offer is further supported by 
the Assistant HR Business Partner sitting 
on the GFRS Senior Leadership Team, as 
confirmed by the GFRS Improvement 
Board minutes 24th April 2020. 

The actions enable increased engagement 
between HR and GFRS, as well as 
improved HR oversight of GFRS HR 
activities on an ongoing basis e.g. through 
HR officer attendance and participation in 
the GFRS SLT. Audit comments on GFRS 
HR and Payroll – Recruitment 
recommendation 1 also confirm this 
recommendation as implemented.

P
age 185



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 20

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

Limited Assurance

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Recruitment

High priority

1. The level of HR support required from 
both GFRS and GCC in relation to the 
recruitment process should be formally 
agreed and documented. 

Review the support requirements relating 
to recruitment processes as part of the 
GCC/GFRS integration and business 
partner model. 
 

Recommendation implemented.

Comments as for GFRS HR and Payroll – 
Progression recommendation 6 (as above).

In addition to the above and to support a 
consistent recruitment approach, 
recruitment training was provided by 
GCC's Recruitment & Resourcing Manager 
to relevant GFRS staff, both Green Book 
and Grey Book, in September 2019. 
Evidence to support this includes the 
training slides and a list of course 
attendees from the GFRS training system. 

The Assistant HR Business Partner 
confirmed a positive direction of travel re. 
HR engagement - GFRS recruiting 
managers are increasingly using GCC's e-
Recruitment system and are contacting HR 
on occasions for support and assistance 
where required. HR staff have also been 
involved in some of the GFRS recruitment 
and interviewing processes, especially 
supporting managers who may be new to 
the process. 

Limited Assurance

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Recruitment

High priority

2. All recruitment selection, evaluation and 
appointment decision-making should be 

Interviewing staff to receive interview 
training which includes professional 
administrative practice. 

Recommendation implemented.

Recruitment training was provided by 
GCC's Recruitment and Resourcing 

P
age 186



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 21

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

evidenced and the decisions should be 
held on the successful candidates’ 
personnel file.

The evaluation paperwork for individuals 
who are not initially successful, but placed 
on the reserve list, should be retained for 
the period of time that they remain on the 
list.

Retention of other documentation should 
be as per the Council’s retention schedule.

Manager in September 2019 to relevant 
GFRS staff, including both Grey Book and 
Green Book. Appropriate audit trail was 
reviewed by ARA to confirm this actioned 
as delivered. Evidence to support this 
includes the training slides and a list of 
course attendees from GFRS' training 
system and from the Recruitment and 
Resourcing Manager. The training slides 
show the content of the training which 
covers the recruitment process, including 
the need to send all documentation to the 
BSC for scanning and retention on the 
individual's file. This is backed up by an 
email from the Recruitment and 
Resourcing Manager confirming that the 
training included advice that all interview 
and selection notes should be forwarded to 
the Recruitment Team. Confirmation was 
also received by email from GFRS that 
reserve lists are still maintained and all 
tests and interview notes are retained. The 
requirement to undertake recruitment 
training will be added to the development 
pathways for Watch Manager and above. 

Audit testing by ARA sampled two GFRS 
new starters from a population of 8 within 
September 2019 and review of their files 
on SmartOpen confirmed that all expected 

P
age 187



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 22

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

documentation had been scanned and 
saved to the sampled files. 

Limited Assurance

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Expenses and 
service benefits

Medium priority

14. Staff entitled to reclaim medical 
expenses should do so via an e-form to 
ensure that the payment is correctly taxed. 
This will need to be included in any policy 
updates.

Adjustment should be made for payments 
made to employees where tax has not 
been made.

Original management response: 
 
(As per recommendation 1)  GCC and 
GFRS have commissioned tax advisors to 
develop HMRC compliant policies.

Updated management response approved 
by Board as at 19th August 2020: 

GFRS management will be reminded of the 
correct process and procedure for dental 
expense claims. A SAP e-form must be 
completed to ensure the appropriate 
treatment of income tax and national 
insurance.

Recommendation implemented.

The updated management response has 
been verified as implemented. 

Relevant minutes were sighted by Internal 
Audit - area discussed and approach re-
affirmed at GFRS Financial Monitoring 
Group 7th August 2020. Subsequent to this, 
the GFRS Finance and Compliance 
Manager issued an e mail update to GFRS 
managers within August 2020 (e-mail 
sighted) to ensure awareness of the 
correct process and procedure.
 
Audit review within the 2018/19 original 
audit and the audit follow up identified that 
expenses of this nature had been claimed 
by one GFRS officer only, over two 
transactions within the period of review. 
Audit can confirm the required tax 
adjustment has been made for these 
transactions within the staff member's 
payslip for September 2020.

Limited Assurance

GFRS Procurement

High priority

6. GFRS should formally document and 
approve its policy for mobile 

Revised mobile device policy to be 
produced to include standardised 
requirements, specification and 
replacement of devices.

Recommendation implemented.

The following actions have been verified by 
Internal Audit:

P
age 188



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 23

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

communication devices or adopt the 
Council’s policy and make available to all 
staff. In particular the document should 
detail the mobile phone specification and 
replacement frequency that is appropriate 
for the Service and officer requirements.

• Mobile phone policy has been updated 
and approved.

• Policy has been sent to existing staff on 
4th September 2020 requesting they 
read and confirm their agreement and 
understanding of the policy to a 
dedicated email address owned by ICT. 
New staff are also being sent the Policy 
to review, agree and sign as and when 
they start. 

• ICT is responsible for chasing 
individuals if signed declarations 
agreeing to the Policy are not returned.

• The Asset Register has been updated 
to include who the smart phones have 
been issued to, returned and whether a 
signed declaration has been obtained. 

• Asset stickers are being placed on all 
smart phones.

The Mobile Phone Policy was approved by 
the GFRS Policy Approval Group on 12th 
October 2020. As at 11th November 2020, 
69 declarations out of 118 officers (58%) 
have been received and confirmed by 
GFRS ICT. The ICT Assistant Manager 
has confirmed that the remaining 
declarations are being chased and 
monitored by ICT. 

P
age 189



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 24

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

A review of the GFRS Mobile Phone Policy 
by Internal Audit established that it does 
not detail the mobile phone specification 
and replacement frequency that is 
appropriate for the Service and officer 
requirements. It does state that an IPhone 
will be used for a smart phone and a 
Samsung BTAB2710 for a standard phone. 
In addition it states that mobile phone 
models and manufacturers are under 
constant review to ‘achieve best value’ for 
money. The procurement for any mobile 
phone must be procured through the stated 
process (GFRS Mobile Phone Policy) and 
must be approved by the relevant SLT 
member and Head of ICT. 

Although the mobile specification has not 
been fully detailed or the replacement 
frequency, which may be difficult to 
determine in practice (due the fast paced 
nature of mobile technology), the 
procurement and sign off control, if 
operated correctly, should ensure a correct 
and balanced operation of mobile phone 
expenditure and usage. 

Limited Assurance

Syrian Refugee Grant

Medium priority

4. Purchase orders should be used in the 

Since this was highlighted by the audit all 
expenditure for the Syrian Refugee 
Resettlement Scheme has been through 

Recommendation implemented.

GFRS have confirmed that the Vulnerable 

P
age 190



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 25

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

first instance for expenditure relating to the 
VPRS grant, as per the GCC guidelines for 
procurement within Accounting Instruction 
No.1.

limit cart purchase orders. Persons Resettlement Scheme (VPRS) 
purchasing process has been aligned to 
Accounting Instruction 1 with the ending of 
the practice of Pink Slip use from mid 
2019/20 and the introduction of purchase 
orders from 1st April 2020. Specifically the 
introduction of limit cart purchase orders in 
accordance to the Accounting Instruction 1. 

Audit review of VPRS expenditure 
(excluding journals) in the period 1st April 
2020 to 1st October 2020 totalling 
£274,501, confirmed that 93% was 
purchase order limit carts and 7% 
retrospective orders. Assurance has been 
provided by the GFRS VPRS lead (the 
Improvement, People and Engagement 
Manager) that the remaining retrospective 
order areas are being reviewed to enable 
them to move to limit cart purchase orders 
within 2020/21. 

Non Limited 
Assurance 

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Absence reporting 
procedures

High priority

3. GFRS management should ensure that 
when a member of uniformed staff is off 
sick, the information is recorded on both 
Gartan and SAP.

Line manager awareness raising and 
training to take place to ensure compliance 
with leave policy and processes.

Recommendation implemented.

The audit testing reviewed documents 
provided in the evidence folder on Teams 
as well as additional evidence requested 
by Internal Audit. The Medical Absence 
Policy and Management guidance note 
were reviewed and it was found that they 
highlight the need for managers to record 

P
age 191



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 26

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

absences on SAP and the appropriate 
GFRS systems. E mail evidence confirmed 
that the policy had been reviewed by HR; 
and that there is guidance on Gartan at fire 
stations and Fire Control and there is also 
a test site available for practice and to 
learn the system.

Evidence has been provided to confirm 
that training on Gartan has been added to 
the pathways on PDRPro for Crew 
Manager/Watch Manager/Station Manager 
posts. With regard to training on SAP, 
managers have to attend GCC SAP 
training before they are given a SAP logon 
and system access.

To ensure that existing staff are also aware 
of the requirements for recording 
absences, an email was provided which 
has been issued to managers, reminding 
them to ensure all absences are recorded. 
Also provided was a copy of the agenda for 
the monthly GFRS Performance Meetings, 
which includes absence recording as a 
standing item. 

P
age 192



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 27

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

Non Limited 
Assurance 

GFRS Budget 
Monitoring

High priority

2. All GCC budgets, including those for 
GFRS, should be risk assessed, based on 
a standard set of risk indicators, in order to 
prioritise the scrutiny and monitoring of the 
high risk budgets to enable efficiencies.

Original management response: 
GCC Finance to strengthen the existing 
risk assessment carried out for each 
budget holder to ensure it is meaningful 
and ensure the Business Partner gets sight 
of the final assessment so challenge can 
be given. Once the assessment has been 
reviewed by the Finance Business Partner 
it will be shared with the GFRS HoF to 
provide operational knowledge that may 
require the risks being adjusted and agree 
a final version.
The final version will be taken to the SLT 
on a quarterly basis and adjusted with new 
information as and when required and joint 
ownership will be allocated between both 
Strategic Finance and GFRS finance.

Updated management response approved 
by Board as at 19th August 2020: 
GCC Finance to review the existing risk 
assessment carried out for each budget 
holder to ensure it is meaningful and 
ensure the Business Partner gets sight of 
the final assessment so challenge can be 
given. The final version will be taken to the 
Management Team Meeting of Finance 
Business Partners and Finance Director on 
an annual basis and/or when a significant 
change in risk arises.

Recommendation implemented.

Following Board review and consideration 
(to ensure appropriate implementation of 
the audit recommendation), the 
recommendation management response 
was updated by Board as at 19th August 
2020 and verified by Internal Audit. 

Evidence reviewed for the updated 
management response confirmed:

 Budget risk assessment exercise 
completed by GFRS/Finance Business 
Partner for the 2020/21 budgets; and

 Finance Management Team Agenda 
seen for 1st October 2020 which 
included Budget Management Risk 
Assessments as agenda item 5.

P
age 193



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 28

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes

Non Limited 
Assurance 

GFRS HR and Payroll 
– Retirement

High priority

3. In the unlikely eventuality that GFRS 
staff cannot, in a reasonable development 
timeframe, access GCC’s e-forms, a 
review of the SAP leaver form needs to be 
undertaken by the Business Service 
Centre (BSC) to ensure that an action 
reason available for selection by GFRS 
staff on the form corresponds to the 
actions available for input to SAP by the 
BSC Administrators.

(Action as for GFRS HR and Payroll – 
Retirement recommendation 1) SAP leaver 
process to be reviewed to include GFRS 
terms, conditions and processes where 
possible. 

Recommendation implemented.

Evidence in the form of emails between 
GFRS and BSC confirm that the reasons 
for retirement which were available for 
selection on the GFRS leaver form have 
been compared to the reasons available on 
the SAP e-form. It has been agreed which 
options are applicable to GFRS staff and 
both forms have been amended to ensure 
consistency (i.e. that they contain the same 
reasons).

There is only one individual at GFRS who 
is responsible for completing the forms and 
it had therefore been agreed that the 
Station Manager (SM) in Response would 
also be trained in this process, to provide 
resilience. The SM’s role will also be to 
complete a quarterly quality assurance 
process on the forms to ensure that they 
have been completed correctly. A 
screenshot from PDRPro confirms that the 
relevant training for this this role has been 
completed by the appropriate SM. 

P
age 194



Gloucestershire County Council - January 21

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 29

Appendix 4 – Corporate recommendations that require implementation following on from GFRS 
activity as at 17th December 2020

GFRS Action Plan 
internal audit

Recommendation reference and 
priority

Management’s response Audit review outcome

Limited Assurance

GFRS Procurement

High priority

4. A review of the second line of defence 
role and responsibilities should be 
undertaken to establish whether the 
Council’s current procurement oversight, 
challenge, support and monitoring 
function(s) is adequate to achieve the 
principles and application of an effective 
and robust three lines of defence model. 
The results of this review should then be 
implemented.

For below OJEU threshold, a review will be 
undertaken and recommendations made 
on improving controls. Discussions have 
already taken place between Finance, 
Commercial and BSC on this. The sourcing 
pool principle will be reviewed and updated 
and appropriate training given to staff. 

Recommendation progressed and 
escalated by GFRS Improvement Board, 
due to being a GCC corporate action.  

Recommendation action ownership re-
allocated to the GCC Assistant Director of 
Strategic Procurement as at December 
2020.  

To be reviewed by ARA directly with the 
confirmed GCC lead officer, monitored and 
reported separately to Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

P
age 195



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 22 January 2021 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Annual report on school assurance statements 2019/20.

Purpose of Report:
To provide the Committee with an annual report on school 
assurance statements provided by the governing boards of LA-
maintained schools and to confirm that the statements meet 
reporting requirements.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

 Assess, from the findings set out in this annual report, 
whether it can take reasonable assurance that the 
approach taken by Education, and particularly the process 
implemented by Governor Services, is adequate and is 
operating effectively; 

 Agree the next steps outlined in the conclusion to the 
report.

Officer (s) Contact: Jane Lloyd Davies

Head of Education Outcomes and Intervention (on behalf of the 
Director of Education)

Jane.lloyd-davies@gloucestershire.gov.uk

01452 328691

Context At the July meeting of the Audit and Governance committee, 
members requested senior management attendance at the next 
meeting of the Committee (January 2021) to provide an update 
on the actions taken in relation to the recommendations 
regarding assurance statements from schools.

Key Risks
Failure to provide regular assurances present a risk to the 
effective governance and the achievement of adequate control 
and oversight.

Page 197

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Jane.lloyd-davies@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Audit and Governance Committee Report - January 2021

Annual School Assurance Statements 2019/20

Background/context 

During 2018/19, ARA discussions with the Director of Children’s Services 
raised that internal audit activity within schools appeared low. ARA also 
undertook a benchmarking exercise with other local authorities in July 2018, 
which identified that Gloucestershire County Council allocated 1.8% of the 
total internal audit plan days to pure school audits, with the average number 
of audit plan days allocated to schools by the benchmark group being 7%. A 
growth bid resulted in the schools audit days increasing to 7% of the 2019/20 
audit plan which is more in line with peers and better supports the S151 
Officer in providing the relevant formal assurances to the DfE as required. 

The then Director of Education requested that the Head of Education 
Outcomes and Intervention should put in place a process of assurances from 
schools and governing boards that the audit recommendations were acted 
upon satisfactorily. The Head of Education Outcomes and Intervention agreed 
a process for this with Internal Audit and with Governor Service Officers. This 
process was implemented during 2019/20. 

The confirmed assurance approach for 2019/20 applied by 
Education/Governors Services, is outlined below and is designed to meet the 
objective to provide assurance that processes are in place to manage the 
Internal Audit identified schools’ risks, and to update on audit 
recommendation implementation. 

The 2019/20 schools audits outcomes are detailed in Annual Report 19/20.
 
Note: The final 19/20 school audit (Dunalley Primary School) was concluded 
after the final Annual Report for 19/20 and received a satisfactory risk opinion 
and a limited control opinion; the audit finding themes were in line with those 
reported in the Annual Report 19/20.

Approach

Governor Services has exercised its role in ensuring that Governing Boards 
follow up and complete as required the recommendations for actions that are 
made in a school audit report.

The process adopted by Gloucestershire’s Governor Services is as follows: 

1. Internal Audit carries out an audit at a school and produces a report, 
with recommendations for actions.  

2. The report is copied to the Governor Services team 
governorsvs@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 199

mailto:governorsvs@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

3. After a period of time, i.e.:

 Audit Reports issued April – December, Governor Services issues 
Statement to Chair by 31st March, for return by mid-May.  

 Audit Reports issued January - March, Governor Services issues 
Statement to Chair on date agreed with the Head of Education 
Outcomes and intervention.

4. Governor Services contacts the Chair of Governors and requests that 
the Chair completes and returns a statement on the progress on the 
recommendations made in the report.  This might include either actions 
completed or current progress towards completion where there are 
longer-term actions.  

5. The statements are collected and provided to the Director of Education, 
who reports to the GCC Audit and Governance Committee. Copies of 
the statements are available for scrutiny. 

It was agreed that the Committee should normally receive the report in the 
July meeting. However, for 2020 it has been agreed that the report to the 
committee will be presented to the committee in January 2021. 

For the 2019/20 audits, the Director of Education or representative will attend 
the January 2021 Audit and Governance Committee to report and provide 
assurance to the Committee that processes are in place to manage the 
Internal Audit identified schools risks and update on audit recommendation 
implementation.

Key Findings/Outcomes

The following audit reports were within the scope for reporting to Governor 
Services during the year. 
 
School Date of Audit
St Peter’s Catholic Primary June 2019
Harewood Junior July 2019
Tewkesbury C of E Primary July 2019
Holy Apostles’ C of E Primary July 2019
Kingsholm C of E Primary September 2019
Barnwood Park October 2019
Heron Primary December 2019
Foxmoor Primary December 2019
Pittville January 2020
Tirlebrook Primary February 2020
The Catholic School of St Gregory the Great April 2020
Dunalley Primary May 2020
 

Page 200



3

Statements have been received from all schools.

The overarching key findings that required improvement from the finalised 
audits related to: Governance and Budgetary Control, Procurement, Petty 
Cash, Income, Vehicles and Staffing and Payroll. 

In all cases, the governing board statement has confirmed that the 
recommended actions have been completed by the governing board, or that 
boards are in the process of ensuring that the actions are completed. A 
proportion of the recommendations require that Finance and Resource 
committees put in place 3-year budget plans. This is supported by the area 
finance team and the deficit schools’ officers group to ensure that this is in 
place. 

GCC colleagues have continued to work closely to develop more coherent 
and joined up approaches to delivering audit and financial services to schools.  
The links have been strengthened between the role of Governor Services in 
the development of annual assurance statements; Area Finance Officers; the 
Education Outcomes and Intervention team in terms of obtaining support and 
advice for schools causing concern; and internal audit. Relationships have 
developed and are better understood, this is particularly so with regard to the 
relationship between Deficit Scrutiny, Area Finance, leadership and 
management in school improvement and the role of governance.

Conclusion

The confirmed assurance approach for 2019/20 applied by 
Education/Governors Services, has met the objective to provide assurance 
that processes are in place to manage the Internal Audit identified schools’ 
risks and confirm update on audit recommendation implementation. 

The overarching key findings that required improvement from the finalised 
audits and related to: Governance and Budgetary Control, Procurement, Petty 
Cash, Income, Vehicles and Staffing and Payroll have been communicated to 
governors across the county key themes/common findings have been shared 
via Schoolsnet (the Gloucestershire County Council schools intranet) and the 
Heads Up and What’s Up Gov newsletters for school leaders.  

Further Recommendations

The Governing Boards whose schools were audited will continue to submit a 
return to Governor Services to confirm the progress that has been made with 
the implementation of the audit recommendations that were made. 

Where there are delays and support is required, governor services, the 
Education Lead for Governance and / or the relevant adviser will provide the 
appropriate intervention. Together with deficit officers, the LA has the right to 
engage support from external provider for School Finance. 

January 2021

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Report to the Audit and Governance Committee on 21st January 2021 on 
actions taken in relation to recommendations made in the ‘Disposal of 
Assets (Vehicles)’ internal audit report 

Lead Officer(s): Philip Williams, Lead Commissioner - Community 
Infrastructure and Jo Savell, Contract Compliance Lead Officer

Presenting Officer(s): Philip Williams, Lead Commissioner - Community 
Infrastructure and Jo Savell, Contract Compliance Lead Officer

Summary of Audit Area 

Asset disposal categories can include (but are not exclusive to) ICT, land, 
buildings/property, and vehicle disposal.

Internal audit review of disposal of assets will be delivered through a cyclical 
audit review programme. The 2019/20 review considered the corporate 
disposal of vehicles procedures (excluding Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service (GFRS)), as this service has been covered during 2018/19.

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

The audit reviewed the effectiveness of the vehicle asset disposal 
governance arrangements, including the decision making processes for the 
disposal and / or transfer of GCC vehicles, taking into account the 
requirements of the Council’s Standing Orders, Accounting Instruction 5 
(Disposal of Assets) and any other relevant disposal policies. It included the 
adequacy of the following objectives:

 Where relevant, advice is sought from Strategic Finance on any 
special accounting processes / treatments that should be followed 
where the income is likely to exceed the £10k threshold;

 VAT on income received is applied in accordance with HMRC 
regulations;

 Insurance Services is notified of all relevant disposals to ensure 
reduced premiums / costs;

 The vehicles are appropriately decommissioned prior to disposal; 
 Significant vehicle maintenance works are not undertaken on planned 

disposals;
 Disposals are correctly recorded in the vehicle asset register; and 
 Value for money is achieved on any vehicles sold.  

Page 203

Agenda Item 11



2

Risks

 Failure to comply with legal requirements;
 Failure to comply with Standing Orders, Financial Regulations and 

Accounting Instructions;
 Untimely asset disposals impacting on service delivery;
 Failure to receive value for money; and
 Potential fraud, corruption and irregularity.

Key Findings

The Council’s Accounting Instruction 5 details procedures to be followed for 
the disposal of assets, which includes vehicles. Recommendations made 
following the audit of GFRS vehicle disposals during 2018/19 was that 
Accounting Instruction 5 and other conflicting information on Staffnet should 
be updated. Guidance on the sale of all assets is currently being updated and 
approved; Internal Audit was informed this has been delayed due to 
clarification and discussion between Strategic Finance and GFRS. 

The audit identified 14 vehicles that had been disposed of during the period 
April 2018 to March 2020. A sample of eight of these vehicles was selected, 
one had been written-off following an accident and insurance claim so was 
not used as part of the sample. No details of the disposal of a 1995 Fiat 
Punto were sighted. This vehicle was recorded as transferred to a district 
council in the asset register in 2018 (with no income to GCC). 

All six of the remaining sample of vehicles reviewed were disposed of at 
public auction. Income received in respect of these vehicles was via bank 
transfer and VAT had been correctly charged and paid on these sales.
None of the vehicles disposed of reviewed exceeded the £10k threshold (all 
under £4,000) therefore, obtaining advice from Strategic Finance on any 
special accounting treatments was not required.

Accounting Instruction 5 requires authorisation of sale of assets with a 
replacement value over £1,000 by Head of Service. Evidence was sighted 
that the disposal of three of the sample of vehicles was authorised in 
accordance with this instruction. An authorisation form had been used for the 
most recent sale within the sample. The Fleet Administrator within the 
Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) stated that a similar authorisation form will be 
used for all vehicle sales in the future.

There was no evidence to show that the vehicles in the sample had been 
offered to other areas within the Council as required by Accounting 
Instruction 5. It was noted, however, that two vehicles had been offered to 
other areas within the Council via Staffnet since March 2020.

Page 204



3

Insurance had been stopped prior to disposal of the mobile library. However, 
this vehicle was not declared as off the road (SORN) until a later date so 
should legally have been insured. Accounting Instruction 11 requires that all 
vehicles owned by the Council should remain insured until ownership is 
transferred.

No evidence was sighted that Council logos etc. had been removed prior to 
disposal, although the Fleet Administrator and one of the Transport 
Engineers stated that they are usually removed. There was a charge on one 
of the invoices from the Auction House for logo removal where a vehicle had 
been kept within the GFRS yard.

Maintenance (in excess of £400 and £1,000) had been carried out on two of 
the seven vehicles close to date of sale. The Fleet Administrator, ITU stated 
that repairs are undertaken on vehicles so that they are roadworthy and able 
to fetch a better price at auction.

A valuation of two vehicles prior to sale was sighted. All the vehicles had a 
reserve set prior to auction. The sale figure fell short of this reserve for three 
out of the sample of six vehicles. One of the Fleet Engineers stated the 
Council would be contacted if an offer below the reserve was received, which 
may be accepted by the Budget Holder as it would cost to put the vehicle into 
another auction. However, authorisation to sell below reserve was not 
sighted. 

Evidence of informing the DVLA about the sale of vehicles was not sighted. 
The mobile library was not declared SORN until October 2019, although it 
was off the road from June 2019. The refund of tax could be found for the 
mobile library and two other vehicles within a month of sale. 

Page 205



4

Action taken as at December 2020 and/or proposed

The Internal Audit report raised six recommendations as follows:

Recommendation 1

Audit recommendation (High Priority):

Vehicle disposal guidance and policies need to be finalised, approved and all staff 
made aware of them.

Outdated information should be taken down from Staffnet to avoid confusion and 
conflicting guidance.

Original management response:

Completion of the vehicle disposal policy and guidelines continues to be high 
priority. Once finalised by Johanne Savell, Sharon Crane and Fiona Williams clear 
communication will be cascaded out and staffnet fully updated.

Management update as at December 2020: 

The policy and procedures have been finalised, communicated to all services 
using GCC vehicles and staffnet updated. 

Recommendation 2

Audit recommendation (High Priority):

As per policies, confirmation should be sought on future vehicle sales that when a 
vehicle is no longer of use to the particular establishment, whether it is 
appropriate to offer to any other council services prior to it being disposed of. 
Evidence of this should be retained.

Original audit management response:

GCC Fleet have already implemented a process whereby a vehicle is offered to 
other GCC Service areas and GCC Schools. A GFRS vehicle that was no longer 
required was transparently transferred to a GCC School. All documentation has 
been retained for audit purposes in accordance with the GCC retention 
schedules.   

Management update as at December 2020: 

For vehicles owned by the council the GCC Fleet team is using the process 
outlined above. The form is held on the vehicle file and retained for audit 
purposes.

Recommendation 3

Page 206



5

Audit recommendation (High Priority):

Appropriate authorisation should be obtained and retained prior to vehicles being 
disposed of. The introduction and use of the authorisation form will enable this.

In addition where vehicles are sold below a reserve the reason should be 
recorded and authorisation obtained.

Audit management response:

The authorisation form requires some further more development. Sharon Crane, 
Fiona Williams and Johanne Savell continue to work on the development of this 
form.  

Management update as at December 2020: 

The authorisation form is in use, is fit for purpose and is on Staffnet. 

Recommendation 4

Audit recommendation (High Priority):

As stated in Accounting Instruction 11, all vehicles owned by the Council should 
remain insured until ownership is transferred.

Audit management response:

Comprehensive records are maintained by the GCC Fleet Team to ensure all its 
vehicles are taxed, have regular safety inspections, servicing schedules, including 
tail lifts, MOT and we keep the GCC Insurance Team fully updated and seek 
guidance where necessary.  

Management update as at December 2020: 

Actioned and ongoing. It should be noted that the need to maintain insurance 
cover also applies to vehicles leased by or on hire to GCC.

Recommendation 5

Audit recommendation (Medium Priority):

Only maintenance necessary to keep a vehicle in a safe working order should be 
carried out when it is known that a vehicle is to be replaced. The reason for any 
work undertaken should be documented.

Audit management response:

GCC Fleet Manager along with the ITU Transport Engineers and the Fleet 
Administrators work together with the GCC Fleet workshop fitters to ensure only 
necessary work is undertaken prior to the vehicles disposal. Records will be 

Page 207



6

maintained for audit purposes.

Management update as at December 2020: 

Actioned and ongoing. 

Recommendation 6

Audit recommendation (Medium Priority):

DVLA should be informed promptly when vehicles are disposed of to ensure that 
the maximum vehicle tax is reclaimed. Where a vehicle is off the road prior to 
disposal it should be declared SORN. Evidence should be retained.

Audit management response:

A checklist will be introduced to ensure that each step of the disposal process 
from start to finish is recorded and checked off by the GCC Fleet Manager who 
will verify each stage has been completed in full.  

Management update as at December 2020: 

A checklist is being by the GCC Fleet team and the manager verifies that the 
correct processes have been followed.

Page 208



Report to the Audit and Governance Committee on 22nd January 2021 on 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Unregulated Placements (Commissioning)

Lead Officer: Wendy Williams

Summary of Audit Area 
Local Authorities (LA) can place children and young people in a range of 
external settings and would usually select a placement which is either 
regulated or inspected by Ofsted.  However, under the Children Act 1989 
guidance and regulations, Volume 2: Care planning placement and case 
review (June 2015), LAs can place children in settings commonly known as 
‘other arrangements’ which places the responsibility for assessing the quality 
and suitability of such arrangements with the placing authority and the 
provider and not Ofsted. 

If a provider has premises that offer accommodation and packages of 
support and if the premises fall under Part II of the Care Standards Act 2000, 
the premises are required to be registered with Ofsted.  If such a provision 
delivers accommodation and packages of support to children under and over 
16 years of age but are not registered with Ofsted or an alternative regulating 
body, i.e. Care Quality Commission (CQC), then the provider is operating an 
unregistered/unregulated setting.

Page 209



Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit
The objective of the audit was to review the operational procedures for 
placing children and young people in externally commissioned placements to 
ensure that any unregulated/unregistered placements have been assessed, 
are appropriately approved, are recognised as such on the LA’s systems and 
are monitored to ensure they are not subject to drift.

The audit reviewed documentation for children and young people who had 
been placed in externally commissioned unregulated/unregistered 
placements with packages of support between 01/01/19 and 31/07/19.

Risks

 Non-compliance with statutory requirements;
 Non-compliance with GCC policy and procedures;
 Placements not appropriately approved;
 Placements not adding value and providing quality;
 Value for money – placements not cost effective;
 Budget overspend;
 Children at risk of harm and neglect; and
 Placements subject to drift.

Page 210



Key Findings

There is a defined process in place which requires approval for entry to care, 
placement search and approval and unregulated placement monitoring.  Varying 
degrees of non-compliance with these processes was evident within the sample 
that was selected for testing, namely:

a) For the time period covered by the audit, the placement code that should 
have been used for unregulated placements on LiquidLogic (Children’s 
case management system) was Z1.  Only four out of the twelve 
placements in the sample were showing as Z1, six had an incorrect 
placement code and two had no placement code identified.  It is the Social 
Worker’s responsibility to input the placement code on LiquidLogic and 
ensure that evidence of this being an unregulated/unregistered placement 
has the approval of the Director of Safeguarding and that this is captured 
on the child’s file.  Failure to do this will result in management 
information/reports being inaccurate and the potential for a complete lack 
of management oversight and associated risk management processes 
being established;

b) The expectation is that the Commissioning Placement Team will not 
progress a placement search with potential providers without an 
appropriately authorised form.  Out of the 12 placements that were 
reviewed, five of the forms were located on LiquidLogic, all appropriately 
completed and authorised.  Two placements only had email trails between 
the Team Managers in Social Care and Commissioning but the remaining 
five placements did not have the appropriate forms on LiquidLogic; and

c) Prior to a young person being placed in an unregulated placement, a 
‘Details of a child/young person currently in unregulated provision’ form 
should be completed by Social Care and approval sought from the Director 
of Safeguarding.  The form was being redesigned during the time period 
covered by the audit, and initially it did not include provision for 
authorisation from the Director of Safeguarding. Towards the latter stage of 
the audit period this had been addressed.   Authorisation within 
Commissioning for the configuration of the placement package was given 
by the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning and/or the Lead Commissioner by email.  As a result, for 
packages established within the earlier timeframe of the audit, the 
authorisations were held separately to the form.  For each of the 12 
placements in the sample, only two unregulated forms were available on 
LiquidLogic as required.

Page 211



Recommendation 1 (High Priority)
a)  Social Workers should receive ongoing communication about placement 

codes that should be used on LiquidLogic to ensure consistency and 
enable accurate reporting for management information purposes.

b) Management oversight and monitoring should also ensure that placement 
codes are checked for accuracy and action taken to address any non-
compliance.  The specific instances identified in this audit should be 
corrected where appropriate.

Original Management response
a) The revised template is under review, now that it has been in operation for 

a number of months. A reminder will be included within the template that 
the placement code needs to be amended to Z1.

b) The new Entry to Care Checklist completed by Heads of Service includes 
the need for correct placement codes. This is completed and is a Liquid 
Logic Form.

c) The Children’s Commissioning Hub will continue to provide support and 
challenge as required to ensure compliance with departmental standards 
and to remind Social Workers that placement codes need to be changed to 
Z1.

Recommendation 2 (High Priority)

Amongst others, the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning and/or the Lead Commissioner’s authorisation should be included 
on the ‘Details of a child/young person currently in unregulated provision’ form.

Original Management response
The revised template (further refined since July 2019) includes provision for 
commissioning to comment upon the outcome of placement searches and the 
risks related to the unregulated package they have configured, along with 
provision for their signature. The form is screened for compliance by the Strategic 
Lead for Children in Care. 

Recommendation 3 (High Priority)
a) An agreed process should be put in place and communicated between 

Social Care and Commissioning in terms of responsibility for completion, 
authorisation and storage of the ‘Details of a child/young person currently 
in unregulated provision’ form.

b) Consideration should also be given to creating this form within ‘Forms’ on 
LiquidLogic so that it does not have to be scanned and uploaded within 
‘Documents’ on LiquidLogic.  This may also facilitate the workflow between 
Social Care and Commissioning in terms of form completion and 

Page 212



authorisation and ensure that all the necessary information is available and 
centrally held.

Original Management response
a) Timescales for signing off unregulated provision between Children’s Social 

Care and Commissioning need to be formally agreed as no more than one 
working day prior to sending to the Director of Safeguarding for approval; 
and

b) Business case to be submitted to the Senior Leadership Team to progress 
use of form in LiquidLogic.

Management action taken and/or proposed as at the end of December 2020

Development work is currently underway to strengthen further the processes and 
management oversight regarding use and approval of unregulated and 
unregistered placements. Such is the level of complexity with the configuration of 
these types of placement , that authorisation is now sought from commissioning 
and gained from The Director of Safeguarding prior to the package being 
confirmed and the final authorisation process, via the template, completed and 
signed. 

Work is currently underway to update the current template to capture ongoing 
requirements which ensure management oversight is sufficiently robust and these 
are being addressed as the process to include the template as a Liquid Logic 
Form is progressed. This should be completed by the end of January 2021.

The Entry to Care Checklist remains a quality assurance mechanism which 
addresses compliance, including use of placement codes. Other mechanisms and 
practices, including dip-sampling and ensuring confirmation of appropriate coding 
within the various commissioning-led panels are also now utilised to ensure codes 
are correct.
 

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Report to the Audit and Governance Committee on 22nd January 2021 on 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the Limited Assurance Follow Up audit of Unregulated 
Placements (Fostering)

Lead Officer: Gill Horrobin, Strategic Lead/Tammy Wheatley Head of 
Service

Summary of Audit Area 
Local authorities have a duty to investigate the potential for a child to be 
placed within their family and friend’s network (referred to as connected 
persons) in the first instance, if a decision has been made that they need to 
enter the care system.  The preference should be with a connected person 
who is approved as a local authority foster carer.  However, the child can be 
placed with friends or family members prior to such approval.

Regulation 24 of the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) 
Regulations 2010 sets out the arrangements for the temporary approval of a 
connected person as a foster carer and that this should be done before 
making a placement.  In exceptional circumstances, Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC) will allow an initial Regulation 24 Viability Assessment to be 
undertaken within one day of the placement being made although the 
placement will remain unregulated until such time as the Agency Decision 
Maker (ADM) grants temporary approval.

In 2019/20 an audit was undertaken to review the operational procedures for 
placing children in unregulated fostering placements to ensure that the 
placements were being properly approved, had been quality assured and 
were not subject to drift.  Limited assurance was given and this necessitated 
a follow-up audit to be undertaken in 2020/21.

Page 215



2

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit
The objective of the Limited Assurance Follow Up audit was to provide 
assurance that the actions agreed by management to address the original 
High Priority recommendation had been implemented and were effective.

Risks
 Non-compliance with statutory requirements;

 Non-compliance with GCC policy and procedures;

 Placements not properly approved prior to placing children;

 Placements not formally approved in a timely manner after placing 
children;

 Placements subject to drift; and

 Children at risk of harm and neglect.

Page 216



3

Key Findings

The Internal Audit follow-up review confirmed that corrective action had been 
taken where appropriate for the previously identified areas of non-compliance in 
the sample that was tested.

Process improvements had also been introduced, particularly in the area of 
management oversight.  Audit testing of a new sample of cases however, still 
identified significant areas of non-compliance despite management oversight 
having been applied and where actions were identified that needed attention.  
Management oversight has suggested that capacity issues and lack of staff 
training was contributing to the non-compliance.

A report was obtained from Liquid Logic (the children’s electronic case 
management system) that identified 22 children had been taken into care 
between 01/01/20 and 31/05/20 with an unregulated placement code of Z1.

The tests that were undertaken on a new sample of five placements (23%) 
mirrored those from the original audit and the findings were as follows:

 Two ‘Request for a Child to become Looked After’ forms were authorised 
after the entry to care start date and one form was not completed at all and 
therefore not available on Liquid Logic;

 Four Regulation 24 Initial Viability Assessment forms were available on 
Liquid Logic but had not been authorised by the ADM within one day of the 
start date of the unregulated placement (GCC’s allowable relaxation of the 
Regulations).  The fifth form was on the shared drive, only partially signed 
but not authorised by the ADM within one day and was not yet available on 
Liquid Logic;

 Regulation 24 Full Kinship Assessment Forms were applicable for three 
cases and all three forms were not available on the child’s file on Liquid 
Logic; and

 All five Placement codes had been amended from Z1 when temporary 
approval was given for the friends and family placement but two codes had 
not been changed back to Z1 (unregulated) when the temporary approval 
period had expired but the placements remained open.

No new recommendations were made but due to the Limited assurance on control 
that was given, a further formal Limited Assurance Follow Up audit will be 
undertaken during 2021/22. This will seek to confirm that practice improvements 
are embedded, particularly with the timeliness of completing agreed processes 
and the storage of data on Liquid Logic.

Page 217



4

Management action taken and/or proposed as at the end of December 2020

Significant management investment has been made to address the issues found 
regarding non-compliance in this area of practice. As a result, oversight is 
progressed and captured on children’s files via a number of mechanisms, 
including:

1. An Entry to Care Checklist is completed in Liquid Logic by a senior 
manager within 5 working days of a child entering care. Within this 
checklist, compliance regarding placements with connected persons is 
checked. If there are any outstanding actions these are addressed 
accordingly;

2. The Fostering Improvement Action Plan has identified areas for 
improvement required in this specific area of practice and has progressed 
actions accordingly. This includes establishing fostering champions who 
link with designated social workers in Localities to ensure processes and 
statutory requirements are fully understood and established across the 
County;

3. The Strategic Lead for Children in Care carries out spot checks within 
Liquid Logic regarding compliance in this area, specifically as children 
enter care. Liaison occurs with The Head of Service (Fostering) and ADM 
to ensure the Viability Assessment has been submitted and authorised (or 
otherwise). 

Given the above activities, which continue to occur routinely on an ongoing basis, 
the conclusion is that sufficient management oversight is in place to assess 
compliance on an ongoing basis. There have been significant improvements in 
addressing issues around placements with the potential to become unregulated 
but in the event of any slippage with practice standards, there are mechanisms in 
place to address this in a timely way. 

Page 218



Report to the Audit and Governance Committee 22nd January 2021 on 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Direct Awards (Sole Source Approvals)

Lead Officers: Steve Mawson and Ian Mawdsley

Summary of Audit Area 

The purchase of goods and services within Gloucestershire County Council 
(GCC) are required to comply with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders, 
Financial Regulations, Accounting Instructions, and the European Union (EU) 
and UK procurement regulations to ensure value for money, fair competition 
and transparency. The Contract Standing Orders confirm that a direct award 
(sole source approval) should only be considered as a last resort when all 
other procurement strategies have been excluded and only in accordance 
with EU legislation and under specific detailed circumstances, specifically:

 The services are only capable of being provided by one particular 
provider (e.g. for technical or economic reasons);

 Where there is urgent need; or
 To protect intellectual property rights that the provider holds.

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit
To review the decision making process in relation to direct awards for 
contracts, specifically looking to ensure that: 

 A direct award is necessary based on the specific circumstances 
identified within the Council’s Contract Standing Orders and in 
accordance with the Procurement Contract Regulations;

 Adequate justification has been provided to support the decision 
making process;

 The award is considered as only an interim solution; and
 Appropriate approval in authorising a direct award contract has been 

received and suitable supporting evidence has been retained.

The scope of this Internal Audit will include all identifiable direct award 
contracts entered into from April 2018 to August 2019 which will be the basis 
of the audit testing.

Page 219



Risks

 Inappropriate expenditure;
 The loss of commercial integrity;
 Financial irregularities;
 Reputational damage; and
 Non-achievement of value for money.

  Key Findings
Internal Audit reviewed the process and guidance available to service area 
managers for completing a direct award contract. It was found that the 
Commissioning Board is no longer active and therefore the mandatory step of 
approval by the Commissioning Board as stated in the guidance for contracts 
over £75,000 cannot be completed, therefore the guidance on staffnet should 
be updated to reflect this. Internal Audit also noted that the awarding process 
for direct award contracts valued from £15,000 to £75,000 does not require 
input from Strategic Procurement prior to completion of a direct award 
contract.
 
Alongside this, currently there is a weakness within the purchasing system 
that allows for service area managers to approve and complete purchases 
regardless of whether Contract Standing Order requirements have been met 
or not. In order to mitigate this risk of circumvention, Internal Audit 
recommends that the purchasing system is reviewed and redesigned where 
necessary and monitoring of contracts by Strategic Procurement takes place 
to ensure that direct awards are completed in a compliant manner.

The total number of direct awards contracts that have been completed across 
GCC from 1st April 2018 to 31st August 2019 could not be established as 
direct award contracts cannot currently be identified in SAP (the Council’s 
Financial Management System), Pro-Contract or the contracts register. 
During the audit, Pro-Contract has been updated so that registering a contract 
as a direct award can now take place and the functionality to include unique 
contract numbers (Due North numbers) when raising purchase orders has 
also now been added into SAP.

Internal Audit selected a sample of eight direct awards contracts (totalling 
£700,491) across the organisation, identified through the contracts register, 
Pro-Contract and Strategic Procurement where possible. Testing checked 
that adequate justification for a direct award was apparent, the award was an 
interim solution and appropriate authorisation has been received prior to 
awarding the contract. Sample testing found that three out of eight (37.5%) 
direct award contracts had followed the process as intended. The remaining 
five contracts were not compliant as four did not have suitable justification to 
support the use of a direct award contract and one could not evidence 
appropriate authorisation by a Head of Service as required by the Contract 
Standing Orders.

Two of the contracts that did not have suitable justification for the use of a 

Page 220



direct award, have subsequently been given their notice for cancellation and 
are in the process of being procured compliantly. This is part of a wider 
project undertaken by the Contract Compliance Lead Officer and Information 
Assurance Support Officers within the Integrated Transport Unit. A new 
process has also been implemented within the Integrated Transport Unit for 
direct award contracts to ensure that justification of a direct award is 
completed as required. In circumstances that meet the requirements of a 
direct award, contracts are for a maximum interim period of four months to 
allow for adequate time for the service to be reviewed and then procured 
through a compliant process to ensure transparency and demonstrate value 
for money.

Disaggregation Spend (Contract Splitting)
From the sample testing Internal Audit found that two of the contracts had 
requests for a quote within Pro-Contract completed simultaneously for the 
same products. By procuring these separately each element totalled under 
£75,000 and therefore a full tendering exercise was avoided.

In both cases, Internal Audit found that the quick quote function within pro-
contract had been used to complete the procurement. Internal Audit found for 
both contracts only one quote was received, from the same supplier, and that 
the only other suppliers invited to quote were inappropriate as they do not 
supply the goods/services required. Therefore the contract was awarded 
based on only one quote for the goods/services and was awarded in 
contravention of the Council’s Contract Standing Orders. Details of this 
procurement were passed to the Counter Fraud team within ARA for further 
investigation.

Page 221



Action taken as at January 2021 and/or proposed

The Internal Audit report raised five recommendations as follows:

Recommendation 1

Audit recommendation (High Priority):

Review the process for completing direct award contracts to ensure that it is 
in line with Contract Standing Order requirements. 

Original management response:

The process for completing direct award contracts will be reviewed as part of 
the on-going Procurement Transformation Plan (PTP) that is due to design a 
replacement for the Contract Standing Order requirements. 

Management update as at January 2021:

Strategic Procurement now monitor all prospective Direct Awards in 
conjunction with Legal and the Monitoring Officer. A Direct Award form is 
required to be completed before a Direct Award can be made. Changes are 
proposed for Contract Standing Orders to require Direct Awards to require 
independent approval. 

Recommendation 2

Audit recommendation (Medium Priority):

Strategic Procurement to monitor the unique contract reference (Due North 
Number) within SAP to ensure that procurement requirements as stated in the 
Contract Standing Orders are taking place.

Original management response:

Following the implementation of mandatory inclusion of unique contract 
references (Due North Number) within SAP purchase orders, monitoring of 
on-contract and off-contract spend will be completed per the replacement of 
the Contract Standing Order requirements.

Management update as at January 2021:

We are proposing to submit a business case to implement the Contract 
system in SAP to allow purchase orders to be allocated to contracts. This will 
be done with a view to either switching on the Contract module in SAP or 
implementing the same within a SAP ERM successor.

Recommendation 3

Audit recommendation (High Priority):

Page 222



The process for completing direct award contracts to be reviewed and 
updated where necessary, ensuring that there is appropriate oversight from 
Strategic Procurement is in place for all direct awards prior to the award of a 
direct award contract.

Original management response:

The process for completing direct award contracts will be reviewed as part of 
the on-going Procurement Transformation Plan (PTP) that is due to design a 
replacement for the Contract Standing Order requirements. The PTP will 
consider, amongst other things:

 Financial procurement limits and requirements;

 Monitoring of on-contract versus off-contract expenditure; 

 The role of Strategic Procurement; and

 The role of Sourcing pools and the BSC in the procurement process.

Management update as at January 2021:

Please see the response to Recommendation 1

Recommendation 4

Audit recommendation (Medium Priority):

Disaggregated spend analysis to be completed by Strategic Procurement on 
all contracts across GCC, collating spend data against each supplier over the 
course of a financial year and comparing this information within the contracts 
register(s) to identify potential contract splitting.

Original management response:

Following the implementation of mandatory inclusion of unique contract 
references (Due North Number) within SAP purchase orders, monitoring of 
on-contract and off-contract spend will be completed enabling disaggregated 
spend to be identified.

Management update as at January 2021:

Please see the response to recommendation 2

Recommendation 5

Audit recommendation (High Priority):

The quick quotes function within Pro-Contract to be configured to remove the 
option of selecting random suppliers. Thus to ensure that only appropriate 

Page 223



suppliers can be invited to quote on goods/services.

Original management response:

The option to select random suppliers within Pro-Contract quick quote 
function will be removed.

Management update as at January 2021:

We are in discussions with the provider of the software however we are only 
one user of many and this may not be feasible. We will remind staff of the 
need to comply with their obligations in accordance with clause 4.1 of 
Contract Standing Orders.

Page 224



Audit and Governance Committee

Annual Review of Whistleblowing Policy

Date:  22 January 2021 Agenda Item:  

Title of Report Annual Review of Whistleblowing Policy

Purpose of Report To review activity under the Council’s Whistleblowing 
Policy

Recommendations That Audit and Governance Committee notes the 
information provided in this report and supports the 
commitment to undertaking a self-assessment against the 
Protect Best Practice framework.

Officer Contact Rob Ayliffe
Monitoring Officer
Tel: 01452 328506

Key Risks Failure in corporate governance which could lead to 
service, financial or reputational damage to the council

Page 225

Agenda Item 12



Introduction

1. The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy was introduced in its current form in 
2017.  It applies to all of the Council’s workforce, including those who are 
employed by external agencies with whom the Council contracts.   It sets out 
the arrangements by which employees  can raise concerns about something 
which affects other people including issues of health and safety, fraud, 
corruption, malpractice or maladministration.

2. In order to ensure that the Council follows best practice in relation to 
Whistleblowing, GCC maintains a subscription with an independent charity - 
Protect (formerly Public Concern at Work) – who offer advice, support, 
training and benchmarking services.

3. The whistleblowing policy allows concerns to be raised at 3 levels:

- Level 1- In the first instance, employees are encouraged to raise 
concerns with their line manager or team leader

- Level 2 - If they feel unable to do this, they can raise the matter with 
any of the following:  their Head of Service, Assistant Director, Director 
or Executive Director; the Chief Internal Auditor; the Head of Human 
Resources; the Assistant Director of Legal Services; (in the case of 
schools) the Director of Education.

- Level 3 - If concerns remain, or are so serious that the individual does 
not want to discuss them with any of the above, they can be raised 
directly with the Monitoring Officer.

4. Whistleblowing concerns can be raised face-to-face, by email or anonymously 
via a form on the Council’s website.

5. The Monitoring Officer also has overall responsibility for the Whistleblowing 
policy and its implementation.  This Committee has responsibility for reviewing 
it annually.  

Whistleblowing Activity during 2020

6. Whistleblowing activity has remained at a broadly similar level to previous 
years.  In all, 22 whistleblowing allegations were received at level 3 during 
2020.   On initial assessment, five could not be investigated under the 
Whistleblowing policy for the following reasons:

- Two were complaints against Academies about issues over which the 
council has no jurisdiction.

Page 226



- One was a complaint about the outcome of an interview process, so 
was dealt with through the Council’s grievance process

- One was a request for information by a member of the public that was 
already being dealt with under the Council’s Request Management 
process.

- One was about a historic grievance concerning a member of staff.  This 
had been investigated at the time but had found no evidence to support 
the allegations. 

7. The remaining 16 cases break down as follows:
- Three were about Children and Families.  Only one was found to 

have some substance, and was dealt with appropriately.  Another is 
still under investigation.  The remaining case was found to have no 
substance.

- Five were about specific schools.  One related to serious concerns 
that are being dealt with appropriately.  Three are still under 
investigation, but one of which is of a relatively minor nature.  The final 
case was found to be without substance.

- One was about Corporate Resources but was found to have no 
substance.

- Three were about Economy, Environment and Infrastructure teams.  
One had substance but the concern was already known and action 
being taken.  The second was without substance.  The third was raised 
anonymously and insufficient detail was provided to be able to follow it 
up.

- Five were about Fire and Rescue.  In one case, allegations were 
investigated and appropriate action was taken.  Two of the cases 
related to historic allegations that had already been dealt with.  One 
was found to have no substance.  The final case is under investigation.

8. The majority of concerns were raised anonymously (12 out of the 16 that were 
investigated).  In one case, the individual identified themselves but asked that 
their details were not passed on.  In the remaining eleven cases, no contact 
details were provided at all, making it impossible to request additional further 
information or clarify the nature of the concern. 

9. In the majority of cases, the nature of concerns raised also followed a similar 
pattern to previous years.  In two cases, the concerns related to the 
implementation of COVID safe measures in particular settings.  When 
investigated, neither was found to have substance.

10.During National Fraud Awareness Week, the opportunity was taken to 
promote the Whistleblowing Policy through the Council’s TalkSmart bulleting 
to all staff.

Page 227



Plans for 2021

11.Protect offer a framework of Best Practice in Whistleblowing against which 
members can benchmark their practice in three core areas:  Governance, 
Staff Engagement and Operations.  A self-assessment is planned to take 
place during 2021, the results of which will be reported to the committee once 
completed.  This will be used as the basis for developing further actions.

ENDS

Page 228



Audit and Governance Committee – 22 January 2021 

Member standards and conduct - Independent Persons 

 

 

Title of report Appointment of Independent Persons 

 

Purpose of report To advise the committee of the process for appointing 

Independent Persons. 

 

Recommendation To note the process for the appointment of Independent 

Persons ahead of the Annual Meeting of the Council in 

May 2021. 

 

Officer contact Simon Harper 

Head of Democratic Services 

Tel 01452 324202 
simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

 

Key risks Failure in corporate governance which could lead to 

service, financial or reputational damage to the Council. 

 

 

Background 

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 made changes to the ways in which local authorities are 

required to promote and maintain high standards of councillor conduct. 

Councils have the freedom to decide how they will investigate and determine 

allegations of misconduct made against members and co-opted members 

relating to breaches of the Member Code of Conduct as long as at least one 

Independent Person is appointed to help councils make good decisions.  They 

assist and advise  the Monitoring Officer and the member-led Hearings Panel, 

in determining if members or co-opted members subject to allegations of 

misconduct have broken the Member Code of Conduct. 

1.2    The Council must invite Independent Persons appointed under section 28(7) of 

the Localism Act 2011 to form a panel for the purpose of advising the Authority 

on matters relating to the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring 

Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. These Statutory Officers may not be 

dismissed by the Authority unless full Council has approved that dismissal and 

the proper procedure has been complied with. 

Page 229

Agenda Item 13

mailto:simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1.3 In 2013, the Council appointed three Independent Persons to serve for a four-

year term until May 2017. Two of those appointed, Graham Baum and John 

Milner, were reappointed for the term of the next Council until May 2017.  The 

arrangements work well and Mr Milner has indicated a willingness to continue 

for a short period in order to provide continuity moving forward. Mr Baum has 

advised that he wishes to step down.  Although the number of complaints 

received has been low, it is proposed that three Independent Persons are 

appointed for the next term of the Council until May 2025.  

1.4 Section 3.10 of Part 3 of the Constitution (terms of reference for the Audit and 

Governance Committee and Hearings Panel) covers the setting up of an 

interview panel comprising the lead members of each political group to shortlist 

and interview candidates.   

1.5    For this purpose, the lead members will represent the main three political 

groups.  It is suggested that they are the Chair (Liberal Democrat Group), the 

Vice-chair (Labour Group) and one other committee member (to be nominated 

by the Conservative Group).  

1.6  The final decision on the appointment of Independent Persons rests with the 

Full Council, so having carried out the proposed selection process, the panel 

will make its recommendation to County Council in May. 

 

2 Recommendation 

 To note the recruitment process for new Independent Persons ahead of the 

County Council election in May 2021.   

 

Page 230


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Grant Thornton Progress Report
	5 Grant Thornton Annual  Audit Letter 2019/20
	6 Capital, Treasury and Investment Strategy
	7 Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2020/21
	Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity v1.0
	Spreadsheet v0.4

	8 Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan Update  2019/20
	Improvement Plan 2019-20 v1.0

	9 GFRS Progress Report
	GFRS Follow Up report Jan 21 v1.0

	10 Annual Schools Assurance Statements 2019-20
	Annual School Assurance Statements 2019-20 Audit and Governance Committee Report January 2021 v2

	11 Limited Assurance Reports
	Limited Assurance Report - Unregulated Placements - Commissioning
	Limited Assurance Report - Unregulated Placements - Fostering
	Direct Award - Limited Assurance Report

	12 Whistleblowing Policy
	13 Independent Persons Report

